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CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT
ITHEREE

To our valued Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | would like to present to our Shareholders and
potential investors the annual report of the Company for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2024.

2023 was a year in which the Group fully implemented new development
philosophies and thoroughly implemented the concept of high-quality
development. It was a year for the Group to adjust and strengthen, and
was also an extremely important year in the development process of the
Group. The Board made a new start, took on new missions, forged ahead
on a new journey, adhered to the general working guideline of seeking
progress while maintaining stability. Faced with the pressure of multiple
unexpected factors of the overall economic situation, the Board effectively
prevented and controlled various risks and challenges, and actively
responded to and mitigated a range of conflicts and crises. The Group
adjusted for a steady operation and moved forward against the negative
factors, maintained the overall stability across the Group.

Based on the annual development action plan, the Board forged
ahead with down-to-earth working spirit, fully implemented a bunch of
initiatives including stabilize the main business, promote growth and
expand trade volume, and strategically coordinated initiatives to actively
promote the expansion of assets, broaden financing channels, prevent
risks, defuse crises and strengthen governance. Through the concerted
efforts of the whole Group, the production and operation of the Gold
Mine were operating normally and have been effectively expanded,
the main business’s operational prowess was on the rise and ready to
propel forward, with its developmental momentum growing more robust
with each passing day, the corporate governance mechanism has been
effectively strengthened, the corporate cohesion of unity, working hard and
embracing difficulties was significantly enhanced, the future development
strategy direction of the Group has become more and more clear with an
enhancement in asset quality, an optimistic trend in development and a
positive performance on development outcomes.

- Insist on seeking progress amidst stability, and focus on the
quality of development, with our main business production
operating normally. The production of Hunan Gold Mine
continued to be stable, the production and storage conditions
were improved, and the benefits of upgrading and restructuring
to improve the quality of operations were evident. While the
scale of production increased, there was no significant increase
in operating and administrative costs, and costs were effectively
controlled.
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Insist on industry-orientation, strengthen the assets of the
main business, and steadily advance the expansion of our main
business. With the main line of consolidating and strengthening
the operation of the main business and expanding the scale
of the main business, the acquisition of Jilin Xinya Mining was
actively promoted, and the resumption of work and production
was carried out proactively and in an orderly manner to meet the
difficulties. The main conditions for the resumption of work were
created actively, and the finishing work was being carried out in
a comprehensive manner, which would play a positive role in
boosting the strength of the Group’s main business of gold mining,
increasing the assets of the main business, and improving the
quality and efficiency of the Group’s main business operations.

Insist on careful construction and lean management, and
continue to enhance corporate governance. We made several
adjustments to the Board, its committees, and the operation
management level. Combining with the actual situation of the
Group, we clarified the job functions and responsibilities of
each senior executive, optimised the research, decision-making
and operation process of daily operation and management,
revised certain systems and regulations, and clarified the
internal management mechanism and the scope of division
of responsibilities, and gradually established a lean, efficient,
dedicated and professional operation and management team.
At the same time, we restructured our investment, trading and
financial segments to rationalise the investment and property
rights relationships, with clear management lines and clear
responsibilities and objectives.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EIRHESE

Insist on innovative business forms, expand opening up level,
and continuously stimulate development vitality. The business
opportunities of opening up new industries have begun to emerge.
The two subsidiaries newly registered and operated by the Group
have started their businesses, respectively participating in forestry
deep processing projects and carrying out trade in agricultural
products, with agricultural products trading amounting to nearly
RMB20 million. The commercial advisory management business
is also negotiating with the local government to build a platform.

Insist on building a solid financial foundation to energize the
engine and enhance the momentum of development. 2023 is a
crucial year for the Group’s high-quality development. The external
environment we are facing is still severe and complex, and the
characteristics of changes are obvious. However, the fundamentals
of the long-term economic growth have not changed. We
are facing risks and challenges, as well as opportunities and
advantages. The Group will actively respond to the spirit of the
Central Economic Work Conference, better coordinate the effective
improvement of operating quality and the reasonable growth of
operating scale, insist on improving quality and efficiency, and win
by quality. We grasp the main line of supply-side structural reform
all the time, implement the general tone of expanding domestic
demand, and seek progress while maintaining stability, implement
the debt reduction, mergers and acquisitions and additional
issuance to open up a wide range of financing channels, and
establish a wide range of strategic partners, which resulted in a
substantial reduction in gearing ratio, significant improvement in
asset quality and significant enhancement of financing capacity.
At the same time, we actively consolidate and strengthen the
original main business, expand the layout of the main business;
build a closer partnership for green development, focus on mining
resources and mining trade as the main business, and drive the
entire chain of related financial services, engineering and project
consulting management services, investment management,
project financing, and derivative resources.
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On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my profound respect
to each institution for its continued support and concern on the
developments of the Group. | would also like to express my heartfelt
thanks to the Group’s management and all staff for their hard work.

In the coming second half of the year 2024, China’s economy will be
rebounding and improving, and the concept of high-quality development
is promoted solidly, with the domestic economic growth trend generally
stable. However, the international trade environment is still full of
uncertainty and challenges. With the global economic growth rate
slowing down, the markets in our country are affected to a certain extent.
Obstacles to the major domestic cycle and the increasing complexity,
severity, and uncertainty of the external environment require us to
heighten our awareness of potential dangers, respond effectively, and
actively and prudently resolve several bottleneck issues related to internal
constraints on development. The Group shall continue to adhere to high-
quality development as the fundamental principle for various work, focus
on “improving quality and efficiency” to comprehensively strengthen
the daily operation and management, enhance the internal driving force
for the Group’s development, stimulate and boost corporate vitality,
concentrate on elevating the overall operational improvements, and
complete all tasks for this year successfully.

Qiu Zhenyi
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 26 July 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE s ko

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in two business segments: (i) gold
mining, exploration and trading of gold products in the PRC; and (ii)
trading of non-ferrous metal and wholesale and trading of frozen meat and
agriculture products in the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Mining Products

During the Reporting Period, Hunan Westralian continues to implement
maintenance and enhancement works program annually and review the
expansion of existing mining locations within current mining right (valid
until 31 December 2025). Based on past experience, the management of
the Company considered that the chance to renewal of mining permit is
highly probable and does not foresee any difficulty in renewing the mining
permit. The engineering of tunneling in mining was completed during the
period.

Due to the limited and insufficient efforts and investments in exploration
projects over the past years, resulting in low known mineral reserves,
insufficient proven mineral for mining, and the reduction of the area
of exploration right by the Department of Natural Resources of Hunan
Province. Due to the aforementioned reasons, the mining is mostly carried
out at the same time as exploration with small-scale manual operations,
resulting in high mining costs. Hunan Westralian's revenue for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$142.5 million, with
a loss of approximately HK$61.4 million. Hunan Westralian expects it is
not perform well in the future if it is still keeping high mining costs.

Stated as 2022 Annual Report, the Company has identified a potential
suitable gold mine project located in Jilin, China (“Project”), which is
in line with the Group’s principal business activities and development
direction in 2022 and the Group announced that the 51% equity
interest of Huadian Xinya Mining Co., Ltd. (BER T Ziae i@ A R A )
(“Huadian Xinya Mining”) (which owns the Project, i.e. a gold mine with
an area of approximately 0.6581 square kilometers and with the Mining
Licence valid until 2031 in Jilin Province, China) from Huadian Huafeng
Mining Co., Ltd. (BERHZEEEEBREEAF) (“Vendor”) on 24 May
2023 and the completion took place on 1 July 2023. The results and
assets and liabilities of Huadian Xinya Mining have been consolidated
with, and accounted for as a subsidiary, in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. As such, the Acquisition may facilitate the Group to
expand its mineral portfolio to enhance the development of the Group and
the management expected that it will start into production in 2025. The
Directors are of the view that the Acquisition is fair and reasonable and
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, and are in the
interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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Trading of Coal and non-ferrous metal

The Management has taken into various factors and decided to
temporarily suspend trading coal business. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has started trading of non-ferrous metal.

Wholesale and Trading of Frozen Meat and Agriculture Products

The Group has started in trading of agriculture products business in the
PRC since the first quarter in 2023 and it is expected that the business will
generate continuous and increase revenue.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$374.1 million, representing an increase of
approximately 80.4% as compared with approximately HK$207.4 million
for the Corresponding Period. The increase in the Group’s revenue was
mainly due to increase in revenue from trading of non-ferrous metal and
agriculture products.

The revenue of the Group contributed by the mining products business
segment during the Reporting Period was approximately HK$142.5
million, representing an increase of approximately 19.3% as compared
with approximately HK$119.5 million for the Corresponding Period. The
revenue remained stable.

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the Group by trading of non-
ferrous metal and wholesale and trading of frozen meat and agriculture
products was approximately HK$231.6 million, representing an increase
of approximately 163.4% as compared with approximately HK$88.0
million for the Corresponding Period. The increase in revenue was mainly
due to the expansion of the trading volume of agriculture products.

The gross profit of the Group for the Reporting Period was approximately
HK$30.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately 55.9% as
compared with approximately HK$70.1 million for the Corresponding
Period.

The significant decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the challenging
business environment in PRC during the Reporting Period, which has
exerted pressure on the selling prices of our products in the trading
of non-ferrous metal and wholesale and trading of frozen meat and
agriculture products and the Group has generated much more revenue
from trading of non-ferrous metal and wholesale and trading of frozen
meat and agriculture products, which has a much thinner gross profit
margin than the mining products business segment.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEZHRF R

The loss for the Reporting Period of the Group was approximately
HK$91.4 million, representing an increase of approximately 47.7% as
compared with approximately HK$61.9 million for the Corresponding
Period. The increase in loss was mainly due to the gross profit decreased
compared to the Corresponding Period of approximately HK$39.2 million.

The poor performance of Hunan Westralian is one of the significant factors
attributable to the loss for the Reporting Period and Corresponding Period
of the Group.

The trade and other receivables as at 31 March 2024 of the Group
was approximately HK$200.5 million, representing an increase of
approximately 716.4% as compared with approximately HK$24.6 million
as at 31 December 2022.

The increase in prepayments is mainly due to the increase in
prepayments of purchase of non-ferrous metal and agriculture products at
approximately HK$57 million and HK$54 million respectively.

The increase in other receivables is mainly due to a consideration
receivable amounting to HK$42 million from Shanghai Jubo Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (the “Purchaser”) in relation to disposal of
10.8915% equity interest in the Disposal Company, pursuant to the
sale and purchase agreement. The disposal was completed on 12 June
2023. On 31 March 2024, the Purchaser has entered into share capital
pledge agreement with the Company in relation to pledge back all the
share capital and relevant interest of the Disposal Company owned by the
Purchaser to the Company.

EXTRACT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
REPORT

The following is the extract of the independent auditor's report from the
Auditor:

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Material Uncertainty Related to the Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2024 have been prepared assuming that the
Group will continue as a going concern. We draw attention to note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements which mentions that the Group
incurred a loss attributable to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$53,018,000 for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, and as
at the same date, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$140,808,000. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. As explained in the consolidated financial
statements, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis. The Directors, having considered the measures
being taken by the Group, are of the opinion that the Group would be
able to continue as a going concern. Our audit opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board believes that risk management is important and shall use
its best effort to ensure it is sufficient to mitigate the risks present in the
Group operations and financial position as efficiently and effectively as
possible.

BUSINESS RISK

The PRC local, provincial and central authorities exercise a substantial
degree of control over the gold industry in China. Hunan Westralian's
operations are subject to a range of PRC laws, regulations, policies,
standards and requirements in relation to, among other things, mine
exploration, development, production, taxation, labour standards,
occupational health and safety, waste treatment and environmental
protection and operation management.

The Management has been looking into different kinds of business and
investment opportunities to broaden the sources of income of the Group in
order to manage the risks associated with the volatility of the commaodities
prices that can have a material impact on the Group’s mining operations
and to create greater value for the Shareholders.

The functional manager will carefully scrutinise each project for related
risks and returns. These include assessment of relevant government
policies, market demand, market conditions and economic data. The
Management is responsible for supervision, conducting regular operational
reviews and keeping the Board fully informed through regular reports
(either in written or verbal form) and enabling the Board to make prompt
decisions if changes are required.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEZHRF R

OPERATIONAL RISK

Hunan Westralian faces certain risks and uncertainties beyond
their control from manmade and natural disasters. These risks and
uncertainties mainly include: (i) major catastrophic events and natural
disasters; (ii) geological or mining conditions such as instability of the
slopes and subsidence of the working areas; (iii) unexpected or periodic
interruptions due to inclement or hazardous weather conditions; (iv)
disruptions or shortages of water, power or fuel supply; (v) industrial or
manmade accidents occurring in connection with mining processing
operations; and (vi) critical equipment failures, malfunction and
breakdowns of information management systems, or unexpected
maintenance or technical problems. Hunan Westralian has engaged a
local safety assessment company, which is an independent third party,
to assess the safety status of the eastern Gold Mine. It is believed that
the eastern Gold Mine has fulfilled the conditions of safe production in
accordance to the relevant government laws and regulations.

The front-line or functional manager will review key activities of the
Group and ensure all required control procedures, including financial
and operational, are fully implemented. Precautionary and contingency
measures are also set up to ensure the Group is protected against major
potential loss, damage or impact to the business operations.

FINANCIAL RISK

The market price of standard gold traded on Shanghai Gold Exchange
follows international gold price trend closely. Historically, the gold market
price has fluctuated widely and experienced periods of significant decline.
The gold market prices are influenced by numerous factors such as
demand and supply of gold, gold sales and purchases by central banks
as well as macro-economic or political factors such as inflation expectation
and interest rates.

The Management closely monitors the financial risks and when
appropriate will adopt measures to manage and obtain approval from
the Directors. The Group’s cash and financing positions are closely
monitored at the corporate level through regularly reporting. The maturity
of receivable and payable are planned and managed to reduce liquidity
risk.
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ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment from its business activities. The Group has established
measures and created certain environmental frameworks to minimise
and monitor the environmental impacts attributable to its operations. The
Group implemented the green office practices such as re-deployment of
office furniture as far as possible, encouraging the use of recycled paper
for printing and copying and reducing energy consumption by switching
off idle lightings and electrical appliances.

WORKPLACE QUALITY

The Group believes that employees are valuable assets and all
indispensable to a company’s success, therefore, the Group will use
its best effort to attract and retain appropriate personnel to serve
the Group. The objective of the Group’s human resource policy is to
reward and recognise the top-performing staff by providing attractive
remuneration packages, which are reviewed annually and as required.
The remuneration packages are determined with reference to the
responsibilities, qualifications and experience, duties and performance
of individuals as well as prevailing market compensation packages. The
Group also allocates resources in training, retention and recruitment
programs, and encouraging the staff to strive for self-development and
improvements to cope with the rapidly changing environment.

PROSPECTS

As we enter 2024, our Group is striving to build resilience in a time of
uncertainty. The Group remained cautiously optimistic about the future
prospects of its mining and trading business. The Group is actively
exploring new customers by different ways including through the network
of our senior management. We expect that our business will have a stable
growth in the coming years.

The economic outlook remains uncertain in 2024. Global economies
will continue to face multiple macroeconomic headwinds, including
geopolitical uncertainties, inflation and tightened financial conditions.
Many industries are still plagued by supply chain issues that emerged
in recent years. Ongoing inflation and subdued economic growth are
expected. In order to combat this, our Group aims to improve our
resilience in through strategic management, development and expansion
of our two core businesses as well as building protective measures into
supply chains to deal with shortages and rising business costs.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEZHRF R

The Group will make every endeavor to keep abreast of the changing
market conditions, to proactively identify investment opportunities and
expand its mineral resources in order to broaden the revenue base of
the Group, enhance its future financial performance and profitability, and
fine tune its business strategies when appropriate. Moreover, the Group is
seeking for further operating efficiency for its business. We are confident
in the future prospect and committed to the continuous growth of the
Company.

The Board, having considered various solutions and measures to the going
concern issue of the Group that have been actively undertaken and will
continue to be undertaken, as well as the funding needs of the Group for
its existing business operations and future business development, has
decided that the Company will continue raising funds in different ways,
including issuance of convertible bonds, issuance of new Shares or loan
financing, etc. The final result will be subject to the market conditions and
the outcomes of the negotiations with the potential investors.

Looking forward, on the one hand, the Management will continue
modifying and finessing the Group’s strategic plan, and make appropriate
adjustments according to the changes in the dynamic business
environment in China and around the world, and on the other hand will
continue looking for other investment opportunities, potential partners or
acquisition targets to improve and broaden the sources of income for the
Group to create maximum value and long-term benefits for Shareholders.
The Management will strive to leverage our internal and external resources
through fundraising or introducing strategic investors to achieve this goal.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Reporting Period, the Group mainly financed its operation with
internally generated cashflows, borrowings and equity financing.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had unpledged bank and cash balances
of approximately HK$4.7 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$6.2 million). The gearing ratio was not applicable to the Group
(31 December 2022: n/a) and the borrowings and convertible bond of
the Group was approximately HK$186.9 million and HK$2.4 million
respectively (31 December 2022: approximately HK$315.8 million and
HK$NIl). The Group reported net current liabilities of approximately
HK$140.8 million as at 31 March 2024 (31 December 2022: net current
liabilities of approximately HK$323.5 million).

Details of maturity profile and interest rate structure of the borrowings and
convertible bond of the Group are set out in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements of the annual report of the Company for the Reporting
Period to be published later on.
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COMMITMENTS

Particulars of commitments of the Group as at 31 March 2024 and 31
December 2022 are set out in the note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s restricted bank deposits of
approximately HK$5,415,000 (31 December 2022: HK$46,167,000)
were pledged to bills payables.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liability (31 December 2022: nil).

BANK BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any outstanding bank loan
(31 December 2022: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed 522 staff members (31
December 2022: 486). The remuneration of employees was in line with
the market trend and commensurate with the level of remuneration in the
industry and the performance of individual employees that are regularly
reviewed every year.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the Reporting Period, the Group mainly generated sales revenue
and incurred costs in both Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi. In view of
the fluctuation of Renminbi, the Directors considered that the Group’s
exposure to fluctuation in foreign exchange rate was minimal and
accordingly, the Group did not employ any financial instruments for
hedging purpose.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R EhELARS

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 & ZE202453H31H 1E151E 3

ABOUT THE REPORT

Renaissance Asia Silk Road Group Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, referred to as the “Group”) is pleased to present its
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”), which aims
to demonstrate its efforts on sustainability development to all stakeholders.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The Report primarily highlights the Group’s major initiatives
and activities implemented from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 (“for
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024"). For information regarding
the corporate governance of the Group, please refer to the Company’s
annual report for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024.

This Report is prepared in accordance with the four reporting principles
in the ESG Reporting Guide, including (i) Materiality: The Company has
identified a number of issues covering ESG and has invited stakeholders
to carry out a materiality assessment of these issues for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2024. Please refer to the section “Materiality
Assessment” in this Report for details; (i) Quantitative: This Report
describes the criteria, methodologies and sources of conversion factors
used for the key performance indicators (“KPIs”) related to emissions and
energy consumption; (i) Balance: Both positive and negative impacts
of the business are presented with a high degree of transparency; and
(iv) Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, this Report adopted consistent
methodologies for easy comparison at any time.

THE SCOPE OF THE REPORT

The subsidiary of the Company, Hunan Westralian Mining Company
Limited (“Hunan Westralian”), is a Chinese-foreign contractual joint
venture located in Guanzhuang Town, Yuanling County, Huaihua City,
Hunan Province, China, principally engaged in gold mining, exploration
and trading of gold products. Since Hunan Westralian is a subsidiary
of the Group that has a high impact on the ESG, this Report focuses
disclosing the policies and KPIs implemented by Hunan Westralian on 4
environmental aspects and 8 social aspects for the fifteen months ended
31 March 2024.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS HERERKRS

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;Z=202443831H1E15EA

THE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Oversight of ESG Issues by the Board of Directors of the Company (the
“Board”)

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the Group’s ESG issues.
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the Board and the
management have assessed the impact of ESG-related risks on
operations, and formulated ESG related policies to address related
risks. The Board ensures that the management has all appropriate tools
and resources to oversee the ESG issues. The Group attaches great
importance to the opinions of various stakeholders and regards them as
the cornerstone of the Group’s development. For the fifteen months ended
31 March 2024, the Group has reviewed the ESG matters and ESG related
issues at regular meetings.

Board’s Management Approach and Strategy for Material ESG-related
Matters

In order to better understand the views and expectations of different
stakeholders on ESG matters, the Group conducts materiality assessments
annually. The Group ensures that various platforms and communication
channels are used to reach, listen to and respond to its key stakeholders.
Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group is able to
understand the expectations and concerns from its stakeholders. The
feedback obtained enables the Group to make more informed decisions
and to better assess and manage the impacts of the business decisions.

The Group has assessed the materiality to ESG through the following
steps: (i) identifying ESG issues; (ii) prioritising key ESG areas with
stakeholders’ participation; and (iii) verifying and determining material ESG
issues based on the results of communication with the stakeholders.

Taking these steps can enhance the understanding of the importance that
the Group's stakeholders place on each ESG issues, and enable the Group
to make a more comprehensive plan for the future direction of sustainable
development.

Board Reviews Progress Made Against ESG-related Goals and Targets

The progress of implementation and the performance against goals
and targets should be closely reviewed from time to time, and effective
communication about the goals and targets with key stakeholders such as
employees, customers and suppliers are essential. Modification may be
needed if the progress does not meet expectation or if there are changes
in business operations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI ERERRS

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;Z=202443831H 115 A

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group is committed to sustaining its long-term businesses and
enhancing environmental protection and serving the communities in
which it operates. The Group also delivers quality products and services to
the customers with its prudent business management and its reasonable
decision-making process.

The Group maintains close contact with the stakeholders, which include
shareholders, government, employees, customers, suppliers, society and
the general public. The Group strives to listen to different opinions and
balance the benefits of all its stakeholders via constructive communication
in deciding its long-term business development direction. The Board is
responsible for evaluating the Group’s ESG risks, and ensuring that the
relevant risk management and internal control system are implemented
appropriately and effectively.

The Group discussed with stakeholders for the expectations and concerns
of stakeholders through various channels, and the relevant feedback from
the Group is as follows:

FihESHR
FEERNHFREBNRENTESER R [
iR s HIRIEHRET HHEEFEMHTE
Rt - AEETEEEEEER WRES
BRRREF AT P RHEEERMNARE

AEBERKNE BERR - BH BE-ZFF-
HEH HERAR) REERHER WEBER
ERIEERE SHRIE DB THTER
R WP SRS Z BN HMEERENFE
BRRELN -EFGAETLAERNIRIE 1L
BRERRR WA R R EE SRR
AAEE B U A thIEE -

FERZBEZERELFNE N HEREENR
Ko MAEEAERREENT

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication and Response
Fin& HAZZEERK BB MO
Shareholders e Financial results e |mprove mining capability and facilities with the
(e P goal to maximise the output efficiency
EPIBAEE R LURSBLLAEDR
EVES
e Corporate transparency e Daily information disclosure
EEFERE HEEEKE
e Sound risk control e QOptimization of risk management and internal
SoER kT control
BER SR PEREEIE
Governments e Being law-abiding e Qperation in compliance with the law
LRSS BEA BREE
e Paying tax in accordance with law e Making timely tax payment in full
RIEARTR S R EBANTR
e Safe mining production requirement and e Further improve the safety measures of Gold
supervision Mine
BELREEERNEE E—SRATEZ SR IE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS HERERKRS

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;Z=202443831H1E15EA

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication and Response
Fin& HAZZEERK EEM DR
Employees e Career development platform e Promotion mechanism
(== HEERTE BT
e Remuneration and benefit e Competitive remuneration and benefit
FrbEF packages
RIS | MAOEBNRES
e Safe working environment e Provision of training to staff and enhancing their
ZETEIRIE safely awareness
RETIRMEIN NRETZ2MEE
E
Customers e Customer information security e Customer privacy protection
Y= EREEZR RIEZEATARE
e Customer interest protection e Marketing in compliance with the law
B R EmRIE B
Suppliers e Collaboration integrity e Building a responsible supply chain
AR HEEE TS SR

e Business ethics and creditworthiness
B EREE

e Performing contracts in accordance with the
law

REETER

Communities and public
HERAR

e Environmental friendliness
AEEBIRIR
e Employment opportunities

PERD

e Green office measures
KRBV ETEN

e Provision of employment opportunities
R
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI ERERRS

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;Z=202443831H 115 A

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the Group carried out
a materiality assessment to the ESG-related matters. With reference to
its actual business and industrial characteristics, the Group identified
and recognised 24 topics in relation to ESG, and invited internal and
external stakeholders to give rating on the materiality of such 24
topics. After consolidating the rating results of stakeholders and the
Group’s sustainable development target, the management of the Group
summarised the materiality priority of the topics and prepared a materiality
matrix chart.

The result of materiality assessment will be used by the Group as guidance
when formulating future ESG work plans and goals, with a view to creating
sustainable value for stakeholders.
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Importance of topics to business

A The Group's ESG materiality matrix chart for the fiteen months ended 31 March 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS HERERKRS

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;Z=202443831H1E15EA

Social Topics

HERE

Governance Topics

i
g/l‘:l\ E#EF%E

1. Greenhouse gas emissions
RE RSN

2. Energy consumption and resource
management
REREFREREREIE

3. Water resource management
KEREER

4. Waste management
BEERAEIR

5. Use of packaging materials
BEMEMER

6. Impact on the environment
HIRGEHNFE

7. Climate change
RIREMLE

8. Community contribution
TEEE

9. Occupational health and safety
BERRERZD

10. Child labour
BT

11. Forced and compulsory labour
SRIBAI5RHZ

12. Training and development
s E R

13. Salaries and staff benefit
bR B T12F)

14. Diversity and equal opportunity
St TERE

15. Talent attraction and retention

U85 | Re BB AA

16. Anti-corruption
k&5

17. Supply chain management
HpEREE

18. Supplier evaluation and selection
HpEr T R B

19. Customer service and satisfaction
BERRBRmEE

20. Customer privacy
BERTLE

21. Feedback and compliant handling
REREFEER

22. Product safety and quality
management
EmZerREEEE

23. Protect intellectual property
IReE A AR

24. Marketing and labeling
ITHHERT
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FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;Z=202443831H 115 A

EMISSIONS

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, Hunan Westralian has 2
diesel-powered medium vehicles for delivering ore. The emissions from
fuels produce exhaust gases including black smoke, carbon monoxide,
hydrocarbons, nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulphur oxides (SOx) and respiratory
suspended particles (RSP, or particulate matter (PM)). Hunan Westralian
also know that consumption of electricity for production will cause indirect
emissions of air pollutants and greenhouse gas.

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the key environmental
performance indicators of the Hunan Westralian's emissions are listed as
follows:

BER 4D

B E202453831H LE15E B » /4 Fa R B A 260
DB R AR I EERIEA MR 2 B o
BN EREEREREERE - —&1t
B B A &EEYI(NOX) ~ BRE(E#(S0x)
KeFg 2 5ak (RSPFBAFERIMIPM)) < #iFa o
NHABEERESERER A BE R
BRI HEm o

B E2024F3H31 H L1518 8 » SR FR B
RARIRIR AR E IS TR

For the Fifteen
Months Ended

Environmental Indicators Unit 31 March 2024 Year 2022

#ZE2024%

3B31H1E
IRIGHEIR Efi 1588 20225
Air Emissions (Note 1)
BERBERR (7t —)
Emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 4197 N/A
KAIEINOXFER T A
Emissions of sulphur oxides (SOx) kg 0.13 N/A
s EMISOXHER T NEA
Emissions of particulate matter (PM) kg 4.16 N/A
BERIYIPMBERL T A
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BERARHER
Total greenhouse gases emissions (Notes 2 & 3) kg of carbon dioxide equivalent 6,790,435 5,144,608
RERRSHIIMEE W k=) Fr_athikEe
Greenhouse gases emissions intensity kg of carbon dioxide equivalent 14,117 10,696
(per Hunan Westralian’s employee)
RERBHIEE Fr_athkEe
(G2 Ez ES)
Direct emissions (Scope 1) (Note 1) kg of carbon dioxide equivalent 22,073 N/A
EiEHR @E—-) (at—) FTr_fREE NEA
— Greenhouse gas emissions removals from kg (3,335) (4,600)
newly planted trees

— HMiBERAE R =R EBER T
Indirect emissions (Scope 2) (Note 2) kg of carbon dioxide equivalent 6,771,697 5,149,035
EiEER @ED) ) FTr_athkEs
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3) kg of carbon dioxide equivalent N/A 173
HinEEHR @E@E=) FTr_atikES TEF
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FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;Z=202443831H1E15EA

Note 1:  The emission factors used to calculate the exhaust emissions are derived in
accordance with the Hong Kong Environmental Protection Department’s Vehicle
Emission Calculation model and the United States Environmental Protection Agency’s
Vehicle Emission Modeling Software. These factors are based on the assumptions of
a relative humidity of 80%, a temperature of 25 degrees Celsius, an average running
speed of 30 km/h, including only the running exhaust emissions.

Note 2: Emission factor is sourced from the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the
People’'s Republic of China (2021). The figures are calculated in accordance with
the “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”. Due to the change in the emission
factors used to calculate the carbon dioxide equivalent associated with electricity
purchases in mainland China, the relevant data has been restated to conform to the
calculation method for the current year.

Note 3:  The greenhouse gas emissions (directly and indirectly) and their removals can be
divided into the following three separate scopes:

Scope 1: The greenhouse gas emissions generated by the business owned or
controlled by Hunan Westralian (primarily from the fuel consumption of
vehicles) and the greenhouse gas emissions removals from newly planted
trees.

Scope 2: The greenhouse gas emissions generated in the production process
resulting from the consumption of electricity purchased by Hunan

Westralian from electricity power company.

Scope 3: All other indirect greenhouse gas emissions generated from the external
environment of Hunan Westralian, including indirect emissions from waste
paper disposed at landfills and the use of electricity when processing
freshwater/sewage by external agencies.

Hunan Westralian encourages employees to minimise energy
consumption and paper waste in daily operations, and has adopted green
office measures to take environmental responsibility, including requiring
employees to turn off closed lighting equipment and electrical appliances
to reduce electricity consumption and encourage the use of recycled
paper to print, etc.

Adhering to the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Hunan Westralian has formulated and implemented the
“Environmental Protection Management System” and the “Environmental
Protection Quality Control System”, and has established appropriate
precautions and control measures for possible sources of pollution in its
production processes. In order to protect its construction workers and local
residents, Hunan Westralian classifies and processes the household waste
storage at designated locations or permitted locations to prevent or reduce
pollution.

Mia— AUGHEBER BNV AR T RBE BRI RE
B R EHE st BT R EFIRIE (R E(United States
Environmental Protection Agency)B93S BEEHE IS BY 8R4 51
B ZE A YL RBAEERER80%  RE A5
B FTREAS/N\R30ARHE i REET
SRR A o

FRRFHRETEARANBEBRES CF
=5 ~HBHRE IRRBBEMISRR SIS
stE - AR AR EARTEAMEERRN A
{ERFBOENEF LIREE)  SAERMBURHEE
JINRERFENBHEES N

/o A
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EEEE
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EWBOMAELHFE) FTE LR ERBETHIR
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(RREEEHFIE)  BRCEEPEARKM
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B TS REEHEF R > Hir PR AR TR hIR
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FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;Z=202443831H 115 A

The Group's 5-year target is to reduce the emission intensity of exhaust
gas and greenhouse gas emission by 3% by year 2026 based on the
baseline in Year 2021. The relevant targets are detailed as follows:

FEEEBSF I B R EI 20265 E AT IRE2021 6
ENESRERFNEERREREIINEE
3% AERAE ARSI T

Environmental KPls Reduction Target Baseline Year Status
IRIRRRSR AR HEER BAEF ARRE
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) emission intensity Reduce 3% by year 2026 Year 2021 In progress
R EMINONHE R S 120265 AR 3% 20214EE EITH
Sulphur oxides (SOx) emission intensity Reduce 3% by year 2026 Year 2021 In progress
WA EMISOVBEIE E TR20265F ERIR3% 20214F ETH
Particulate matter (PM) emission intensity Reduce 3% by year 2026 Year 2021 In progress
BRI PMBERE EE 20265 AR 3% 20214EE EITH
Greenhouse gas emission intensity Reduce 3% by year 2026 Year 2021 In progress
RERBHIREE 20265 ERIR3% 20214F ETH

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, since Hunan Westralian did
not generate hazardous waste in its operation, there is no relevant data.
If any hazardous waste needs to be disposed of, Hunan Westralian will
engage a professional company to handle and dispose of it.

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, Hunan Westralian only
generated a small amount of non-hazardous waste in its operation,
therefore, relevant data need not be quantified. In order to protect the
construction workers and the resident people, Hunan Westralian classifies
and stores non-hazardous wastes, and centrally disposes those wastes at
designated or permitted locations to prevent or reduce pollution.

The Group's goal is to maintain no hazardous waste and only a very small
amount of non-hazardous waste in the next five years.

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, Hunan Westralian was not
aware of any material non-compliance of any laws or regulations relating
to the emissions of exhaust gas and greenhouse gases, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste,
including the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Water Pollution. In addition, no major fines or sanctions
relating to the non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations have
been received for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024.
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USE OF RESOURCES BIR{EH

Hunan Westralian has formulated an environmental protection framework AR PEREIE —EMNISIBREEL LS REA
and resource use measure to minimise and monitor the environmental &5 U ER/D W B A H2EHIBIENT Z-
impact of its operations. Hunan Westralian has implemented green office  HRIPRREH T AR R AEHE i IR0l fEE
measures, such as redeploying office equipment as much as possible,  HEFEMWATLE > SHENME A B EACEITENRIR
encouraging the use of recycled paper for printing and photocopying, and ~ #8E1> WK B T RERAE ERE BRI B S LUEE
requiring employees to turn off idle lights and appliances to reduce energy ~ BEJR H#E

consumption.

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the key environmental & ZE202493831H L1588 » Him /5 RE RS
performance indicators for the use of resources in Hunan Westralian are  FRRURSIBIRIB EXUGEIZEHAIF &

listed as follows:

For the Fifteen
Months Ended
Environmental Indicators Units 31 March 2024 Year 2022
#HE20245F
3A31H1E
IRIGHEAR Efi 1588 20225
Use of Resources
¥ERE
Purchased electricity consumption kwh 12,908,305 9,815,163
BEEESE TR
Petrol consumption (Note 1) kwh N/A N/A
AHREE (W —) TR NEA Ve
Diesel consumption (Note 1) kwh 89,586 N/A
SonFEE W) TR A
Total energy consumption kwh 12,997,891 9,815,163
AETRHAEARE TR
Energy consumption intensity kwh (per Hunan Westralian’s employee) 27,023 20,406
AERHFERE TEF &E 0BT ES)
Water consumption
Ak
Total water consumption (Note 2) cubic metre N/A N/A
FKk4EE (") IHAK TEA A
Water consumption intensity cubic metre N/A N/A
(per Hunan Westralian's employee)
RKZEE MK EEHEERZ ES) NEA B
Packaging Material Usage (Note 3)
BRMEERE (=)
Packaging material used for finished products kg N/A N/A
IRk cm P AR B2 AR Ak Sroa NEA EVENE
Packaging material used intensity kg (per Hunan Westralian’s employee) N/A N/A
PR B AR 2 E T EEHEAE ES) TEF NE A
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FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;Z=202443831H 115 A

Note 1:  The Group apply the conversion factors sourced from the Energy Statistics Manual

issued by the International Energy Agency to convert the units of data collected
(gasoline and diesel) into kwh.

Note 2: As Hunan Westralian used mine water, there was no water meter measurement.

Note 3:  As Hunan Westralian is mainly engaged in gold mining, exploration and trading of

gold products, no packaging materials were consumed for the fifteen months ended
31 March 2024.

Hunan Westralian has implemented a number of policies and procedures
to strengthen employees’ environmental awareness and thus reduce
resource use, including (i) proper use of air-conditioners and keeps the
room temperature at 26 degrees celsius; (i) the office uses daylight
whenever possible and reduce the use of lights in order to effectively
reduce the electricity consumption; and (iii) encourage printing when
needed, use environmental friendly paper in office daily in order to reduce
paper consumption.

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the Group has not
experienced any difficulty in sourcing water that is fit for the usage of the
Group.

The Group's 5-year target is to reduce energy consumption intensity and
water intensity by 3% respectively by year 2026 based on the Year 2021
baseline. The relevant targets are detailed as follows:

Mfat— . AERERBERERE % HAERBIEF MR
EFIEFTU R EUE (R SH) BB (IeiaR T
Rfse

M= : ERHRE R AR EH RBYK  BUR B KERE
2o

M= AN HEARTIENEESHR BWRUKEER

SES WEE024E3H31 B LE15ER LRNES
SRR o

HEAERA SEB R AR R UINSESRIR
REG (MR L EIREABVIEH 83 ()8
EMERTERERE  EM AT BERIFERE6
EBIKE (M AEREFR B BV ERE
& LIBRURLDBITHFE 5 Kz e 26575
B> B EWMARBIRFEAREDFERE

BHE202453H31H LE15@E R » AEBES KB
KRR EE AR BT AR o

REBMSERBIZ 22026 F ERiRE2021F
EREED AR EERE RRKEERL
3% FERI BT ¢

Environmental KPls Reduction Target Baseline Year Status
IRIGRASRAEBIER AHEBIR HEg ARES
Energy consumption intensity Reduce 3% by year 2026 Year 2021 In progress
RERERERE 20265 ERIR3% 20214 TP
Water consumption intensity Reduce 3% by year 2026 Year 2021 In progress
RkZE 12026 EZ AR 3% 20214FE #Ei7H
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FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;Z=202443831H1E15EA

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

In order to implement the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China to reduce or prevent destroying and polluting the
natural environment, to protect and improve the mining environment
and to promote conservation works, Hunan Westralian has built
an environmental friendly enterprise according to the established
“Environmental Protection Management System”. The “Environmental
Protection Management System” is formulated in accordance with
relevant national, industry and local laws, regulations, standards and
relevant regulations of higher authorities. For the environmental protection
work, employees should abide by the principle of “prevention first with
treatment combined” FBF5 %A > [578454) , “whoever pollutes whoever
cleans up” (355 Z4&418) , and implement the “a very thorough” (4t %!
J& > #5%)%8) management system.

In addition, according to the “Environmental Protection Management
System”, Hunan Westralian has set up the Environmental Protection
Leading Team and the Safety and Environmental Protection Department.
The Environmental Protection Leading Team is the highest decision-
making body in environmental protection in Hunan Westralian, its duties
include: (i) leading the environmental protection works; (i) developing
environmental protection policies and objectives; (iii) researching and
deciding on governance solutions for major sources of pollution; (iv)
assessing the overall condition of environmental protection; (v) ensuring
the allocation of resources for environmental protection; (vi) awarding
the employees in recognition of their outstanding achievements and
contributions to environmental protection; and (vii) being responsible
for determining the relevant personnel in line with the government
investigation and handling of environmental accidents.

Hunan Westralian adheres to green operation and is committed to building
green enterprises. For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, Hunan
Westralian deliberately planted about 145 trees to beautify the living area
of the plant. This action can reduce greenhouse gases. In addition, in
order to effectively reduce the water consumption, the industrial water
used in ore processing in the mining area is taken from groundwater, and
the wastewater generated is recycled and reused in the ore processing
plant.

RIERKXABRR
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PETRUIRIE - DU EE R T 1R HmraRiR
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CLIMATE CHANGE

Continued emissions of greenhouse gases lead to climate change. In
response to climate change, the Group refers to the framework of the Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures of Financial Stability Board
to assess climate-related risk. The risks fall into two broad categories,
namely: (i) physical risks associated with the impacts of climate change;
and (i) transition risks associated with a low carbon economy.

The climate-related risks identified by the Group are mainly structural
damage to buildings in the mining area in Hunan Westralian due to the
increased frequency of extreme weather events and floods caused by
changes in rainfall patterns. Such climate changes may affect workforce
management and planning, and also increase the risk of employee injury
on the job. In addition, there is also a risk that the infrastructure and
machinery in the mining area of Hunan Westralian may be damaged by
climate change. The damage to the facilities will affect the operation and
lead to an increase in operating costs.

To address the above climate-related risks, Hunan Westralian has
purchased employee injury insurance for all employees. These insurances
cover expenses for employee injury due to weather conditions. In addition,
Hunan Westralian has also purchased relevant property insurance for all
engineering projects, operational projects and major fixed assets to protect
property damage caused by weather factors and reduce maintenance
costs that may be required.

EMPLOYMENT

The Group is committed to providing a working environment free from
any form of discrimination: race, gender, religion, age, disability or sexual
orientation. Hunan Westralian strives to create a people-oriented, market-
based, competitive and fluid work environment that attracts, trains,
motivates and assesses its employees in its never-ending effort in creating
a quality team. Hunan Westralian provides equal opportunities for all
personnel in respect of recruitment, compensation ratios, trainings and
developments, promotions and other employment benefits.

Hunan Westralian recruits employees of all gender, age, skills, educational
backgrounds, industry experiences and other qualities, in order to achieve
the most appropriate, diversified and efficient team.
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Hunan Westralian has a total of 481 employees, all of whom are full-time
employees and located in China. As at 31 March 2024, the total number
of employees in Hunan Westralian by different categories is as follows:

HEPRES ARSI 2R R ERIES
TR B © 7202438311 - #E FRIZ A E)
EhEopEEEEI T -

Fifteen months
ended
31 March 2024 Year 2022
#ZF20245
3H31HLE
Total Number of Employees EE4E8 1582 20224
By Gender FERIEI S
—Male — B 462 (96%) 463 (96%)
—Female — 19 (4%) 18 (4%)
By Type of Employment (Full-time or Part-time) M EEERES (ZRE SRR
~ Fulime — 2 481 (100%) 481 (100%)
— Parttime — FRE —(-%) —(-%)
By Age Group B4R RIEI 53
— Under 30 years old — 30U 15 (4%) 14 (3%)
—301to 50 years old — 30E505% 233 (48%) 245 (51%)
—Over 50 years old —B0RR A 233 (48%) 222 (46%)
By Geographical Location brreaub AN EEba
—China — rhE] 481 (100%) 481 (100%)

Regarding to recruitment, the Group, especially Hunan Westralian, strictly
follows the recruitment procedures of the Staff Manual: (i) departments
that intend to recruit new employees must first fill out the department
recruitment application form, and hand into the general administration
officer of the department of personnel administration for approval; (i) the
personnel administration department will host the initial interviews with the
candidates; (iii) personnel administration department will turn in forms and
information of the candidates to their department manager and general
manager for their approvals, and host the secondary interview; (iv) the
personnel administration department will inform the new employees their
first day of work, and assist them with their entry formalities which include
establishing their personal files, signing contracts and informing them the
lengths of their probations, their salaries and employee benefits in detail;
and (v) the department manager will then explain to the employees their
job duties and extents of their authorities.

HRETHEE ~EBSH SRR &S
BB T FMRERIBISIER (()EBPIARES AT
BT RSMMEREPIEERFE SRS
AERBASTEEETHHEREEE ;A
ETHEHEENASETVREASHE (i)
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During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the employee turnover
ratio of Hunan Westralian by different categories is set out in the table
below:

B 202443831 B L1588 > #IRI PSR )
BR8P EE MK LEEFHIN T !

Fifteen months
ended
31 March 2024 Year 2022
#ZE2024%
3H31HL1E
15f8H 20226
Employee turnover rate by gender (Note 1) FERBI T ES LR
Htst—)
—Male — B4 5% 3%
— Female — % 5% —
Employee turnover rate by age group (Note 1) ERARNBI D ES RKRLEE
Hfst—)
— Under 30 years old — 305 33% =
— 3010 50 years old — 30&505% 3% 5%
— Over 50 years old — B50pR AL 4% -
Employee turnover rate by geographical region (Nofe 1) &M@ BISH{ES FikEEER
(izt—)
—China — A 5% 2%
— Other — Htth - -
Note 1:  The employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of employees who — fifat— . {RERK LLERIGE BRI N B E 202453831 H LE15E

have resigned for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 by the total number of
employees in that category at the year-end date.

Hunan Westralian strictly complies with the Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China and related laws and regulations to provide reasonable salaries and
benefits to its Chinese employees, providing five social insurances and
one fund (TPFE—=), which include endowment insurance, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and work injury
insurance, and the housing provident fund for employees. Employees
are also entitled to paid holidays, which include annual leave, sick leave,
marital leave and maternity leave. Hunan Westralian has established
a promotion mechanism in which the department manager can make
adjustment on the employee’s salary and promotion based on his/her job
performances. All guidelines related to salaries and dismissals, work hours
and holidays are clearly stated in the company’s Staff Manual. Provided
with a well-defined and fair reward and punishment mechanism, the
employees can focus on developing their own potentials and performing
their best on their jobs.
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Hunan Westralian’s working hour is 6 days a week and 7 hours a
day. Hunan Westralian has also established the “Leave Management
Measures”, which states that other than the national statutory holidays,
employees may be entitled to overtime compensation (overtime work
will be compensated with same amount of time-off). In the case of sick
leave, employees who are hospitalized or suffering from illnesses must
provide medical proofs to obtain sick leaves. In addition, employees are
also entitled to marital leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, bereavement
leave based on the state regulations.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, Hunan Westralian was
not aware of any material non-compliance of laws and regulations relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefit and welfare. The Group strictly complies with local laws and
regulations related to employment, such as the Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China and Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China. In addition, no major fines or sanctions have been received for
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, due to non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

In order to fully put our guiding principles of “placing safety first,
preventing injuries as core, and managing comprehensively (Z2 8% — >
FEM AT 4257818)” into practice, and to strengthen the managements
of safety training, Hunan Westralian has set out guidelines in accordance
to Safe Production Law of the People’s Republic of China, Safety Training
Management Measures (Safety Supervision Bureau Decree No. 44) and
the relevant laws and administrative regulations, to ensure the quality
of our job safety training and further its development. Furthermore,
the Company provided a variety of well-planned and specialized safety
trainings which are tailored to the realistic working conditions, in order to
promote a higher level of safety awareness for all.

Major hazards of mining include: (i) dumping operation; (ii) ground
pressure; (i) water damage; (iv) fire or explosion hazards; (v) poisoning;
and (vi) suffocation hazards.
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Dumping Operations: Mine dumps (also known as waste field) refer to
sites where waste materials such as soils and rocks that were removed
to access to the ores are stored. The waste materials produced in the
process generally include humus topsoil, weathered rock, hard rock,
mixed geotechnical soils and small amount of recycled off-the-shelf
mines and lean mines, etc. Hunan Westralian has also set up the “Safety
Management System for Dumping Operation” to regulate the operation of
dumps to satisfy each process’ safety protection requirements, evaluation
and management, supervision and inspection requirements, to prevent
accidents in the dumps.

Ground Pressure: Due to some unauthorised indiscriminate mining by the
locals in the past, there are goaves existing in the mines. The goaves may
collapse under the ground pressure if they are not filled or treated with
other methods. To prevent the goaves from collapsing, Hunan Westralian
has developed a “Filling Recovery Safety Management System”, which
requires each layer of mining to be filled immediately after being mined,
and the last layer shall be treated with fill tightening, to prevent staff from
falling into goaves.

Water Damage: There are three types of water damage that may cause
casualties and property damages: (i) when goaves collapse and water
from surface seeping in as a result, or when there are cracks or caves
on the surfaces and precipitations pour in; (ii) when underground water
gushes inside the mining areas (even when the amount of water gushing
is small, the strength and abruptness may cause immense damages to the
mining site); and (i) when the water on the surface or when rain pours
in and lead to flooding in goaves, roadways and mining areas. In order to
prevent any of the water damages mentioned above, Hunan Westralian
regulates all its units to fulfill the work safety requirements by abiding
“Drainage Management System”, “Surface and Underground Drainage
Management System”, “Water Damage Control Technology Management
System”, “Water Damage in Mines Forecast System” and “Water Damage
Investigation System”.
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Fire or Explosion Hazards: There are multiple potential sources of
flammable, combustive and explosive materials in the mining process,
explosives and detonator materials such as ammonium nitrate are the
most dangerous. To eliminate any fire or explosion hazards in the process
of storage and transportation, Hunan Westralian has developed “The
Use of Fire Product Management System”, “Explosives Storage Safety
System”, “Explosives Safety Inspection System” and “Use of Explosives
Management System”. The systems also require all responsible personnel
passing the safety training and assessments, and have obtained the
Explosives Administrator Certificate or Explosion Certificate. In addition,
Hunan Westralian has also set up “Fire Safety Measures”, “Fire Prevention
Management System” and “Fire Management System”, and requires
all managers to inspect and supervise the site strictly adhering to the
guidelines, which include but not limited to (i) sampling the air quality
for any combustible gas at mining site and clearing out any flammable
material in the location and using sprinkler to remove any dust particles
before ignition. There shall be at least two fire extinguishers and two
buckets at the scene at all time. After ignition, it should put out the fire
with water, and observe for an hour to ensure all fire were put out before
leaving the scene; (ii) checking the first and second wiring before welding,
and ensuring the grounding is placed well to prevent electric shock; and
(i) checking the oxygen and acetylene meters before using welding

torches to prevent gas leakage.

Poisoning and Suffocation Hazards: Poisoning and suffocation hazards are
caused by the airborne dust and soot from explosion and other airborne
contaminants at the mine, which include: the mixture of sulfide and air
formed by the oxidation of the ore body, and air contaminants in the cave,
the goaf and the tunnel. The mine is divided into separate mining zones
with separate ventilation system in each zone, and use the central exhaust
ventilation system to vent the air out of the mine. Hunan Westralian has
formulated a “Ventilation and Dust Management System”, which requires
the production technology department, environmental safety department,
and the mechanical and electrical management unit of the mine area to
strictly abide by it.
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The Group continue its effort to improve its mining capability and facilities
with the goal to maximise the output efficiency of the Gold Mine. The
following areas will require further capital investment for improvement: (i)
mine site facilities in the mine located in the eastern side of the site; (ii)
plants for mining products processing; and (iii) ancillary facilities, including
mine ventilation and air distribution systems.

A Safety work warning signs are
placed in the mining area

BeNREZETFETE

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the number of fatalities,
rates and lost days due to work-related injuries are set out in the table
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A Dust warning signs are
placed in the mining area
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below:

Fifteen months

ended

31 March
2024 Year 2022 Year 2021

#ZFE20245%F

3H31HLE
15188 2022 E 2021FE
Number of work-related fatalities TEEMBIET A - - =
Rate of work-related fataliies (%) A TEEMBITETLEE (%) - = =
Lost days due to work injury EATEEETIEEH - - =
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During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, there were no work-
related accidents, therefore, there was no loss of working days due to
work-related injuries and no work-related fatalities. Hunan Westralian has
implemented following safety measures in 2020, including but not limited
to: (i) strengthening the strict implementation of the “Mining Enterprise
Leaders Descend into Mine Pits with Mine Workers System”, and the
shift management leaders shall descend and ascend along with the shift
workers at the same time; (ii) implementing the “Shift Handover System”,
shift management leaders should fill in the handover records truthfully;
(i) implement the “Safety Education and Training System” to provide no
less than 72 hours of safety education and training for new employees,
no less than 12 hours retraining for the key persons in charge and safety
management personnel each year, and no less than 20 hours of retraining
for existing employees each vyear; (iv) strictly implementing the “Badges
Requirements and Records of Employees Descend into Mine Pits System”
and “Safety Management of Descending into Mine Pits System”; and
(v) implementing the “Municipality on the Screening, Identification and
Control of Safety Hazards System” to carry out safety hazard investigation
and control management, and adopt technical measures to manage newly
discovered safety hazards

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, Hunan Westralian was
not aware of any material non-compliance of laws and regulations relating
to the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases, Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurance
of the People’s Republic of China, Fire Control Law of People’s Republic
of China and other applicable laws and regulations, resulting in a material
impact in Hunan Westralian to provide a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards. In addition, no major
fines or penalties have been received for the fifteen months ended 31
March 2024 due to non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Hunan Westralian has prepared “Staff Manual” to regulate the employee
trainings and developments, it includes: (i) training purposes; (i) training
systems; (i) method of trainings; and (iv) training management. In
order to create a safe working environment for all, Hunan Westralian is
committed to providing workers sufficient pre-job trainings, on-the-job
trainings and other related professional trainings. All new employees are
required to participate internal training which enables them to quickly
adapt to the working environment, to understand the corporate culture
and to master the basic skills needed. In addition, Hunan Westralian also
recruit lecturers for staff-training internally as well as externally: the internal
trainings improve the operational capacities of the employees, and external
trainings enhance their professional knowledges, safety awareness,
and further their skills in management leadership and teambuilding.
Hunan Westralian strives to further company development, enhance the
performances of its employees and retain the talents in company.

Hunan Westralian has developed a “Safety Activities Day System”. Every
Friday is a Safety Activities Day, every mining area is divided into morning
and afternoon section, and the activities are held for not less than 2 hours.

Hunan Westralian has formulated a safety training program to
continuously improve the employees’ awareness and skills on job safety to
meet the needs of the company’s overall development. The training targets
the new employees, special operations personnel, team leaders, part-time
security officers, major responsible officers of the company and safety
management personnel. Under the necessity of the Hunan Westralian's
development, the trainings also equip all the staff with essentials
knowledges such as the laws and regulations, skills on identifying sources
of hazards, emergency procedures and safety standards etc.

36 RENAISSANCE ASIA SILK ROAD GROUP LIMITED

BRI M ERBRAR

2 R R s

HEPRGE T (ETFM)  LURSEE TIEFIA
R B ((EFIE Y (DIFFIERR S GiEIE
I RWVIBIER - A TIRH—EZ 2 EENIR
1% HR PR % B TR RSl R e RS
315 ERABEEI LIE - FRET AR B T 19R2 A
MERLEEI TR TR IREA LIFRIEZ By »
TR T REENEREERE TFNER
FRAE ° LS 2 AR PR TN S B P SR a8 M A2 51 BB
EEmETTE T AEREIIF MRS ERET
BYZRESAEST > MINBLEFIRI I BURA B T1E
AR ITFLEEGNEENR BEHE BE
KEE-EFRRRZEEH HRARRNB/A
B3R Rt AERRAHE B AT

METEESIE T (Z2ER ) - SARNE
BEREME SWED £ TR EBR
IR B o

HEAREIE] T 225N EHiREEER
IHNZEERHNZE2RE UG AREEE
BRUFZ -HIHRAWET \HREIEEAE
HERUEABREFRBZEE ARTEEE
M ZEEEAS - REHEARERNTR
HERETETHEMEARERREERBHIE
el ey RZeEETFE
B REREFRENEEE



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS HERERKRS

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;Z=202443831H1E15EA

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the average training
hours completed by employees in Hunan Westralian by different
categories and the percentage of employees trained are set out in the table

B 202443831 B L1588 > #RI PSR
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below:
Fifteen months
ended
31 March 2024 Year 2022
HF20244F
3831HLE
1588 20224
Average hours of training per employee (hour) FRESTFHZIREE () 81 5}
Average hours of training per employee by gender 4R B S RES 95T
ZallFF Sk
— Male (hour) — B () 84 S}
— Female (hour) — 2% VN - 3
Average hours of training per employee HESHENEISHES TS
by employment category ST SZ3)IRFER
— Senior (hour) — B VB 25 3
— Middle (hour) — A&k (NP 37 3
— Junior (hour) — ¥AR U)NEp) 88 S}
Percentage of employees trained (Note 1) ZiBE TSt (st —) 70% 100%
Percentage of employees trained by gender (Note 2) RIS ZIEE G AL
Hzz=)
— Male — B 100% %%
— Female — - 4%
Percentage of employees trained EESENESHNZINES
by employment category (Note 2) BAtE B
— Senior — =8 1% 2%
— Middle — 4R 7% 7%
— Junior — 4R 92% 91%
Note 1:  The percentage of trained employees is calculated by dividing the number of — ffiz— . ZIBREMBE D LLTVZSMEIIRE ABELUERE
employees participating in training by the number of employees. AZEtE
Note 2: The segment of trained employees by category is calculated by dividing the number a2 = : #Z4ERIBI DM Z MBS N TETHIRZERNZIEE A

of employees trained in that category by the number of employees participating in

training.
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LABOUR STANDARDS

Hunan Westralian believes that all forms of child labour and forced
labour are universally condemned, and therefore against these illegal
arrangements and strive to comply all the laws and regulations strictly.
Hunan Westralian strictly complies with the labor contract system, and all
employees are required to sign a labor contract within one month from the
date of employment.

Hunan Westralian has adopted the general recruit measurement to
avoid child labor and forced labor, including: (i) prevention of child
labour measure; and (ii) prevention of forced labour measure. When the
administrative and human resources department reviews the resume
of the job applicants, it will remove those job applicants who are under
the age of 18. Since the measurement came into effect, the Group has
not hired any child labour. In addition, employees are required to submit
their daily working hours to their immediate supervisors every day. The
administrative and human resources department will check the work
hours records once a week. If any overtime is found, an investigation will
be carried out immediately.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance regarding laws and regulations
relating to prevent child labour and forced labour in Hunan Westralian.
The Group strictly complies with local laws and regulations related to labor
standards, such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China and
the Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour. In addition, no major fines
or sanctions have been reported for the fifteen months ended 31 March
2024 due to non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Hunan Westralian has always complied with laws and regulations in
its business operations, and has always adhered to the international
standards, and remained fair in its purchasing procedures. In its supply
chain management, Hunan Westralian always upholds the principle of
transparency, honesty, integrity and fairness. Hunan Westralian provides
strict guidelines on its purchasing procedures in its assessment and
selections of services providers to ensure every little step is in compliance
with regulations. In addition, Hunan Westralian has approval procedures to
ensure the cooperation with suppliers are monitored and approved by the
appropriate level of management.

Hunan Westralian's business involves mining projects in mining areas. If
the project needs to be contracted to a contractor, Hunan Westralian will
enter into a project contract with the contractor in accordance with the
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and relevant laws and
regulations. In the process of selecting contractors, Hunan Westralian will
conduct due diligence on the contractors during the contractor access
approval process, including obtaining their industrial and commercial
documents and relevant licenses. The project contractors must strengthen
the safety production management at the construction site in accordance
with the requirements in the contract to ensure safe production. The
contractors shall, in accordance with the requirements of relevant laws
and regulations, purchase insurance and distributes labor protection
articles for its employees to reduce the risk of work-related injury.

The number of suppliers by region is set out in the table below:
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HE2024F
3B31H1E
15{E8
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Customers’ satisfaction is one of Hunan Westralian'’s main goals. Hunan
Westralian is committed to complying with the laws and regulations in
respect to health and safety of its products, advertising, labeling and
privacy. All employees are required to comply with applicable government
and regulatory laws, rules, codes and regulations.

Since gold mines are different from other metal mines, the production,
beneficiation and leaching processes of gold mines are complicated.
Therefore, Hunan Westralian has formulated the “Product Quality
Management Measures” to standardise the management procedures
for the inspection of product quality by laboratories in the mining area.
Hunan Westralian is engaged in gold mining, exploration and trading of
gold products, and the sale of gold products does not involve recycling for
safety and health reasons.

In addition, since the sale of gold products by Hunan Westralian does
not involve copyright and trademark infringement, there is no system for
safeguarding and protecting intellectual property rights.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, Hunan Westralian has
not received any complaints from customers regarding products and
services. In addition, no shipped products have been recalled for the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2024.

Hunan Westralian implements privacy protection in accordance with the
confidentiality clauses of the contract, and strictly keeps customer privacy
and business information confidential in business operations.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance of the laws and regulations relating
to the health and safety, advertising, labeling, privacy matters relating to
the products and methods of redemption in Hunan Westralian. The Group
strictly complies with local laws and regulations related to product liability,
such as the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China. In addition,
no large fines or sanctions have been reported for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2024.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group's objective is to promote anti-corruption, anti-money laundering
and zero bribery, extortion and fraud. The Group has established a set
of internal management regulations on anti-corruption, implemented a
comprehensive mechanism, and strictly monitored each employee to
ensure that employees do not have any violations of discipline, regulations
and laws such as seeking personal gain, bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, and resolutely combat corruption and uphold integrity.
If there is any suspected case, the employee can notify the management
and refer it to the relevant department for investigation.

Combining the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of
China and the actual company’s situation, Hunan Westralian has set up
“Anti-fraud Policy” to strictly prohibit any forms of corruptions and frauds,
to enhance Hunan Westralian's governance and internal control, and to
regulate its operation activities in order to reduce Company’s operation
risks and to ensure the company has a stable and sound development. All
employees are prohibited from using deception or other illegal measures
to receive personal benefits including but not limited to money, gifts, loans,
awards, contracts, services and food.

Hunan Westralian has also set up “Anti-fraud Prosecution Procedure”
and communication channels that enable the staff to report frauds. If
employees in Hunan Westralian knew or suspected any forms of fraud,
they may follow the procedures to report. Hunan Westralian encourages
employees to report to the Chairman of the Audit Committee through mail
or email anonymously. After the prosecution is accepted, the relevant
prosecutions will be conducted independently by the internal auditors or
the external legal counsels under the supervision of the chairman of the
committee.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the Group provided its
directors and senior management with education and training on anti-
corruption (by distributing electronic training materials) to raise their
awareness of ethics and corruption issues.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI ERERRS

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;Z=202443831H 115 A

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance of the laws and regulations relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering in Hunan Westralian.
The Group strictly complies with local laws and regulations related to anti-
corruption, such as the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China.
In addition, no large fines or sanctions have been reported for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2024.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

Hunan Westralian is striving to become a positive force in the communities
in which they operate, and has maintained close communication and
interaction with the community in order to contribute to community
development.

As a responsible enterprise, Hunan Westralian is committed to improving
its social image and social responsibility through community investment,
and also encourages all employees to take their own initiative to help and
support local communities and neighbours. During the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2024, Hunan Westralian made charitable donations
of approximately RMB350,000 to local primary schools, cooperatives
and other institutions for the purposes of education and promotion of
environmental protection, health and culture.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Qiu Zhenyi, aged 59, has joined the Company as an Executive Director
and the chairman of the Board and the Nomination Committee since
September 2021. Mr. Qiu has extensive senior management experiences
in corporate strategy formulation, development and management. Mr. Qiu
held a number of senior management positions in certain state-owned
enterprises and state-owned holding companies in Tianjin City, China for
over 36 years, including but not limited to the chairman of Tianjin JinLv
Haihe Cruises Co., Ltd. (a company listed on National Equities Exchange
and Quotations (stock code: 870350)) from 2019 to 2020. Mr. Qiu is
currently an executive deputy vice president and/or executive director of
certain private financial, energy and trading companies. Mr. Qiu obtained
a professional certificate in economics management from the Party School
of Tianjin Municipal Committee of the Communist Party of China in 2000
and a professional certificate of law theory for in-service graduate students
of the Party School of the Central Committee of Communist Party of China
in 2005. Mr. Qiu is also an accredited economist and an accredited senior
engineer.

Mr. Pan Feng, aged 46, has joined the Company as an Executive Director
since September 2021 and has also been appointed as vice president
of the Company since October 2021. Mr. Pan has extensive experiences
in sales management, investment promotion and business operation.
Mr. Pan served as the investment operation executive officer of Tianjin
Tianbao Infrastructure Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 00965) from 2011 to 2020. Mr. Pan obtained a
master degree in Business Administration from Tianjin University in 2014
and he is also an accredited economist.

Mr. Xie Qiangming, aged 32, has joined the Company since July
2018, Prior to his re-designation as an Executive Director, Mr. Xie was
an INED and a member of Audit Committee until September 2019.
Mr. Xie is currently also a member of the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee and an authorised representative of
the Company. Mr. Xie has extensive experience in corporate strategy
formulation and execution, capital markets, private equity investment
and investor relations. He worked for several well-known financial
institutions such as Kunwu Jiuding Investment Holdings Co., Ltd. and
ICBC International Holdings Limited and was responsible for providing
professional services to its clients such as corporate strategy formulation
and execution, merger and acquisition projects management, in charge
of private placements and fundraising projects. Mr. Xie has obtained a
master degree in finance from Tsinghua University PBC School of Finance
in 2016.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFEhREEBZBEFE

In addition to the above, Mr. Xie was an executive director of Prosperity
International Holdings (H.K.) Limited (“Prosperity”), a company
delisted from the main board of the Stock Exchange (former stock
code: 803) from July 2019 to June 2021. On 29 November 2019,
Prosperity filed a winding up petition with the Supreme Court of
Bermuda (“Bermuda Court”) and subsequently appointed joint and
several provisional liquidators to enable Prosperity to continue its orderly
financial restructuring with the assistance of the Bermuda Court.
On that date, creditors of Prosperity demanded repayment of debts
totaling approximately HK$1,472 million. According to the latest update
announcement of Prosperity dated 4 March 2021, the Bermuda Court
ordered, among others, that (1) the winding up petition be re-listed for
mention on 12 March 2021; and (2) the fees and expenses of the joint
and several provisional liquidators for the period 29 November 2019 to 31
December 2020 be approved in the sum of USD1,020,537. Reference
is made to the announcements of Prosperity dated 29 November 2019,
23 January 2020, 27 April 2020, 15 June 2020, 18 February 2021, 24
February 2021 and 4 March 2021. Prosperity was principally engaged
in (i) real estate investment and development; (ii) mining and trading of
iron ore and raw materials; and (iii) trading of clinker, cement and other
building materials.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Ng Ching, aged 33, has joined the Company as a NED since
November 2021. Ms. Ng has years of experience in equity investment
and securities industry. Ms. Ng is currently a financial analyst of Shenzhen
Jaguar Capital Management Co., Limited CRIIFH S EEREIEGES
fF£/23]) . Ms. Ng obtained a master's degree in financial economics from
University of St. Andrews, United Kingdom in 2013 and a master’s degree
in actuarial science from the Cass Business School of the City University of
London, United Kingdom in 2014.

Mr. Xu Huigiang, aged 62, has joined the Company as a NED Since
November 2022. Mr. Xu has extensive project and enterprise operation
and management experience in construction industry. Mr. Xu is currently
a senior management, consultant and controlling shareholder of number
of domestic and foreign companies. As at the date of this annual report,
Mr. Xu is deemed to be interested in a total of 315,291,852 ordinary
shares of the Company through his controlled companies Excellent Shine
Capital Limited, a British Virgin Islands company, and Zhongyingsheng
International Investment Management Co., Limited, a Hong Kong
company, representing a total of approximately 20.80% of the issued
shares of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca, aged 54, has join the Company as an INED and
the chairman of Audit Committee and member of Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee since August 2022. Dr. Liu possesses
experience in management, finance, investment, as well as accounting
and financial management. Dr. Liu has been appointed (i) as the chief
executive officer of AllPanther Asset Management Limited since January
2007; (ii) as an independent non-executive director of Logan Group
Company Limited (formerly known as Logan Property Holdings Company
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3380))
since November 2013; (iii) as an independent non-executive director of
SITC International Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1308)) since December 2020; (iv) as a
non-executive director and the vice chairman of the board of Culturecom
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
343)) since January 2023; (v) as an independent non-executive director
of Paradise Entertainment Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1180)) since March 2023 and (vi) by Fortune
(Shanghai) Limited since October 2013 and currently serves as a senior
vice president. Dr. Liu served as the general manager for the Asia and
China region of The PRG-Schultz International Inc., (a company listed on
NASDAQ) from June 1996 to March 2002. Dr. Liu is a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), lllinois CPA
Society of the United States (ICPAS) and Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (HKICPA). Dr. Liu obtained a double bachelor's
degree in Business Administrative Studies from York University, Canada
with major in management and in accounting (with honours) in 1992
and 1994, respectively. She also obtained a doctoral’s degree in business
administration from Victoria University of Switzerland in 2011. Dr. Liu is
also a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers, Association of
Women Accountants (Hong Kong) Limited, and Hong Kong Professionals
and Senior Executives Association. She was also a former member of the
Tenth and Eleventh Jilin Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. Tse Sze Pan, aged 43, joined the Company as an INED since
February 2022. Mr. Tse has extensive senior management experiences
in asset management and securities brokerage. Mr. Tse served as the
wealth management manager of The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited. He is currently the executive director, chief executive
officer and RO under the SFO to carry out Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated
activities in Target Capital Management Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Bison Finance Group Limited, a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 888)). Mr. Tse obtained an associate
degree in business from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2005
and a bachelor's degree in management from Heriot Watt University,
Scotland in 2006. Mr. Tse is also an accredited certified financial planner
and insurance intermediary.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFEhREEBZBEFE

Mr. Yang Jingang, aged 51, joined the Company as an INED and
a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee since February 2024. Mr. Yang is an experienced
Chinese lawyer practicing for over 15 years. Mr. Yang graduated from
Tianjin Normal University and later worked as a teacher. Mr. Yang obtained
a PRC legal vocational qualification in 2008 and started a career as a
lawyer. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in legal teaching and practicing
as a lawyer. Mr. Yang founded Tianjin Yuru Law Office (“Yuru Law Office”)
in 2014 and currently serves as a Chief Lawyer of Yuru Law Office.

Mr. Zhang Zhen, aged 39, joined the Company as an INED and the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee since February 2024. Mr. Zhang
is specialized in various areas of mechanical engineering, especially in
mechanical parts design, structural element diagram design and product
development with over 13 years of experience. Mr. Zhang obtained a
master degree in mechanical engineering from Beijing University of
Technology in 2010. Mr. Zhang has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company in respect of his appointment as an INED for a term of
one year starting from 5 February 2024.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Wang Wei Hsin, aged 58, has joined the Company as chief financial
officer in October 2021 and has been redesignated to business president
of the Company since November 2022. Dr. Wang has extensive
management experience in the financial services industry. Dr. Wang is an
independent non-executive director of Huscoke Holdings Limited since
December 2018 (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
704)), and he served as an executive director of South China Financial
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
619)) from March 2017 to October 2018, the chairman and chief
executive officer of SinoPac Securities (Asia) Limited from 2009 to 2016,
the chief investment officer of Japan CDW Group and the chief financial
officer of its Taiwan subsidiary, as well as co-founder of Yes-Asia.com and
played significant role in China Development Industrial Bank. Dr. Wang
obtained a PhD in Management Science (Financial Engineering) from
Imperial College London and researched artificial intelligence and financial
big data.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company acknowledges the need for and the importance of corporate
governance as one of the key elements in enhancing Shareholders’
value. The Company is committed to improving its corporate governance
practices in compliance with regulatory requirements and in accordance
with recommended practices. As at the date of this annual report, the
Company has adopted the CG Code to regulate the corporate governance
issues of the Group. The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance practices and has formed the opinion that the Company,
throughout the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report,
has complied with the Code Provisions as set out in the CG code except
for the following deviations:

Pursuant to the Code Provision C.5.3, at least 14 notice days should be
given of a regular Board meeting to all Directors. During the Reporting
Period, except for the 14-day notice period given to Directors for the semi-
annual and annual regular Board meetings, only short notices were given
to Directors for the unaudited second interim results of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the twelve months ended 31 December 2023 of
Board meetings, which all Directors considered acceptable. The Board will
consider and adjust the meeting notice period in due course.

Pursuant to the Code Provision D.1.2 (pre-amendment Code Provision
C.1.2), the Management should provide monthly updates to the Board to
enable the Board and each Director to discharge their duties. Although
the Management has provided the Board with monthly updates, there has
been a delay, which the Company considers acceptable. In addition, the
Company considers that providing such updates to the Board from time to
time rather than on a regular monthly basis is sufficient for the Board and
each Director to discharge their responsibilities. In the event there are any
significant updates to be provided, the Company will update the Board as
early as practicable for discussion and resolution.

Pursuant to the Code Provision D.1.3 (pre-amendment Code Provision
C.1.3), as set out in the 2022 Annual Report, the Auditor has issued a
Disclaimer of Opinion regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. However, the Group has taken and took certain measures
to improve the Group's working capital and cash flow position and mitigate
its liquidity pressure during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024. For
details, please refer to the section headed “EXTRACT OF INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT” for Material Uncertainty Related to the Going
Concern.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERWS

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
governing Director’s securities transactions. All Directors currently in the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that
they have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
throughout the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the overall Group’s businesses
and strategies, supervision of the Management and affairs as well as
monitoring of the overall operation and performance of the Group. The
Board has delegated to the CEO, together with which the Directors also
undertake, with the senior Management, the authority and responsibility
for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group. In addition,
the Board has established various committees and has delegated to these
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties and has formalised the inclusion of the following
corporate governance duties into the terms of reference of the Board:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior Management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report in the annual report
of the Company.
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During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report, the
composition of the Board is set out below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Qiu Zhenyi (Chairman)

Mr. Pan Feng

Mr. Xie Qiangming

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Ng Ching
Mr. Xu Huigiang

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca

Mr. Tse Sze Pan

Mr. Yang Jingang

Mr. Zhang Zhen

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

Changes to the information required to be disclosed by the Directors
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules during the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this annual report are set out
as follows:

Mr. Zhu Shengsheng has resigned as an executive director and the chief
executive officer with effect from 29 May 2023.

Mr. Chen Jian has resigned as an independent non-executive director and
Mr. Yang Jingang and Mr. Zhang Zhen had appointed as an independent
non-executive directors with effect from 5 February 2024.

Mr. Zhu Shengsheng and Mr. Chen Jian had no disagreement with the
Board and nothing relating to the affairs of the Company needed to be
brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Directors have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other. The biographical details of the Directors
are set out on pages 43 to 46 and whose respective interests in the
Company’s shares are set out on page 73 of this annual report.

The Company has received from each of the INEDs a written annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and is satisfied of their independence.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Apart from an induction provided to each newly appointed Director on the
first occasion of his/her appointment by the Company so as to ensure that
he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and operation of the
Group and that he/she is aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements, all Directors
are also encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. According to the records
maintained by the Company, the Directors received the following training
with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed
company in compliance with the new requirement of the CG Code on
continuous professional development during the Reporting Period:

ESFHBEEXYRE

BEMEEINEFHENEREZEHERA
BN ERENAEENEBLEFABEEN
B URHEAEA EHRAINREREERE T
R EREEIN FAT TR EREFS R
BEEER DULERERRENAHB KL
RIEA A BICERPAE EFNMSPEHERUT
NEEEEATRINMERTEEXERE
EMEELHMADESENAE BEKRBERH
20T

Activities

Name of Directors SRS JEE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Qiu Zhenyi ER¥RIR S B
Mr. Pan Feng EESTE B
Mr. Xie Qiangming EE:Ep e B
NED ERITES
Ms. Ng Ching S5t B
Mr. Xu Huigiang Fraast B&C
INEDs BIAFRTES
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca BREELT B&C
Mr. Tse Sze Pan Eik e e A&B&C
Mr. Yang Jingang Lk e B&C
Mr. Zhang Zhen SRIRSTE B&C
Notes: iz
A: as an attendee to seminars/conferences organised by the third parties A BB RRNEE S EXG T BEE
B: reading technical bulletins, periodicals and other publications on subjects relevantto  B: BEAERR LT ARNEENAG BEKBEZE

the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company BRI A S ~ BT R E M RRY
C: as an induction provided by the Company and a third party C: BHARBR—AE=FRIPFHIABNAE
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CHAIRMAN AND CEO

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Qiu Zhenyi and the Company is in
the process of identifying a suitable candidate to fill the vacancy of Chief
Executive Officer caused by the cessation of Mr. Zhu Shengsheng since
19 May 2023. The provisions of Chairman of the Board and CEO are held
by separate persons in order to preserve independence and a balance of
view and judgement.

With the support of the senior Management, the Chairman of the Board is
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate, complete and
reliable information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing on issues
arising at Board meetings. The CEO focuses on implementing objectives,
policies and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. The CEO
is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day management and operations.
The CEO is also responsible for developing strategic plans and formulating
the organizational structure, control systems and internal procedures and
processes for the Board’s approval.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with the articles 83(2) and (3) of the Articles of Association,
a person may be appointed as a member of the Board at any time either
by the Shareholders in a general meeting or by the Board in a Board
meeting. Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy must
retire at the first general meeting after his appointment or in the case of
additional Director, at the next annual general meeting and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

According to the article 84 of the Articles of Association, no less than one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation at
each AGM and shall be eligible for re-election. Any Director appointed by
the Board pursuant to article 83(3) of the Articles of Association shall not
be taken into account in determining the number of Directors who are to
retire by rotation at that next AGM.

According to the article 83(5) of the Articles of Association, the Company
may remove any Director by an ordinary resolution at a general meeting.

BOARD PRACTICES

Notice of regular Board meetings have been and will be dispatched to
all Directors at least 14 days before the meeting. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days (or any other agreed
date) before each regular Board meeting or committee meeting to keep
Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and
each Director also have separate and independent access to the senior
Management.

The senior Management, including CEO and Financial Controller, attend all
regular Board meetings and where necessary, other Board and committee
meetings, to advise on business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory and regulatory compliance, corporate governance and
other major aspects of the Company.

Draft minutes are normally circulated to the Directors for their comments
within a reasonable time after each meeting and final versions are open for
Directors’ inspection.

Directors are required to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the
qguorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or
any of their associates have a material interest.

The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings held during the
Reporting Period is set out as follows:

EFEXMHERMABEE B MAIFENEAR
BREFEERERNEETEHRELIR (N
ERHMBERF) I2REFFE  UHES
TRARBNRTERRMHNRN  LUEREF
HANBERE - EFEREEFIF AN Y ERER!
BUar RSREERE-

RTINS REERE IR TBRRE A M BHRE -
REHELHEFEERGH WV ERFHE
HthWSEFEREEG SR LA ARIERE
B-MHEREHFEE EAERGEEGR EEE
AREMEARBBRERR

SR RNS RN —REIERRE
NEEFERUREERER  MERR I HE
=B8R

ERREMAERIRSEAHREARERES
BRAEmPIRZHER ERNERE BAStAE
EARC

EENBSHBSTHNESE SR HELER
HHT

Attendance/Total
no. of meetings
held during the

Reporting Period

HEReER
R EEAR
217
Name of Directors HEHS BEEH
EDs WITES
Mr. Qiu Zhenyi ERHRER A4 31/31
Mr. Pan Feng AT E 30/31
Mr. Xie Qiangming HisREEE 21/31
Mr. Zhu Shengsheng (resigned on 19 May 2023) KEREL (R20234%58 190 B &) 9/10
NEDs EMITES
Ms. Ng Ching S5t 24/31
Mr. Xu Huigiang Sregoatt 30/31
INEDs BIERITES
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca BREE+ 21/31
Mr. Tse Sze Pan e 28/31
Mr. Yang Jingang (appointed on 5 February 2024) et (R2024FE285HEE(T) 3/3
Mr. Zhang Zhen (appointed on 5 February 2024) SRR (1R2024FE285H EE(E) 2/3
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
Company’s matters,
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information and other significant
financial and operational matters.

including the approval and monitoring of all

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations
are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the CEO and the senior management of the
Group.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 1 October 2013
with written terms of reference adopted on the same date and updated
on 30 January 2015. The primary function of the Nomination Committee
is to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive. As at the date of this
annual report, the Nomination Committee currently consists of five
members, comprising Mr. Qiu Zhenyi, Mr. Xie Qiangming, Dr. Liu Ka Ying
Rebecca, Mr. Yang Jingang and Mr. Zhang Zhen. Mr. Qiu Zhenyi is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee had
reviewed the size, structure and composition of the Board to complement
the Group's corporate strategy, and nominated candidates to fill the casual
vacancy arising from the resigning Director and made recommendation
to the Board in order to share part of the duties and responsibilities of the
Chairman of the Board.
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On 30 January 2015, the Board had adopted a board diversity policy
which aims to achieve the diversity of members of the Board to enhance
the effectiveness of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure
that the Board possesses diverse skills, experience and perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All Board
appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of
candidates of Board members will be based on diversity in their respective
background and experience, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon
the merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

As the main business of the Group is in the mining industry, the
proportion of male employees of the Group is relatively higher than that
of female employees. However, when recruiting staff, the Group mainly
considers factors such as the candidates’ ability, experience and required
remuneration packages, rather than their gender. During the Reporting
Period, the gender ratio in the workforce was approximately 96% male
and approximately 4% female.

The attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee at the
Nomination Committee meetings held during the Reporting Period is set
out as follows:

201561830 EFGERMNEFTEMES
TEHR > EEENEFEMESTERIENE
EEHHR - AATRAMIRANETEMEZ T
B2 - ER N ERES T ABZ TR
S ERARAFAETENGALDERR
R FFAEFEMENZEIRERTEENES
REZTERMm  MINEREEET RS
REARNESRENKEZ BNE RRERY
HOZ s SR E TR TR Fie - XXUE
RBEBR i (EEIEM) BAERAH
RRERENPIEEBREARSETITER
By RR Re B RATFLH ©

RSB T EXFHBIRIESE A EEY
SHETHHEEMSRNLIEE T BRERE
BREIR  T2EEHNTEER MerEE
BYBE ~ EEBRAIPR RN B ER R - RS
HARS > 580 /PRI R EE B2 B IS 4996% > 2
PE5%I4%

RPEZEGHENRSHERTHRREZES
GEMLEEESINT

Attendance/Total
no. of meetings
held during the

Reporting Period

HEeER

R S HAR

BTz

Name of Directors By BEREH
Mr. Qiu Zhenyi ERYRER 4 11
Mr. Xie Qiangming BB e 0/1
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca BREELT 11
Mr. Chen Jian (resigned on 5 February 2024) FRER T4 (12202428 5H BEFHE) 11
Mr. Tse Sze Pan SIS E 0/1
Mr. Yang Jingang (appointed on 5 February 2024) & e d (R2024F 2853 EHD) 0/0
Mr. Zhang Zhen (appointed on 5 February 2024) RIRA A (FR2024E2 850 EH(T) 0/0
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 27 June 2008
with written terms of reference adopted on the same date and updated
on 30 January 2015 and 1 January 2023. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are to review and approve the Management's
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objects and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of individual Executive Director and senior Management. As at
the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee currently
consists of four members, namely Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca, Mr. Yang
Jingang, Mr. Zhang Zhen and Mr. Xie Qiangming. Mr. Zhang Zhen is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the Directors’ fee (including
Executive Directors and INEDs) in consideration of the increasingly level
of duties and responsibilities of the Directors and the market condition
and approval of the remuneration incentive structure of the Group as a
whole taking consideration of factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and their responsibilities.

The attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee at the
Remuneration Committee meetings held during the Reporting Period is set
out as follows:
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Attendance/Total
no. of meetings
held during the

Reporting Period

e

¥R S HAR

5 '_2

Name of Directors Ry BEREH
Mr. Zhang Zhen (appointed on 5 February 2024) RIS (1R2024FE2B5H EZEE) 0/0
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca BxREET 171
Mr. Yang Jingang (appointed on 5 February 2024) &g (FR20245 2853 EHD) 0/0
Mr. Xie Qiangming HisRPAEE 0/1
Mr. Tse Sze Pan A& 0/1
Mr. Chen Jian (resigned on 5 February 2024) BREXS A4 (FR202445285H B &) 11
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REMUNERATION POLICY OF THE GROUP

The remuneration policy of the Group is designed to ensure that
remuneration offered to the Directors and/or employees is appropriate
for the respective duties performed, sufficiently compensate them for the
effort and time dedicated to the affairs of the Group, and is competitive
and effective in attracting, retaining and motivating employees. The key
components of the Company’s remuneration package include basic salary,
and where appropriate, other allowances, incentive bonus, mandatory
provident funds and share options granted (if any) under the share
option scheme of the Company. Details of the share option scheme of the
Company are set out on pages 70 to 72 of this annual report.

The emoluments payable to Directors are determined with reference to
the responsibilities, qualifications, experience, duties, performance of the
Directors, prevailing market conditions and remuneration benchmark
with directors of listed companies of similar size and industry nature.
They include incentive bonus primarily based on the results of the Group
and share options granted (if any) under the share option scheme of
the Company. The Remuneration Committee performs review on the
emoluments of the Directors from time to time. No Director, or any of his
associates or executive, is involved in deciding his own emoluments.

Employees’ remuneration packages are determined with reference to the
responsibilities, qualifications and experience, duties and performance
of individuals as well as prevailing market compensation packages. The
packages are reviewed annually and as required from time to time.

The Group will spend resources in training, retention and recruitment
programs, and encouraging staff for self-development and improvements.
The Group keeps monitoring and evaluating the performance of
managerial staff, aiming to achieve continuous improvements and
correction of deficiencies.

DIRECTORS’ AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

The Directors’ fees and remuneration and the emoluments of the five
highest paid individuals during the year are disclosed in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The contributions to pension scheme of Directors for the year are
disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee on 28 October 2000 with
written terms of reference adopted on the same date and updated on 30
January 2015. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board in providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the
financial reporting process (including half-yearly and annual results),
internal control and risk management systems, overseeing the audit
process and performing other duties and responsibilities as assigned
by the Board. As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
currently consists of three INEDs, namely Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca,
Mr. Yang Jingang and Mr. Zhang Zhen. Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

For the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee discussed with the senior
Management the internal controls, risk management and financial
reporting matters, and reviewed the accounting principles, policies and
practices adopted by the Group and the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control system.

The attendance of the members of the Audit Committee at the Audit
Committee meetings held during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:
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Attendance/Total
no. of meetings
held during the

Reporting Period

HERRER
R & EAR
217
Name of Directors EEHA BERAEH
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca BxREE T 6/6
Mr. Tse Sze Pan HIR A 3/3
Mr. Chen Jian (resigned on 5 February 2024) FRER L4 (FR2024FE285H B FHE) 3/3
Mr. Zhang Zhen (appointed on 5 February 2024) SRR L (FR2024FE25HEEH(T) 3/3
Mr. Yang Jingang (appointed on 5 February 2024) &g (FR20245 2853 EHD) 3/3

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the annual
consolidated financial statements of the Company which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs, results and cash flows of the Group for the
Reporting Period.
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The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The Management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s consolidated financial statements which are
put to the Board for approval.

Material Uncertainty Related to the Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2024 have been prepared assuming that
the Group will continue as a going concern. We draw attention to note
2 to the consolidated financial statements which mentions that the
Group incurred a loss attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$53,018,000 for the fifteen months ended 31 March
2024, and as at the same date, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$140,808,000. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. As explained in the consolidated
financial statements, these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis. The directors of the Company, having
considered the measures being taken by the Group, are of the opinion
that the Group would be able to continue as a going concern. Our audit
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the Opinion of Material
Uncertainty Related to the Going Concern, the Management's position
concerning the Opinion and measures taken by the Group for addressing
the Opinion. The Audit Committee agreed with the Management's position
based on the reasons as stated herein. Moreover, the Audit Committee
requested the Management to take all necessary actions to address the
impact of the Opinion and to strive that such situation leading to the
Opinion would not happen or be improved in the coming future. The Audit
Committee had also discussed with the Auditor regarding the financial
position of the Group, measures taken and to be taken by the Group, and
considered the Auditor’s rationale and understood their consideration in
arriving their opinion.

The annual results of the Group for the Reporting Period have also been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board and the Audit Committee acknowledge that its responsibility for
overseeing the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness at least annually. The Group emphasises
the importance of sound risk management and internal control systems
which are indispensable for mitigating the Group’s key risk exposures. The
Group’s risk management and internal control systems include a defined
management structure with limits of authority, and are designed for the
Group to identify and manage the significant risks to achieve its business
objectives. The systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems and
in the achievement of the Group’s business objectives.

For risk management, the Group has adopted a three lines of defense
model to identify, assess and manage different types of risks. The Group
is committed to the identification, evaluation, and management of risks
associated with its business activities through ongoing assessment of a
risk register, by considering the likelihood and impact of each identified
risk. For any newly identified significant risks, the Group will evaluate its
financial or operational impacts to the Group and adopt ongoing mitigating
measures to manage such risks. The major risks of the Group are
disclosed in the subsection headed “RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES” in the
section headed “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS”.

The Group has developed an internal control system, which covers major
financial, operational and compliance controls to safeguard its assets
against unauthorised use, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records and ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
internal control system is reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Board and
Audit Committee annually. For any identified internal control weaknesses
or defects, the Group will enhance control measures to rectify such control
weaknesses or defects.

The Board and the Audit Committee have conducted an annual review for
the need of internal audit function and has also reviewed annually for the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience, training and budget
of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.
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The Company has engaged an Internal Control Consultant to conduct
independent review on the internal control systems of the Group. Internal
control review report were submitted to and approved by the Board and
the Audit Committee. For the principal risks faced by the Group, the
Management has developed ongoing mitigating measures to manage
such risks. For control weaknesses identified by the Internal Control
Consultant, the Group has adopted enhanced control measures to rectify
relevant control weaknesses. The abovementioned annual review covered
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions of the Group. The Board considered that
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group were
effective during the Reporting Period. The improvement of the systems
of risk management and internal control is an ongoing process and the
Board maintains a continuing commitment to strengthen the Group’s
environment control and processes.

The details of measures and/or improvements that have been/will be made
by the Company to prevent re-occurrence of a delay in results publication
in future shown as below:

- The Company shall review its audit planning process, particularly if
there are material transactions/changes (including but not limited
to acquisitions and disposal of assets) during the relevant financial
year and improve on the frequency and quality of communications
between the Company and the auditors, especially on agreeing on
the audit approach and methodologies to avoid any potential delay
for the Company or its staff in providing the supporting documents
required and to facilitate a realistic and achievable overall audit
timetable to be established;

- The Company shall in the future designate a senior professional
accounting staff involved in coordinating the audit process
with the auditor, to monitor any material transactions/changes
that has taken place during the financial year and prepare a
written summary/report to the head of the accounting/financial
department whenever potential audit issues arises from such
transactions/changes which would affect the agreed audit
timetable and/or financial reporting. Upon completing the
review of the summary/report, the head of accounting/financial
department shall determine whether the identified potential audit
issues are material to the audit process, and if so, escalate to
the audit committee as early as practicable in order to keep the
audit committee informed of the latest updates and allow the
audit committee to have sufficient oversight throughout the entire
financial reporting process;
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- Facilitate early communications with the banks and other financial
institutions during the initial stages of the audit process to ensure
timely receipt of the external audit confirmation letters by the
auditors; and

- Prepare the information and documents required for the valuation
report in advance in the future, and communicate the required
procedures with the auditor in advance and determine an
appropriate timetable to ensure that the valuation report can be
completed on time.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy (“Dividend Policy”) with

effect form 1 January 2019. The Board will consider the following factors
before declaring or recommending dividends:

the Company’s operational results;

the Company’s cash flow situation;

the Company’s financial conditions;
shareholders’ interests;

general business conditions and strategies;

the Company’s capital expenditure requirements;
past dividend payout ratio/trends;

statutory and regulatory restrictions;

payment by the Company’s subsidiaries of cash dividends to the
Company; and

other factors the Board may deem relevant.

Such declaration and payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Laws of the Cayman
Islands, any applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles of
Association of the Company.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and may
exercise at its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group has put in place the procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The Group discloses
inside information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless
the information falls within any of the safe harbours as stated in the
SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes
that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements or circulars are not false
or misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the
omission of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear
and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and
negative facts.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

On 22 April 2024, Confucius International CPA Limited was appointed as
the Company’s independent external auditor.

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the remuneration paid/
payable by the Company to Confucius International CPA Limited in relation
to audit and non-audit services were as follows:

———— g
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HK$
BT
Audit services BEIZIRTS 900,000
Non-audit services IFBZART
— Services in relation to agreed-upon procedure on the — RN EE2023546530H L/ E B K&
consolidated financial statements for the six months ZF2023F12B31H L+ BB 246
ended 30 June 2023 and the twelve months ended 31 MRz BERF 2R
December 2023 160,000
— Services in relation to act as Reporting Accountants — AR ERERRELEBRRARZ
in connection with the very substantial disposal in FEEEARHEZEETRRIIN
connection with the proposed deemed disposal of target ARFS
company 170,000
— Services in relation to review of historical financial —RMEZREFLEERRATEREE
information in relation to the proposed deemed disposal of S BAFEE K 2 ARFS
target company 130,000
Total “aza 1,360,000
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The statement of the auditor of the Company regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 78 to 84.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

The Articles of Association was adopted by the Shareholders on 22
February 2016 for housekeeping purpose and for the purpose of
conforming with certain amendments to the Listing Rules which had
become effective since the last amendment of the Articles of Association.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
also recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure
of corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and investors
to make the best investment decisions. The general meetings of the
Company provide a forum for face-to-face communication between the
Board and the Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as
chairmen of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Audit Committee or, in their absence, other members of the respective
committees and, where applicable, the chairman of the independent
Board committee, are available to answer questions at Shareholder’s
meetings.

To facilitate effective communication, the Company publishes the up-to-
date information and updates on the Company's business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information on its website for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at the general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at the general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules, and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general
meeting.
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The procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM are governed
by article 58 of the Articles of Association. A written requisition must
be addressed to the Board or the Company Secretary. On the written
requisition of Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of such of the
paid-up share capital of the Company as at the date of lodgment of the
requisition, and the Board must proceed duly to convene an EGM.

The written requisition must state the objectives (which must be
capable of being effectively achieved) of the meeting, be signed by the
Shareholders who propose to convene the meeting, and be lodged at
the registered office of the Company. The Board must thereafter within
21 days from the lodgment of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting for a day not more than 2 months after the date on which the
notice convening the meeting is given.

Whilst giving the above written requisition, Shareholders are
recommended to provide written explanation of the reasons and material
implications relating to the proposed resolution to enable all of the
Shareholders to properly consider and determine the proposed resolution.

The Company will, upon receipt of a properly lodged requisition referred
to above, issue a notice of EGM of the proposed resolutions and (if
applicable) circulars containing further information relating to the
proposed resolution in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries to the Board could
send their enquiries to the Company’s head office and principal place of
business in Hong Kong or by email to contact@rasr.com.hk.

Shareholders can contact Tricor Tengis Limited, the Company's branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries
about their shareholdings and entitlements to dividend.

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Sun Shui, who had been the company secretary of the Company,
resigned from the position on 3 May 2023. Mr. Yuen Kwok Kuen (“Mr.
Yuen”) was appointed as the company secretary of the Company to fill
the vacancy on 10 May 2023. Afterwards, Mr. Lam Koon Fai has been
appointed as the joint company secretary of the Company with effect from
18 May 2023 to act jointly with Mr. Yuen who has been the company
secretary of the Company since 10 May 2023. Both of them have
complied with the relevant professional training requirement for company
secretary under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

RENAISSANCE ASIA SILK ROAD GROUP LIMITED
BRI ERBIRAE

RRARARABDRRFIAENEFZERS
2R EoSRRIR - EMERNAERTEFE
WRBEME -RERNFEEAERZBRFAES
DRERBDEFRE+D— MEFSELIE
B ARRERRRIAE -

BEREEERNARPERRASHNEN WIHE
ENER)  HIRRARERNRREZRIERS
AABEMNER EFTHEBLAREREE
REQIHNERBREH MBTERAHRIE
ERSHARERENEBEs2ERR -

RH P EEERE  BERRIEHFTIR 2 RE
ZEAVERIEH REXRENSEARRE  FFER
RAEZREEREEPMRESE

BORESE

KATPIZE LM IERIERXNERE 5181
FRAIEE IR S \u&%mﬁy%%}“ﬂﬁ@ﬁ
GNER) SERERZERE—TERNNE

RERUIAMmEE SR MR AR EREER A
NE)NERERE BB TEESEME NEHE
contact@rasr.com.hk ©

SNRR R HL R 1 R P AR B RO R B R AT %
Bl A BB A A RN EBHNRNECKBF DR
SEERFARATC

ERABIMENENEE

KAB)REIMERIHL TH20235F5 83 EHE
FrEfE A (ThrstsEy) 1202358 10H #E T
BERNBZ ABIMELUARZETR  Hig > MaiE
TEESEARABBEATWE » B2023F5
B18HATEAERY - LB F2023FE58 10H fE#(EAR
NEVARIMEB Tt E R TR M BB
FTHRRIE3 29 B R A A M EIIER S
FHiE



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Reporting
Period.

COMPANY INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability.
The registered office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business is located at Room 1208, 12/F., West Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company, through
its major subsidiaries, is principally engaged in:

(i) Mining products segment — engaged in gold mining, exploration
and trading of gold products; and

(i) Trading and wholesale segment — engaged in trading of non-
ferrous metal and wholesale and trading of frozen meat and
agriculture products.

The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

An analysis of the performance of the Group for the Reporting Period
by operating segments is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statement of this annual report and detailed management discussion and
analysis is set out on pages 8 to 15 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Reporting Period is set out in the
section headed “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” on pages
810 9 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND RESERVES

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on pages 85 to 86 of this annual report.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 89 of this annual report.
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Under the Companies Law, share premium of the Company is available
for distributions or paying dividends to the Shareholders subject to the
provisions of the Articles of Association and a statutory solvency test. In
accordance with the article 134 of the Articles of Association, dividends
may be declared and paid out of the profits of the Company or from any
reserve set aside from profits which the Directors determine is no longer
needed. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution, dividends may also be
declared or paid out of share premium account. As at 31 March 2024, the
Company has no reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders (31
December 2022: nil).

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period (Year ended 31 December 2022: nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group made charitable and other donations amounted to
RMB350,000 for the Reporting Period (Year ended 31 December 2022:
nil).

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 199 to 200 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group's five largest suppliers accounted
for 48.55% of the Group'’s total purchases, and the purchase from the
Group’s largest supplier included therein accounted for 19.63% of the
total purchase for the year.

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s sales to its five largest customers
accounted for 79.68% of the Group’s total sales, and the sales to the
largest customer included therein accounted for 53.55% of the total sales
for the year.

None of the Directors, any of their associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
top five largest customers and suppliers.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2024, the authorised share capital of the Company was
HK$250,000,000, divided into 25,000,000,000 Shares of HK$0.01 each,
of which 2,112,625,443 Shares were issued and fully paid up or credited
as fully paid up in the amount of HK$21,126,254.43. Details of movement
in the share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

BORROWINGS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The total borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$186,889,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$315,763,000). Particulars of borrowings and other borrowings are
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report
were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Qiu Zhenyi (Chairman)

Mr. Pan Feng

Mr. Xie Qiangming

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Ng Ching
Mr. Xu Huigiang

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca

Mr. Tse Sze Pan

Mr. Yang Jingang (appointed on 5 February 2024)

Mr. Zhang Zhen (appointed on 5 February 2024)

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Yang
Jingang and Mr. Zhang Zhen, shall retire from office at the first general
meeting of the Company after their appointments and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election as Directors.
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In accordance with article 84 of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors from the time being (or, if
their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years. Any
Director appointed by the Board pursuant to article 83(3) shall not take
into account in determining which particular Directors or the number of
Directors who are to retire by rotation. The retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Xie Qiangming, Ms. Ng Ching and Mr. Tse
Sze Pan will retire at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election as Directors.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are set out
on pages 43 to 46 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the current INEDs has confirmed their independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs to
be independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

Changes to the information required to be disclosed by the Directors
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules during the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this annual report are set out
as follows:

Mr. Zhu Shengsheng has resigned as an executive director and the chief
executive officer with effect from 29 May 2023.

Mr. Chen Jian has resigned as an independent non-executive director and
Mr. Yang Jingang and Mr. Zhang Zhen had appointed as an independent
non-executive directors with effect from 5 February 2024.

Mr. Zhu Shengsheng and Mr. Chen Jian had no disagreement with the
Board and nothing relating to the affairs of the Company needed to be
brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
services contract with the Company which exceeds three years and is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

According to the respective service contracts of the three Executive
Directors, the term of Mr. Xie Qiangming will expire on 29 September
2024, and the terms of Mr. Pan Feng and Mr. Qiu Zhenyi, will expire on 1
September 2024.

According to the respective appointment letters of the two NEDs, the term
of Ms. Ng Ching will expire on 14 November 2024 and the terms of Mr. Xu
Huigiang will expire on 27 November 2024.

According to the respective appointment letters of the four INEDs, the
term of Mr. Yang Jingang and Mr. Zhang Zhen will expire on 4 February
2025, the terms of Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca will expire on 2 August 2024,
and the terms of Mr. Tse Sze Pan will expire on 3 February 2025.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of
this report, the directors are indemnified out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur or sustain
by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices.
The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and directors of the
subsidiaries of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section head “Connected Transactions
and Related Party Transactions” below and notes 27 and 39 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the
Reporting Period.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGHRS

EERBEOREES

B RERRBEFASEEEINESHER
KRB UBB=FARRTR—FRFTHR
T EE CREEREN BRTIRLENRSS
%o

RIE=2ATEFSBERRB A S8Rk E
BOFEERHE 1202489 5 29 R & i > T B MR e A e
ERHRER ST E RS R 20246F0 5 1 H f& i ©

BEMLIFRTEERBNERSE RELEHN
R 2024 11 B 148 @i > T &8s £
EERRC 2024411 27 B @ o

RIENRBUIFRTESEBNERSE 152
FeiE R RS EE RVERRR 1 20255 2 F4H fE@ i »
B REE LRI 2024F8 A2/ > THitL
SRS A OEERHE 7R 2025525 30 @i

EESFRERX

BE2024F3A31 R+ RER REEARKREH
b MEEARNTHREBBZHENRTERE
S EIEARRE > R RART L s EEZEETTH
A ERMEG SR SEBR K Z AR A
B BR BERASD AIRERRSFEA—
BHEBBFRABRZEERSNTERERRH
MR- ANBEBETEFESEERRE BE
ERFAEENB AR ERRHBEERE

EFENEARS -ZHAEN
ZHEm

SRR T X RERZ REEALR S —8BIRAE
FIRAT AR TEIRRMEE27 K39 P B & o » 18R
B RAAEREBARENREHABANER
RREPAER MESNRHBRIENERER
WEIERR EANEDNEARS  LHFGHT -

Annual Report 2023/24 69

B = ASPEER



70

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGRS

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS'’ INTERESTS IN A

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date
of this report, the Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors, are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the
management of the Company and their respective close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) that compete or may compete with the
business of the Group and any other conflict of interest which any such
person had or might have with the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Reporting Period.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Directors’ Interests
in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts of Significance” above and
notes 27 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report, no other connected transaction nor related party transaction of the
Company has been carried out during the Reporting Period.

In relation to the loans and transactions disclosed under notes 27 and 39
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report, the loans
and transactions are fully exempted connected transactions under Rule
14A.90 of the Listing Rules as they are conducted on normal commercial
terms and are unsecured by the assets of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme which was approved by
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 22 February
2016.

The exercise period of the share options is determined by the Board,
which are entitled to make any offer to any eligible participant within the
10 years period starting from 22 February 2016, they may determine the
number of underlying shares, the subscription price and the expiration day
in full discretion.
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The goal of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
share options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group, thereby linking their interests with that of the
Group. The eligible participants include any employee, advisor, consultant,
service provider, agent, customer, partner or joint-venture partner of the
Company or any subsidiary (including any director of the Company or any
subsidiary).

The total number of shares the Company may issue upon exercise of
the option granted to each participant in any 12-month period under
the Share Option Scheme is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company
issued. Any further grant of share options exceeding this limit is subject to
Shareholders” approval in a general meeting.

Under the Share Option Scheme, any share options granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their respective associates, is subject to INEDs" approval. In the cases
where share options are granted to a substantial shareholder or an INED,
(i) if the total number of Shares granted exceeds 0.1% of the issued
Shares, or (ii) if the aggregated value (based on the closing price at the
date of grant) is over HK$5 million within the 12-month period, the grant is
subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options shall deem to be accepted when the
offer letter is duly signed by the grantee and the nominal consideration for
the grant of HK$1 is received by the Company within 21 days from the
date of the offer.

The exercise price of the share option is determined by the Board, but
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of Stock Exchange on the
date of the offer of the grant, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of the offer of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares.
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Details of movement of the share options during the Reporting Period as

BRIENRSHBNEEFRLT -

follows:
Closing
price of the
Company’s
shares Number of share options
immediately WBREHE
before the
grant date
ZHER As at As at
Grant Exercise  Exercisable HER  1/1/2023 31/3/2024
date price  period FATRD  HR2023F Granted  Exercised®  Lapsed  Cancelled 20244
BHAMH TfEE  TES W & 1818 BRE  BTR? BEH B 3831H
(HK$) (HK$)
(&) (&)
Mr. Qiu Zhenyi (Executive Director) 16/9/2021 0.284 15/11/2021- 0.280 15,150,000 = - (15,150,000) = =
MIRREE EITES) 15/09/2023
Mr. Zhu Shengsheng 16/9/2021 0.284 15/11/2021- 0.280 15,150,000 - - - (15,150,000) S
(Executive Director) (resigned with 15/09/2023
effect from 19 May 2023)
ARBREE
#ITES) (122023558190
B
Mr. Pan Feng (Executive Director) 16/9/2021 0.284 15/11/2021- 0.280 15,150,000 = - (15,150,000) = =
EELE MITES) 15/09/2023
Continuous contract employees 16/9/2021 0.284 15/11/2021- 0.280 29,000,000 - - - (29,000,000) S
REANES 15/09/2023
Consultant® 16/9/2021 0.284 15/11/2021- 0.280 13,274,887 = - (13,274,887) = =
=R 15/09/2023
Notes: Mt -

1)

The share options were granted to a consultant, Upgain Management Limited, in

recognition of its past and/or future contributions and services provided to and/or to

be provided to the Group.

2)

No share option was exercised during the Reporting Period, therefore, the weighted

average closing price of the relevant Shares immediately before the dates on which

the options were exercised was zero.

On the basis of 2,112,625,443 issued Shares as at 31 March 2024 and
no further Shares has been issued or repurchased by the Company before
the annual general meeting, the maximum number of shares options that
can be granted under the refreshed mandate limit of the Share Option
Scheme is 87,724,887 Shares, representing 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the refreshment date of 28 June 2016 and
the date of this report, such limit does not exceed the 30% limit stipulated
under Note (2) to rule 17.03(3) of the Listing Rules. As at 31 March 2024,
there was no option outstanding under the Share Option Scheme and
there was no option granted after the Reporting Period.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Brief summary of the remuneration policy of the Group is set out in page
56 of this annual report. Details of the Directors’ fee and remuneration
of the Directors and the emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

PENSION SCHEMES

Details of the pension schemes are set out in notes 4 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company or their associates had any interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
are required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) pursuant to the Model
Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange:
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Number of
Shares/ Approximate
Underlying percentage of
Name of Directors Capacity Shares shareholding
B&1n, 1BE4Y
EEMY 519 MRS #E HEES
Mr. Xu Huigiang Interest of controlled corporation 303,237,376 14.35%
B e REGEE R
Note: Bysz
1. Mr. Xu Huigian through his 100% controlled Hong Kong company, Zhongyingsheng 1. FERAEBBHEIOREFINEBABDPRERE

International Investment Management Co. Limited, holds 60,000,000 Shares, and
through his 50% controlled British Virgin Islands company Excellent Shine Capital
Limited, holds 243,237,376 Shares.

242 & B IR A R A 5135 560,000,0008% B9 » 1055
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Capital Limited# 75243,237,376R2 8315 ©
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the Reporting Period was the Company, any of its subsidiaries, its
holding company or a subsidiary of its holding company a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate, and neither the Directors nor the chief executive (including their
spouse and children under 18 years of age) had an interest in, or been
granted any rights to subscribe for the securities of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO), or had exercised
any such right.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 March 2024, to the best knowledge of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company, no person (other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company, as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

EFWBRONBEFTZEF

BRAFERFTIREE SN IR S B E AR
FTREHEAMEAT  RERATHERA
SN EB ARSI E LR ZH REEESE
BUWBELBDRERAEMEE Z RO WESFM
Em REERTBTHAE BREREZRRB
KRS F ) BHRAA AT R HERK AR

(E&REFKIERD) R HEA R
i TR R T TR E R R SR A RERE SR
e

FERRRROZED

PR PTIREEE SN 1R2024F3831H » EEW
FRBEBTHAEMA BEAL (FEFN
KRB EBITHABIN REARREES R
B 155 FE3B6IFRRENECMATC SR A R TR
PEAERER D PR KA -

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares shareholding
BRR%TE 13 R BAKEaSL
Excellent Shine Capital Limited (note 1) Beneficial owner 243,237,376 11.51%
Excellent Shine Capital Limited (475%1) BmERA
Ms. Wang Huimin (note 1) Interest of controlled company 243,237,376 11.51%
FEHLL W) REHEE S
Mr. Xu Huigiang (note 1 & 2) Interest of controlled company 303,237,376 14.35%
SFERSkE (WatlR2) REHEE S
Reconstruction Capital Group Limited (note 3) Beneficial owner 357,213,789 16.91%
Reconstruction Capital Group Limited (#73%3) BREAA
Ms. Sun Guiling (note 3) Interest of controlled company 357,213,789 1691%
BER L L (1323) REHEE S
Mr. Wang Song (note 3) Interest of controlled company 357,213,789 16.90%
EERE WE3) RAEHEE S
Everbright Fortune Company Limited (note 4) Beneficial owner 299,394,174 14.17%
Everbright Fortune Company Limited (#7#524) BREAA
Ms. Wang Yajun (note 4) Interest of controlled company and 389,394,174 18.43%

beneficial owner

FHEL L (Hzz4)
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Notes:

1. Excellent Shine Capital Limited, is a company directly held 50% by Ms. Wang Huimin
and 50% by Mr. Xu Huigiang, therefore, they are deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Excellent Shine Capital Limited is interested in.

2. Mr. Xu Huigiang through his 100% controlled Hong Kong company, Zhongyingsheng
International Investment Management Co. Limited, holds 60,000,000 Shares, and
through his 50% controlled British Virgin Islands company Excellent Shine Capital
Limited, holds 243,237,376 Shares.

13 Reconstruction Capital Group Limited is a company directly held 50% by Ms. Sun
Guiling and 50% by Mr. Wang Song, therefore they are deemed to be interested in
the Shares in which Reconstruction Capital Group Limited is interested in.

4. To the best knowledge of the Directors, Everbright Fortune Company Limited is

beneficially owned by Ms. Wang Yajun (Ms. Wang) and Ms. Wang holds 90,000,000
shares by herself additionally.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Law, which would oblige the Company to
offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective associates had, either directly
or indirectly, an interest in a business which causes or may cause any
significant competition with the businesses of the Group during the
Reporting Period.

REVIEW OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the Management and the Auditor,
the accounting principles and policies as adopted by the Company, the
practices of the Group and the audited consolidated financial statements
for the Reporting Period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 47 to 64 of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 30 January 2024, the Company and the subscribers entered into
the Subscription Agreements and allotment of 800,000,000 shares to
subscribers at the subscription price of HK$0.028 per share under the
specific mandate. The Subscription Shares represent approximately (i)
37.9% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report; and (ii) 27.5% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the Subscription Shares. The completion took place on 19
April 2024.

On 8 February 2024, Hunan Westralian (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company) entered into the Capitalisation Agreement with the Investor,
pursuant to which the Investor agreed to make a capital contribution of
RMB81.9 million (equivalent to approximately US$11.4 million) by way
of a debt-to-equity swap with RMB81.9 million of the Investor’s creditor’s
rights over Hunan Westralian. Upon the completion, the registered capital
of Hunan Westralian will increase from approximately US$36.9 million
to approximately US$48.3 million. Immediately after the completion,
Hunan Westralian will be owned as to approximately 31.3% by Westralian
Resources (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), approximately
23.6% by the Investor, approximately 17.8% by Mr. Cai Shuo,
approximately 15.0% by Mr. Wu Qingchao and approximately 12.3% by
Mr. Cai Pu. Accordingly, the Group’s equity interest in Hunan Westralian
will be diluted from approximately 41.0% to approximately 31.3% as a
result of the capitalisation. The deemed disposal became effective on 16
April 2024.

On 10 May 2024, the Board proposes to implement the Share
Consolidation on the basis that every five (5) issued and unissued Shares
of par value of HK$0.01 each be consolidated into one (1) Consolidated
Share of HK$0.05 each. The completion took place on 3 June 2024.

In July 2024, the Company received a writ of summons issued by the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region by a lender in
relation to borrowing as plaintiff. The plaintiff claims against the Company
for the outstanding principal and interest payables. Up to the date of
this report, the Company is actively communicating with the plaintiff and
seeking various ways to resolve this litigation. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the litigation on its operating performance, cash
flow and financial condition.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is sufficient
public float of at least 25% of the Company's issued share capital
throughout the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (“ZHONGHUI ANDA”) has resigned
as the auditor of the Company with effect from 28 March 2024 as the
Company and ZHONGHUI ANDA were unable to reach a consensus on
the audit fee for the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the fifteen months ending 31 March 2024 (the “2024 Audit”)
and published the announcement on 28 March 2024.

The Board considered the recommendation of the Audit Committee, it
has resolved to appoint Confucius International CPA Limited (“Confucius”)
as the new auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of ZHONGHUI ANDA with effect from 22 April 2024.
Confucius shall hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company. Confucius shall retire in the forthcoming AGM
and, being eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Confucius as the auditor of the Group will be proposed
at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Qiu Zhenyi

Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 26 July 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
VR 3 S Gl

Lan-crma
=—— ARER TN FEBHAARSTS

Confucius International CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RENAISSANCE ASIA SILK ROAD
GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Renaissance
Asia Silk Road Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 85 to 198,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the fifteen months ended 31
March 2024, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

RENAISSANCE ASIA SILK ROAD GROUP LIMITED
BRI ERBIRAE

BT L HCEI8IRAB AMEL501-08F
Rooms 1501-08,15th Floor, Tai Yau Building,
181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
#:E Tel: (852) 3103 6980

{#E Fax: (852) 3104 0170
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

The accompanying consolidated financial statements for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2024 have been prepared assuming that the
Group will continue as a going concern. We draw attention to note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements which mentions that the Group
incurred a loss attributable to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$53,018,000 for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, and as
at the same date, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$140,808,000. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. As explained in the consolidated financial
statements, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis. The Directors, having considered the measures
being taken by the Group, are of the opinion that the Group would be
able to continue as a going concern. Our audit opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZHENR S

KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

Key audit matter

HEEZEE

FAREZEIE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRAINBERNARERREZER

Property, plant and equipment and mining rights
W R R &t LA R SR B

Refer to Notes 19 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements

RRE MR RMEE19K%2]1

The Group tested the amounts of property, plant and
equipment and mining rights for impairment. These
impairment tests are significant to our audit because the
balances of property, plant and equipment and mining rights
of HK$111,722,000 and HK$73,993,000 respectively as
at 31 March 2024 are material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment tests involve
application of judgement and are based on assumptions and
estimates.
?’t%le AR E BB RREUSRKEENBRES
cZEREMNAEEMNEZEMEE  ARWE-
F“)%E’z % U IR IE R TS 2024 3 A31 B VSR D A &
111,722,0007% 75 573,993,000 7T » &% F BB H xS 1
BRRMEBREKR SN SEBIVBENZE S KE
FRFIER W E MR R Re (5t o

We consider that the Group’s impairment tests for property,
plant and equipment and mining rights are supported by the
available evidence.

HPIERR BEEEBYE BB RREURFREEIRE

A ETRRESF

80 RENAISSANCE ASIA SILK ROAD GROUP LIMITED

BEDMNMEERBRAR

QOur audit procedures included, among others:
HMNEZEFEE EPEE

Assessing the identification of the related cash
generating units;
LB RIIREEL B HA

Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the fair value less
costs of disposal calculations;

SHEARERHERASTENERERNK ;

Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuer engaged by client;

sHEE P PRI ERMBYAE ) ~ I M s 5

Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting
with the external valuer to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market
evidence to support significant judgments and
assumptions applied in the valuation model; and
EEINER (L E IR S I RN BN & E > LG
HEEBR -PMARERTHEFERLER  UX
BERANEERE ZEBAFE RS ; &

Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidence. We consider
that the Group’s impairment tests for property, plant
and equipment and mining rights are supported by the
available evidence.
ﬁﬁtﬁﬁtﬁ PN EXRBRRAABBENZFR
FoHMRAR BEBEHYZEKEAFEURE
EJ;%t&E’\J,JEJME/EUaﬁ%EJ SRR



OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor who expressed a
disclaimer of opinion on those statements on 31 March 2023.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company's annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed term of this engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence, that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

82 RENAISSANCE ASIA SILK ROAD GROUP LIMITED
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZHENR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, action taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that are of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Confucius International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ho Pak Tat

Practising Certificate Number: P0O5215
Hong Kong

26 July 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
nJr EJ ;ﬂ JEZ fﬂlé%;ﬁﬁﬁuﬁz %%%

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{ZE2024%F3831H1t+H @A

Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
HE qHE
20245 20224
3H31H 12H31H
IE+HER IEEE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
g3 FAET TFAET
Continuing operations FEREET
Revenue W 9 374,146 207,435
Cost of sales HERAE (343,250) (137,343)
Gross profit EF 30,896 70,092
Other income HAM A 10 18,458 296
Administrative expenses THRX (69,204) (48,538)
Other gains and losses Hhm & E518 11 (31,974) (31,171)
Loss from operations gy o] (51,824) (9,321)
Finance costs rﬁéﬁiﬁ 12 (41,235) (51,221)
Loss before tax PRI AIES1E (93,059) (60,542)
Taxation g 13 1,623 (1,609)
Loss for the period/year from continuing 2R B {5 4E &S 2 FEA0HE,
operations FAEE (91,436) (62,151)
Discontinued operation JEFF B E TS
Profit for the period/year from REFFELEETD
discontinued operation A E AR 14 = 259
Loss for the period/year H, ERNEE 15 (91,436) (61,892)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: Ht2E Bi%) Uk :
ltems that will not be reclassified to FE B EERmbES
profit or loss:
Fair value changes of equity investments at 22 7 & st A EHfh 2 E S
fair value through other comprehensive (FAnEFAEMEmE
income (“FVTOCI”), net W) BIRIERER
NREEE FE 395 (12,691)
Deferred tax effect arising on fair value BAanEs AEMEEREDN
change of equity investments at FVTOCI ~ RIERENAABEFEED
IEIEIR TS S & (101) (831)
ltem that may be reclassified to BB EEIRmAVIER
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating HEBIINERELNEREEE
foreign operations (2,797) (9,882)
Other comprehensive expense B/ EREMEERES
for the period/year, net of tax NpRIRIE (2,503) (23,404)
Total comprehensive expense for the H FREEASZAEEE
period/year (93,939) (85,296)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

rEBRmRkEMEENR TR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
HE qHE
20244 20224
3H31H 12H31H
IE+HER IEEE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FAET FAET
(Loss)/profit for the period/year THIREGERFA
attributable to: (§548) i@# -
Owners of the Company KABIEB A
— Continuing operations — B EET (53,018) (38,831)
— Discontinued operation —IEFEREETE - 259
(53,018) (38,572)
Non-controlling interests JEVERR IS R
— Continuing operations —HEKEER (38,418) (23,320)
Loss for the period/year H FENESE (91,436) (61,892)
Total comprehensive expense THEGEmMASZ4EEE .
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KABIEB A (59,702) (58,999)
Non-controlling interests JEVERR IS R i (34,237) (26,297)
Total comprehensive expense for the HERE2ERZEEE
period/year (93,939) (85,296)
(Loss)/earnings per share (HK cents) =i (B8 &BF CGBW) 18 (Restated)
(%)
From continuing and discontinued REFERIEEREET
operations
Basic =YIN (14.29) (12.75)
Diluted e (14.29) (12.75)
From continuing operations REFEREER
Basic HAR (14.29) (12.85)
Diluted e (14.29) (12.85)
From discontinued operation REFFFEREETS
Basic HA - 0.10
Diluted e - 0.10
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

4o A
w3

AT 31 MARCH 2024

FAFSAR IR

1202453/31H

31 March 31 December
2024 2022
20245 20224
3H31H 12H31H
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
Kzt F&T FET
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment L ER Y 19 111,722 137,728
Right-of-use assets FREEE 20 = 378
Mining rights ERHERE 21 73,993 32,125
Equity investments at FVTOCI BAnEFAREMEEBEN
R E 22 5,475 51,507
191,190 221,738
Current assets MENEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EMEURERRR 24 200,548 24,564
Bank and cash balances RITRIRSHERR 10,135 52,388
210,683 76,952
Current liabilities menai
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMENIRR 25 105,591 94,065
Contract liabilities BHAaR 26 58,197 4516
Borrowings &= 27 186,889 301,434
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 814 456
351,491 400,471
Net current liabilities BEI=R ] (140,808) (323,519)
Total assets less current liabilities BEEBEERTB®ERE 50,382 (101,781)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Borrowings EE/N 27 = 14,329
Convertible bond AR &S 28 2,390 =
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 284 =
Deferred tax liabilities FRILRIBEE 30 7,189 9,029
9,863 23,358
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE/ (8R) FE 40,519 (125,139)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBRRR

AT 31 MARCH 2024 /22024438 31H

31 March 31 December

2024 2022
20245 20224
3H31H 12831H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
izt FAT TFAET
Capital and reserves BARRKE#E
Share capital [N 31 21,126 15,153
Reserves EE 32 324,192 179,680
Equity attributable to owners of the KABEE ANEMER
Company 345,318 194,833
Non-controlling interests JEERR G R (304,799) (319,972)
TOTAL EQUITY/(CAPITAL DEFICIENCY) #B#3% ~ (RRZxiE54L) 40,519 (125,139)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 198 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board on 26 July 2024 and are signed on

its behalf by:

Approved by:

$E85F 1988 Z iR B M B ML EF G112024
FTR6BHERRET S WA TFHALA

REE
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Pan Feng
A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FERRETEER

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #{ZE2024%F3831H1t+H @A

Attributable to owners of the Company

SRFEE AES
Convertible Share- Foreign Equity
Capital bond based  currency investment Non-
Share Share  redemption Capital equity payment  translation revaluation  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total interests Total
X RRES  REER ME RERE F324

BEx  ROEE BEERE  ESHE  EDRE  AOHRE  ERER  EREE  RERY & RRER o3t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Tén TEz TEn TEn TEx FEn TEx FEn  TEx  TErn  FEn  TEn

At 1 January 2022
Total comprehensive expense
for the year

R02F1R1E 15,153 71221 300 - - 8529 28890 7104 116635 253832 (293675  (39.843)
FNEERAR
- - - - - - (6905  (1352) (38572  (88999)  (26297)  (85,29)

At 31 December 2022 1120225128318 15,153 71221 300 - - 8529 21985 (6,418) 78,063 194,833 (319972)  (125,139)
At 1 January 2023 #2023E1818 15,153 77,221 300 - - 8,529 21,985 (6,418) 78063 194,833  (319,972) (125,139)
Loss for the period HRNEE - - - - - - - - (53018  (53,018)  (38418) (91,436
Other comprehensive (expenses)  HBREM2E

income for the period (%) /s
ftems that will not be reclassified to - F AT ERT HEE R b

profit or loss: 7=
Fair value changes of equity BRAREHAEMZE

investments through FVTOCI KRERNREREN

AREES = S S > - - - 395 - 395 - 395

Deferred tex effect arisng on fair -~ AR B ARMBENE

value changes of equity NRERENARES

investments at FVTOCI BELNETREYZ - - - - - - - (101) - (101) - (101)
ltem that may be reclassified B EEERES

to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on REBNIBEADELEN

translation of foreign subsidiaries ~ FERZE - - - - - - (6,978) - - (6,978) 4,181 (2,797)
Total comprehensive (expense)  HIR2TE (%) /W%

income for the period - - - - - - (6,978) 294 (53,018)  (59,702)  (34,237)  (93,939)
Issue of new shares under REDBRARTHRG

subscription agreements, NEZ

net of expenses 5,310 51,482 - - - - - - - 56,792 - 56,792
Issue of new shares under a REBIRERTHRG

settlement agreement 663 15,855 - - - - - - - 16,518 - 16,518
Issue of convertiole bond BTaRES - - - - 754 = = = = 754 S 754
Acquisttion of a subsidiary KEHRBAT - - = = = = = = = - 33238 33238
Disposal of equity investmentat ~ HEBRAREF ARMEE

FvTOC! BENRELE - - - - - - - 8,775 (8,775) - - -
Deemed disposal of asubsidiary ~ BfEHERBAT - - - 96,783 - - - - - 96,783  (40,439) 56,344
Deemed contribution from WEATIHERRRERD

non-controlling interests arising RIS R EEZ

from waiver of interest payables  E{ESEEERR RS

from non-controlling interests HE

of a subsidiary - - - 39,340 - - - - - 39.340 56,611 95,951
Share option lapsecforfeited BREAN/ HRKERE

during the period - - - - - (8,529) - - 8,529 - - -
AL31 March 2024 Ro04E38318 21126 14458 300 136128 754 - 15007 2651 24799 345318 (304799) 40519
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mARERER

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 &, E202453831H 1+ HEA

Fifteen months

ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
HF20244%F B E2022F
3H31H 12H31H
IE+FHER IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Jior=a FHT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REERFENRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax FRIGAIET I8
— Continuing operations —FFERE TS (93,059) (60,542)
— Discontinued operation — B EET - (89)
Adjustments for: FHEIEF .
Finance costs RAE A S 12 41,235 51,226
Interest income FEUA 10 (1,350) (20)
Depreciation of e
— property, plant and equipment e E NN ] 19 20,659 18,596
— right-of-use assets —FHEEEE 20 915 937
Amortisation on mining rights IR 21 7,232 2,018
Waiver from borrowing BB R 10 (13,715) -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEHBA BN - (348)
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y2~ B Rk R EE 1R
equipment 11 24,090 24,392
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FRAEEEREESR 11 1,074 -
Impairment loss on prepayments for L EN =Y
property, plant and equipment and TENENFURERSE
construction 11 250 1,086
Reversal of impairment loss on trade B 5 YRR E 518 # 0]
receivables 11 (1,341) =
Impairment loss on mining rights RIBRE R ERE 11 5,069 5,693
Loss from disposal of equity investments ~ HEZAANEST A
at FVTOCI Hih > E S
MR E 2 B518 11 4,225 =
Gain on extinguishment of financial BB TR AR LTS
liabilities by issue of shares aEnNKRE 11 (1,393) -
Operating cash flows before movements HEBSHIHFINKERETNE
in working capital (6,109) 42,949
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 R EfhE AR FIL N (133,812) (6,541)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other B 5 R EMENIRR
payables GriZ) /181 (17,578) 43,821
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilites ~— &#I&EEM, CE-L) 52,514 (5,037)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations #&%& (FRF) ‘EEX2RE (104,985) 75,192
Interest paid BEAFE (157) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from wesEE FrA) S EE2
operating activities &R (105,142) 75,192

BRI M ERBRAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTRER

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

Fifteen months

ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
HF20244%F B E2022F
3H31H 12831H
IE+HMEA IEEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iz FHET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING KREZSHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Release/(placement) of pledged bank 2% (B1F) BIRHRT
deposits e 40,752 (46,167)
Purchase of property, plant and BEYE -BENRRE
equipment 19 (14,027) (51,612)
Interest received S EGTIS) 1,350 20
Net cash inflow from disposal of a HEWBRABDEEZRE
subsidiary TRAEER 35 - 796
Net cash outflow from acquisition of a WEENEB AR EEZIRE
subsidiary TRHEER 34 (7,920) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) REFHEE FrA) 2
investing activities IREFEE 20,155 (96,963)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMEEEIRERE
ACTIVITIES 41
Borrowing raised SEE™N 27,493 26,456
Repayment of borrowings ERUERR (5,052) (6,334)
Repayment of lease liabilities HEaEEM (1,040) (984)
Proceeds from issue of convertible bond 2217 AJ AR EHFA1E IS 3,018 =
Interest paid BAFE 97) -
Proceeds from issue of new shares RIGRE R E TR G
under subscription agreements, FriSFIE  f0RRRES
net of expenses 56,792 -
Net cash generated from financing MEEHEEZIRE P
activities 81,114 19,138
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERREEBYMRLV 23
EQUIVALENTS (3,873) (2,633)
Effect on exchange rate changes on cash  IR& RIS ZEBYH
and cash equivalents PER SR & 2,372 1,580
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT H EVRERIESEEY
BEGINNING OF PERIOD/YEAR 6,221 7,274
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND i "EXKIRERRELEEY
END OF PERIOD/YEAR 4,720 6,221
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND HERREEZEMDH
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITRIRE4EER 10,135 52,388
Less: pledged bank deposits A BIRIRIRITEN (5,415) (46,167)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND i "EXKIREKRREEEY
END OF PERIOD/YEAR 4,720 6,221

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g A
m 3

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 &, E202453831H 1+ HEA

1.

RAFS R R B 5L

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of business
is Room 1208, 12/F., West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost conventions, as modified by the
revaluation of investments which are carried at fair values. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (HK$) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions
and estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise their
judgements in the process of applying the accounting policies. The
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5 to these
consolidated financial statements.

Change of financial year end date

During the current period, the Company changed its financial
year end date from 31 December to 31 March in order to
rationalise and mobilise its resources with higher efficiency for
the preparation of results announcement as well as reports. The
consolidated financial statements of the current period cover a
fifteen-month period ended 31 March 2024 and the comparative
financial statements cover a twelve-month period ended 31
December 2022. The comparative amounts are therefore not
entirely comparable.

Q2 RENAISSANCE ASIA SILK ROAD GROUP LIMITED

BRI M ERBRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern

The Group reported a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$53,018,000 for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2024, and as at 31 March 2024, the Group had
net current liabilities of approximately HK$140,808,000. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
The Directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis on the assumptions and measures that:

(i) The Company completed the issuance of 800,000,000
shares at the subscription price of HK$0.028
per subscription share and raised approximately
HK$22,200,000 net proceeds on 19 April 2024,

(i) On 16 April 2024, the Group completed the loan
capitalisation by way of a debt-to-equity swap with
RMB81.9 million of the investor’'s creditor’s rights over a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company;

(iii) The Group is negotiating with lender to roll over the
loan repayments, capitalisation of the debt and extend
repayment of interests;

(iv) The Group is looking for potential investor(s) to invest in
the Company;

(v) The Company is seeking to obtain additional new financial
support including but not limited to issuance of convertible
bond or borrowing loans; and

(vi) The Group is currently focusing on the integration of gold
mines and strengthening its operations of production
and sales of gold, and the management of the Group is
also implementing cost saving measures to improve its
operating cash flows and financial position.

2.

BB )
A

B ZE202453831H I+ RHER » ~EH
ISR A TR AFELE184953,018, 000
BT RFR202453H31H » AEERED
BEFEE47%5140,808,000/8 7T - 2 £ 15
MEBTNGFEERATRERZE A fEH A
EESFECEREIERERER AL
REBMARNAINEFEEFBRZHEIR
HEENEEEBGE ERORENE
RENRRRIENM AT SRR

0] R2024FE48 190 » A B SehiiZ
REESRTVERD0.0288 T
££17800,000,0008% f& 15 I 549
22,200,000 CHIPTS TR IE S 4R ;

(i) R2024F AR 16H » REREB BRI
BEEHARNTIFEENBLREE
B8 A K 1581,900,0007tHI &
ETREERNDATHRERESR
1t

(iy — AEEELEERAGEERES
EREHERERIERREER
I%\ ;

vy FEBEEVEBEEREERE
/N1

V)  ARBEESREGRINIMT
X5 R ERN R ETRRR
BFEE ; &

V)  AEEBREENRESEE
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Bt URERERE RNV
AL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

2.

(LD

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

The Directors have carried out a detailed review of the cash flow
forecast of the Group after taking into account the impact of
above measures, the Directors believe that the Group will have
sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working capital and
other financing requirements as and when they fall due in the next
twelve months from the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, and accordingly, are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
value of assets to their recoverable amount, to provide for future
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities to current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these potential adjustments have not
been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current period

In the current period, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting

Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —

Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current period has had no material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial positions and
performance for the current and prior periods/years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

3.

(LD

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current period (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements”
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance
and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance but has affected
the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out in note 4
to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in Sale and

Leaseback!

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and

related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)!

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants!
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance
HKFRS 7 Arrangements!

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
A Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The Directors anticipate that the application of all other
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4.

(LD

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

- has power over the investee;

- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of the other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to
the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., BARGHHBEREER @

INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in
a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met, the
set of activities and assets is determined not to be a business and
no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to investment properties
which are subsequently measured under fair value model and
financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not
give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are critical
to the ability to continue producing outputs, including an organised
workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to
perform the related processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are considered unique
or scarce or cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or
delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must
meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”)
except for transactions and events within the scope of HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, in which the Group applies HKAS 37
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to
identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at
the acquisition date;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., BARGHHBEREER @

(LD

INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard; and

- lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as defined
in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases
at the acquisition date except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition
date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-
of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain. Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

102 RENAISSANCE ASIA SILK ROAD GROUP LIMITED
WArEREE BB IRA S

EBREHAEENE (B

EBSH (7

— REFBMHBREERELRT
FHEFRBEERERIEE
EEBHEARKFHENEE
(L EARR) BZERGE
K

- AEaERIHEEMR (E&
REBVBREERFEI6T) B
REREED KRR BN ERE
ERWERRSMESE @8
HAE e B ARRE St 1218 B #E
R ; HOERMEERAEEERNE
Blpoh o AEE EREERA
EafERNERERRE
WHETHBEURREEETIS
PRFRAR EERY B R S AFRRR

BEREEAE RRRESERIE
ERETNSERBELDBEMEE
WU B 7 IR A (WNA) R A ERIABF
BHATWE R A R B E M FTRIES
RS B EIRY P ERRY = BREHE o i AE
E L% FrUREEBY R 5 B A B AR
BRIFESIPIEEAE RIS
HEMFEREDNSERKES B
FEFFAERWIES gD (0A) AR
BERVAEM > B ZRRRNB I R s N FESD 2
ZEBRERm - FEREaARERE
B T RA AR BERIZ G
DIEERANBASNFEE  HOP R
FRIE IR T 2 LE B 23 1k 4 U B 75 P Rt
MPEENEMRERMAIZ AN ES
B stEREETRERRZERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and include as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-
generating units).

On the disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the
cash-generating unit within the group of cash generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a
cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the
group of cash-generating units) retained.

(@ Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BEAXEHHEHEREHR @

INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currency translation SMEEER

(b)  Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial (b) EREMBRENK G REE
statements (Continued) (4
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in BAnEETERUIMESHERIE
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates EREENREEAAEEHN
at the dates when the fair values are determined. FEERE o
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised BIFERBERNWGENEERA
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component e E R R R > U IS
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive 1B B9 1E o] BB 52 3 o9 10 48 5 P
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is FeoBIFERIEENINFNEE
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of NIBmAERR > ZW a8
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or oss. F{EIE R EB DB PIFERR

(c)  Translation on consolidation (c) #HEKREHHBE

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company'’s presentation currency as follows:

PRERERERNEERMEIR
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25|81 HRUTHIRES
/NS SES IS

0) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial @) REMBRARETINE
position presented are translated at the closing rate ERBENDIEBRITEIR
at the date of that statement of financial position; R BB HEEXR

®;

(ii) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

(iii) All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PN

ARG MR M

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and
of borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

10%-20%
Plant and machinery 10%-20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%-25%
Motor vehicles 10%

Buildings

Depreciation of mining infrastructure is calculated using the
units of production method to write off the cost of the assets
proportionately to the extraction of the proven and probable
mineral reserves.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

Construction in progress represents buildings and mining
infrastructure under construction and plant and machinery
pending installation, and is stated at cost less impairment losses.
Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Stripping costs

Stripping costs incurred in the development of a mine before
production commences are capitalised as part of the cost of
constructing the mine and subsequently amortised over the life of
the mine on a units of production basis.

Stripping costs incurred subsequently during the production
phase of its operation are deferred for those operations where
this is the most appropriate basis for matching the cost against
the related economic benefits and the effect is material. This is
generally the case where there are fluctuations in stripping costs
over the life of the mine. The amount of stripping costs deferred is
based on the strip ratio obtained by dividing the tonnage of waste
mined by the quantity of minerals contained in the ore. Stripping
costs incurred in the period are deferred to the extent that the
current period ratio exceeds the life of the mine strip ratio. Such
deferred costs are then charged to profit or loss to the extent that,
in subsequent periods, the current period ratio falls short of the
life of mine ratio. The life of mine ratio is based on economically
recoverable reserves of the mine. Changes are accounted for
prospectively, from the date of the change.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4.

(LD

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Stripping costs (Continued)

Deferred stripping costs are included as part of “Mining
infrastructure”. These form part of the total investment in the
relevant cash generating units, which are reviewed for impairment
if events or changes of circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable.

Mining right

Mining right is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any impairment losses. Mining right includes the cost of acquiring
mining licenses, exploration and evaluation costs transferred
from exploration rights and assets upon determination that an
exploration property is capable of commercial production, and the
cost of acquiring interests in the mining reserves of existing mining
properties. The mining right is amortised over the estimated useful
lives of the mines, in accordance with the production plans of the
entities concerned and the proven and probable reserves of the
mines using the units of production method. Mining right is written
off to profit or loss if the mining property is abandoned.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the
Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
The principal useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 2 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

BAGHHEEEN @

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are
leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets are assets of value below US$5,000.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.

HE (&)

FEEBEEAN (B

EREEERNE (BEHEaR HE
AN DI EREA T R ER AR
AEIETE) SHE-AEAEEEREE
PR EVF)R (ORIERE) NAEEAILE
BEMHRMERNVEAENRFRE-=
EREMMEDE AR ER TR
AR ER N AR LURE
HEBRZHF MEFREEFREHE

SEMEEREEEEEMEBARNNIR
HHEEMARBEGEN B THERDS
Fx% R E R TEER A 12ER
FUTHHEE - BEEEEREERR

5000%TTHYE & °

M TR BB REILED

MBEERYBRERFERERASTA
BRMEXIETN SR T BRRERAN

BT

HARMWEEERTRENSNENE
m s REEBREEFMBRERTEDE
B BIEREE ; AR RS R
REBEAREATSD R LB
BERBEEZHE IMBEERK
IERERR - AR I ERERR M B B R AR
ERBREE RPN ERE 2 B E 5

R AB I ST

MHEEREEER FEEERR
B 20 i B A LE BT o 4R LEFESERA 75
BENREELFRMAENETRR 18

m eSS o

Annual Report 2023/24
=/ CHEER 109



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXREFHEEH @
INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial assets MEEE
Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade HREEESNRIGRE BN BE™S
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a FTiRE 2 HARABEARNHEEE BIF
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the BEERS HEERD AR K& IETE
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially R0 WG A R ENEIZELR 5 A TE
recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs PEHER ERAAEFAEBRNRE
except in the case of investments at fair value through profit or BUBRSN o BB IR A MEFT ABImIVEE
loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of BIEEME(LR 5 AR BIRF B FEsd o

investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified as financial assets at REBNMBEEDEAZBERAA
amortised cost and equity investments at FVTOCI. RN BEEREAAEFAEME@!
W RIS & o

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost (i) HEEREARAFEE
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) ZHENE TN BEE (B8
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of the SREMEWERI BRRFG
following conditions: TR
= the assets are held within a business model = BENZENATEEE

whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect DUSER & #VIR 2RV 275
contractual cash flows; and BiEE &
= the contractual terms of the assets give rise = BENGOETPEEH
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely HELEASIERERE
payments of principal and interest on the principal BEEAEHNENRERN
amount outstanding. =
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost BRIBEEEBRUBKEN S A%E
using the effective interest method less loss allowance for HA AR TEHR (S BB A 1R
expected credit losses. BEtE-o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Equity investments at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to
designate investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

Equity investments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair values recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the equity investment revaluation reserve.
On derecognition of an investment, the cumulative gains
or losses previously accumulated in the equity investment
revaluation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of
part of the cost of the investment.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are
the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a
default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
the expected credit losses that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for trade receivables, or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.
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1.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4.

(LD

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses (Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents
the expected credit losses that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the
loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required
amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds which entitle the holder to convert the loans into
a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed conversion price
are regarded as compound instruments consisting of a liability
and an equity component. At the date of issue, the fair value of
the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar nonconvertible debt. The fair value of any
derivative features embedded in the compound instruments is
included in the liability component. The difference between the
proceeds of issue of the convertible bonds and the fair values
assigned to the liability component, representing the embedded
option for the holder to convert the loans into equity of the Group,
is included in equity as capital reserve. The liability component is
carried as a liability at amortised cost using the effective interest
method until extinguished on conversion or redemption.

If the identifiable consideration received by the Group appears
to be less than the fair value of the convertible loans issued,
the Group measures the unidentifiable services received (to
be received) as the difference between the fair value of the
convertible loans issued and that of the identifiable consideration
received, and the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible loans based on their relative
carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the
equity component is charged directly to equity.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied
over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group, the
operation and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations, or is part of
a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or
when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS b5, if earlier. It also occurs when
the operation is abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, which comprises:

The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and

The post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair
value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal
group constituting the discontinued operation.

Employee benefits
@ Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.
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1.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The Group also participates in a defined contribution
retirement scheme organised by the government in PRC.
The Group is required to contribute a specific percentage
of the payroll of its employees to the retirement scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
retirement scheme.

No forfeited contributions may be used by the employer to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are measured
at the fair value of the services rendered or if the fair value of the
services rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value
of the equity instruments granted. The fair value is measured at
the date the Group receives the services and is recognised as an
expense.

The Group also provides employees with the ability to purchase
the Company’s ordinary shares at a discount to the current market
value. The Group records an expense, based on the fair value of
the discount related to shares expected to vest (taking in account
the post vesting transfer restrictions), on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PN

ARG MR M

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying
a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable

assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to it and that the grant will be received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4.

(LD

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purpose of allocating resources
and assessing the performance of the Group's various lines of
business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG MR M

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(M

(i)

(iii)

(v)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except investments
and receivables to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

4.

(LD

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation
or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting period
that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 4, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in
the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon
the financial support of the shareholders at a level sufficient to
finance the working capital requirements of the Group. Details are
explained in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5. ERGHHETRGETAE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)
Control over non-wholly owned subsidiaries

Note 23 describes that the Group held less than a majority of
ownership interest and voting rights in its non-wholly owned
subsidiary.

The Directors assessed whether or not the Group has control
over Hunan Westralian Mining Co., Limited based on whether
the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of such non-wholly-owned subsidiary unilaterally by considering
the Group’s absolute size of holding in them, the relative size and
dispersion of holdings of other shareholders and the practical
right to appoint the majority members of the Board of such non-
wholly owned subsidiary. After their assessments, the Directors
concluded that the Group has the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of such non-wholly owned subsidiary and affect
the amount of the Group's return. Therefore, the Group has control
over such non-wholly owned subsidiary.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

@ Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is determined with reference to the fair value
less costs of disposal. Where the fair value less costs of
disposal are less than expected or there are unfavourable
events and change in facts and circumstance which result
in revision of fair value less costs of disposal, a material
impairment loss may arise. The Directors performed
impairment assessment of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets and impairment loss
of approximately HK$24,090,000 and HK$1,074,000
(year ended 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$24,392,000 and nil) respectively were recognised in
profit or loss during the fifteen months ended 31 March
2024.

(b) Impairment of mining right

Mining right is reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is determined with reference
to the fair value less costs of disposal. Where the fair
value less costs of disposal are less than expected or
there are unfavourable events and change in facts
and circumstance which result in revision of fair value
less costs of disposal, a material impairment loss may
arise. Based on past experience, the management of
the Company considered that the chance to renewal of
mining permit is highly probable and does not foresee
any difficulty in renewing the mining permit. The Directors
performed impairment assessment of the Group’s mining
right and impairment loss of approximately HK$5,069,000
(year ended 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$5,693,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the
fiteen months ended 31 March 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5. ERXEHHE RESTAE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION EREZZEERKR @
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) EHFTRERZZEERIR (B)

(c)  Mine reserves (c) BEMFE
Mining right and mining development assets are amortised IRUERE R B AR R S B E R IRAERE
over the estimated useful lives of the mines in accordance ERNEETE UKEERTE
with the production plans of the entities concerned and EERKHEE BREEEME
the mineral resources and reserves of the mines using the RiEE st E A E

units of production method.

The process of estimating the quantities of the Group's ARG EREETHERER
gold reserve and resources is inherently imprecise and ZH BB S RIREE
represent only approximate amounts because of the BN E ~ BRI IE T2 R K
subjective judgements involved in developing such HUREE B EHHE BB
information based on available geological, geophysical, SEAERE LW AERE EABLQ
engineering and economic data. These estimates may T o L E A SERE K IR
change substantially as additional data from ongoing BRI R ERIFVZEINE
development activities and production performance B UK BIREBRE R A S
becomes available and as economic conditions impacting G IRE R EE) o
mineral prices and costs change. Changes in reported RERENRBERZETEH &
reserves and resources estimated can impact the carrying EmEENREE

value of intangible asset.

(d)  Fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in (d) FKEZEFHSHFXZHIEHET
an active market BERAE
The Group appointed an independent professional valuer REBBE—SLBIIFZETHE
to assess the fair values of the equity investments at LEHMERERER AR B AR
FVTOCI. In determining the fair values, the valuer has HEERENARE ERER
utilised a method of valuation which involves certain ER STEENRA T R
estimates. The Directors have exercised their judgement HEtRHER E - EEEELH
and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective B W L E S AR R ERI T
of the current market conditions. TARRRER R ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in the functional currencies
of the Group entities. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group
will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the bank and cash balances,
trade and other receivables included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group’s financial assets. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets, except
that the credit risks associated with the other receivables
of HK$42,000,000 as at 31 March 2024 is mitigated
because it is secured, please refers to Note 24 for details.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 96% and
100% (31 December 2022: 39% and 100%) of trade
receivables was due from the Group's largest customer
and the five largest customers respectively as at 31 March
2024.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales and loans are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on bank and cash balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period by comparing the
risk of a default occurring as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information. Especially the following information is
used:

- internal credit rating;

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower; and

- significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including changes
in the payment status of borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 30 days past due in making a contractual
payment. A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 60
days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage
in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally
categorises a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor
fails to make contractual payments greater than 365 days
past due. Where loans or receivables have been written
off, the Group, if practicable and economical, continues to
engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

6. THEAMEIR @

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The Group reported a loss attributable to the owners
of the Company of approximately HK$53,018,000 for
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, and as at
31 March 2024, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$140,808,000. The Group’s bank
balances and cash as at 31 March 2024 amounted
to approximately HK$10,135,000, among of which
approximately HK$5,415,000 was pledged bank deposits,
as compared to the Group’s borrowings of approximately
HK$121,558,000 and approximately HK$65,331,000
from non-controlling interests of a non-wholly owned
subsidiary and independent third parties respectively
which are repayable within the next twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. In view of this, the Director
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of
the Group. The Directors have carried out a detailed review
of the cash flow forecast of the Group and believe that
the Group will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its
future working capital and other financing requirements
as and when they fall due in the next twelve months
from the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements. Further details please refer to Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. TREMRERE@®
()  Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) REIEERAMRE (B
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, AEBENKRMIFIRERENH
of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows: BaENREa AT -
Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective  or less than Between 1 Between 2 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate lyear and2years  and 5 years cash flows amount
iEEsg BEy —FE ZEE  XEBRE
BRAIE  OR-F k-4 | LFEZH e REM[
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TR TR TR TR
At 31 March 2024 1%2024%3A31H
Trade and B5 REMEMER
other payables - 105,591 - - 105,591 105,591
Borowings-interest free  fER—ER - 97,913 - - 97,913 97,913
Borrowings-fixed rate BI-E8 12.28% 92,577 - - 92,577 88,976
Lease liabilities HEaE 6.80% 864 288 - 1,152 1,098
Convertible bond ok ES 12.82% 76 3,132 - 3,208 2,390
297,021 3,420 - 300,441 295,968
At 31 December 2022 2002128311
Trade and B R REMELES
other payables - 94,065 - - 94,065 94,065
Borowings-interest free  fER—EE = 34,904 = = 34,904 34,904
Borrowings-fixed rate BT & 1.33% 278415 9,709 7,016 295,140 280,859
Lease liabilties HEAR 5.00% 464 - - 464 45
407 848 9,709 7,016 424573 410,284
(d) Interest rate risk (d)  FIEER

The Group’s borrowings bear interests at fixed interest
rates and therefore are subject to fair value interest rate
risks.

Except as stated above, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets and liabilities, the Group’s operating
cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continues)y 6. ERIEMREIE @

(e)  Categories of financial instruments (e) BT ALER
Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE HE
20244 20224
3H31H 12831H
E+HMEA IFEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Financial assets: HIEEE
Equity investments at FVTOCI BaAnEs AEMEERE
HRGERE 5,475 51,507
Financial assets at amortised cost IR EE
(including cash and cash equivalents)  (B1EIR & KIS ZEEY) 87,200 65,939
92,675 117,446
Financial liabilities: HBEaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost b Ei= DN By =N 295,968 410,284
(6] Fair values ) NRE
Except as disclosed in note 7 to the financial statements, BRISBAFSRRAR ML 7P BB SN
the carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets RERE AR R BI A&
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated EMBEE R FAENREE
statement of financial position approximate their respective HHEZBMNARERE
fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of
fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises
into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the Group can access at the measurement
date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AREE®w@

(@)  Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March/ (a M3B 12B31HARERELK

December: KEHE :

Fifteen

months

ended

31 March

Fair value measurements using: 2024

HE

20244

3A31H

PaESERR E+AHEAR

Description BER Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Bk B4R Et ] 1ot

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FER

Recurring fair value measurements: EEMAAENE !
Equity investments at FVTOCI BaRES ARMEERE
R &
Private equity investments MERERE - - 5,475 5,475

Year ended

31 December

Fair value measurements using: 2022
BE

20224

12A31H

NAEFERR IEFE
Description BR Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ B B8 4t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET AT TET TET

Recurring fair value measurements: & E M AN EE

Equity investments at FVTOCI BanEst ARM2ERE
RRERE
Private equity investments IERERE = S 51,507 51,507
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. RREGFE®

(b)  Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on (b) FHE=HRZEEAAENE
level 3: HER :
Equity
investments
at FVTOCI
BARE
FFAHMEE
KB RRER E
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 January 2023 R2023F181H 51,507
Disposal HeE (46,225)
Total gains or losses recognised in other 48Uz Sy ES1EFESE — N E Mt 2 E W
comprehensive income 395
Exchange differences PERAERE (202)
At 31 March 2024 142024%3831H 5,475
Equity
investments
at FVTOCI
BARE
SFAEMEE
W IR E
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 January 2022 20221811 62,104
Total gains or losses recognised in other A2 A5 IERESS — N EME2E Wl E
comprehensive income (12,691)
Transfer from Level 2 B aREEA 2,278
Exchange differences bE 2= 5 (184)
At 31 December 2022 2022 12831H 51,507
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on
level 3: (Continued)

The total gains or losses recognised in other
comprehensive income are presented in fair value
change of equity investments at FVTOCI, net of tax in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and
valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 March/December:

The Group’s financial officer is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required for
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. The financial officer reports directly to the
Board for these fair value measurements. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between the chief
financial officer and the Board at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations.

7. AREE®w@

(b)

(c)

FRE=ZRzEEAREHFE
HIR : (8)

REMEE RS HESIA T
BER GG Rm A2 E R
KPR AES AR MMEE R
PRERENANMEEEZS -

REBFFFAGEREURRS
B,/ 128318 ARG EFR
AtESETREARIEZ K

= .

FTEENYBERASMBRSEM
FNEEREENANESE
BREF=MANEFE-FBE
BEENEFERTELEANEN
STE-EHRVMBERERE M
EVFFETMRTEEFNE
KRBT

FEE-RGZEAERIEE
BRI AL EAER 2 SMNBETHE
BERETE=RRAEFEZM
=k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. RREGFE®

(c)  Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and (c) ZAEBEFAMGEAREMURN3
valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value B 128318 AREEFR
measurements at 31 March/December: (Continued) FB 1 1B 52 11 Re B A BUR 2 3

E.#
Level 3 fair value measurements BERAAMEE
Fair value
Effect on fair As at
value for 31 March  Sensitivity
Valuation Unobservable increase 2024  of fair value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs HK$'000 to the input
NhiE
EEA 120245
RARE uEsARE 38318 AAEHEABE
i) fh{ER A BARE #E i)t TaEx MHERE
Equity investments at FVTOCI
BARGES ARMZENE
HRERE
Private equity investments Market Lack of 20.48% Decrease 5,475 5% increase/decrease
comparable marketability in discount would
approach discount decreasefincrease
in fair value by
HK$376,000
hERERE mEALAE  HRZEHEMN bt g,/ H5% >
ARERHD
1%11376,0007% 7T

Effect on fair

value for Fair value ~ Sensitivity
Valuation Unabservable increase Asat2022  of fair value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs HK$000  to the input
EmaEA ARfE
AAEE HEHARE HooRE ARAENBARR
o R BAME BE wyE FHx WEEE
Equity investments at FVTOCI
B ES AR ERG
Ml ERE
Private equity investments Market Lack of 15.70% Decrease 51,507 5% increase/decrease
comparable marketability in discount would
approach discount decrease/increase
in fair value by
HK$3,129,000
MWERERE mHAtE A RZBHMET B N,/ moe%
ARERED/
121113,129,000
BT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and
valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 March/December : (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, private
equity investments amounting to HK$2,278,000 were
transferred from measurement based on level 2 to level 3.
The valuation technique was changed from “Investment
cost” to “Market comparable” as the transaction price
was arrived at for more than a year ago and no longer
constituted an appropriate reference for the most recent
valuation and discount cash flow is a more appropriate
approach to value fair value of a company that is under
development stage with great potential for growth in the
future.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, there

were no transfer of between level 1 and level 2, or transfer
into or out of level 3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has three reportable segments as follows:
Continuing operations

Mining products segment — engaged in gold mining, exploration
and trading of gold products;

Trading and wholesale segment — engaged in trading of non-
ferrous metal and wholesale and trading of frozen meat and
agriculture products; and

Discontinued operation

Money lending segment — provision of money lending services.
The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different technology

and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

AREFE @

() ZFEBEFFAGEBEUKRRS
B/ 128318 A E &R
PG ER M R @A BT ZH
Z.0®

B FE2022F 128318 LEFE > FA
ERERETERR2,278000E T
RSB _MREtEERE - MRetE-
fhERM R RERA R 5
Atb RARRZEBRE—F%
RIS HAY > FBERRALEN
BEZ2E  HWENERMER KK
BRENEARNAT WEMIT
REEBEGARFHEEANE.

REE2024F3831H L+ R 1E
B S— R RE R A
HERS 55— ARy EE A SE o

7 ERE
FEEAL TN =ERREDER
FRIEEMDB-—NEEZERF SRR
BERMEDB-NRFACEBEZ R
RAKRRERIERES | &
IFFHEIEEET

TR BB — SR URARTS °
AEBERAHRE DA A RSEXEFE
i IR A B E m KBRS © I35 D ERE A
B RARSEBREARRM AT
R o

REE DB S ST R RR RIR S M5
RIEFAPEEFRBIARIR] o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

V=P
[gy=]

AT ERAR TR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (cContinued)

Information about reportable segment profits or losses, assets

8.

DERE R @)

ERARSSBER -BEREEN

and liabilities: Bk
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
JEEE
FEIREER REER
Trading
Mining and Money
products wholesale lending Total
FEER B BERTS st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FAx AT AT
For the fifteen months ended HZE2024F3831HIE+RER
31 March 2024
Revenue from external customers REIMNIR WG 142,499 231,647 = 374,146
Segment (loss)/profit A (EB /EF (70,925) 2,258 - (68,667)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERREITE
equipment 20,633 - - 20,633
Amortisation of mining rights RERES 7,232 = = 7,232
Interest revenue FEWA 69 1,281 = 1,350
Interest expense FISEX 35,649 256 = 35,905
Deferred tax credit FERBRSR 1,623 - - 1,623
Additions to segment non-current assets IR EDLIERBEE 87,026 = = 87,026
Impairment loss/(reversal of BERE/ (REHERRE)
impairment loss) 29,341 (1,273) - 28,068
As at 31 March 2024 12024F3H31H
Segment assets NYEE 218,463 132,869 = 351,332
Segment liabilities NEERE 163,817 98,557 - 262,374
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE2022&12831H IEEE
Revenue from external customers REIMNPE P 119,474 87,961 = 207 435
Segment (loss)/profit A EB /EF (47,607) (2,464) 259 (49.812)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERREITE
equipment 18,956 - - 18,596
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHRREETE - S 109 109
Amortisation of mining right RERES 2018 = = 2018
Interest revenue FISWA 13 = = 13
Interest expense FERL 47,229 802 £ 48031
Deferred tax expense RIERIARY 1,609 = = 1,609
Additions to segment non-current assets R EDLIERBEE 55,503 = 210 55,713
Impairment loss HERE 31,171 = = 31,171
As at 31 December 2022 1202261283181
Segment assets NYEE 184,419 55,962 = 240,381
Segment liabilities NEaE 285,689 57,29 = 342,983

BRI M ERBRAR
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8.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8.

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss,
assets and liabilities:

DEEFE @

ARENHRD B -BEEREEH
R

Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE BHE
20245 20224
3H31H 12H31H
IE+HM@EA IEEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET

Revenue g
Total revenue of reportable segments AIERE D AR T S

and consolidated revenue from continuing 2R 15 ELE RN

operations rE 374,146 207,435
Profit or loss i85
Total loss of reportable segments Al D B ES IR 4R R (68,667) (49,812)
Other profit or loss HihiEm (22,769) (12,080)
Elimination of discontinued operation WIS BRE X - (259)
Consolidated loss for the period/year from REFECSSEZNE R

continuing operations LEEE (91,436) (62,151)
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments RS A EERE 351,332 240,381
Other assets Hih&E 50,541 58,309
Consolidated total assets HEBEEMRE 401,873 298,690
Liabilities aE
Total liabilities of reportable segments AR EDIEEE 262,374 342,983
Other liabilities HihaE 98,980 80,846
Consolidated total liabilities reEaE 361,354 423,829

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
unallocated asset which is equity investments at FVTOCI. All
liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than corporate
liabilities. Apart from the above, the total of other material
items disclosed in the segment information is the same as the
consolidated totals.

SRARDECEE (BAnNESt AHMEER
mAIRIERE) S FREBEDDECER
BEDB - FRARERIN FFERRED
ECERIRE D80 o bR LAE SN DERE R
SN GUE P S LENEEEVER EE N

= ALRY
e 4BRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. FEHIEM w
Geographical information: MEER :
(a)  Revenue from external customers (a) FKEIEBEFLIKE
Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE qHE
20245 20224
3H31H 12H31H
E+HMEA IEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Continuing operations FHERE X
PRC == 374,146 207,435
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is L2 & ERR WETLIER
based on the locations of the customers. PRt aEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. SoHEHw
Geographical information: (Continued) MmEER (@&
(b)  Non-current assets (b) FETEIEE
Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
HE HE
20244 20224
3H31H 12831H
E+HEA IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong 58 46 449
PRC =8 185,669 169,782
185,715 170,231
(c)  Revenue from major customers (c) XEFEEFFHWa
Revenue from major customers individually accounting for REFEFLHWNEG (BBELAE
10% or more of total revenue are as follows: Iz I10%e L B) a0F -
Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE HE
20245 20224
3H31H 12831H
E+HEA IFFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A (sales of non-ferrous ZEA (BETEHEE)
metal) 200,367 86,413
N/A*
Customer B (sales of gold products) ZEFB (EE&ERME) RER* 67,021
*Note: ~ Customer B for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 does Mz . BABEZE202443H31H TR
not meet the threshold of revenue over 10%. @88 REZWEBB10%HIFT
%o

Annual Report 2023/24
=/ CHEER 143



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

9. REVENUE
Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE qHE
20244 20224
3H31H 12831H
IE+H@EA LEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Mining products RUEE @ 142,499 119,474
Trading of non-ferrous metal and wholesale B & EBE 5 M EAK
and trading of frozen meat and agriculture ~ EE Rt X RE S
products 231,647 87,961
Total revenue and revenue from contracts ARG K& B S 4IWGE
with customers 374,146 207,435
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

REVENUE (continued) 9. W= w
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: BERAEHWEI DT -
Mining Trading
products and wholesale Total
RIEEm B 5 Rt st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET FHET FHET
For the fifteen months ended HF2024%3H31H
31 March 2024 IE+HEA
Geographical markets HhEE i 45
PRC s 142,499 231,647 374,146
Major products FEER
Gold products HEEm 142,499 - 142,499
Non-ferrous metal BEExE - 200,367 200,367
Agriculture products EEMm - 31,280 31,280
Total “Est 142,499 231,647 374,146
Timing of revenue recognition Y 7t ST B[R]
At a point in time HERFE RS 142,499 231,647 374,146
For the year ended B E20226F12831H
31 December 2022 LEFE
Geographical markets I 55
PRC H 119,474 87,961 207,435
Major products FEES
Gold products HEEMR 119,474 = 119,474
Frozen meat HA = 1,548 1,548
Non-ferrous metal BB = 86,413 86,413
Total 485t 119,474 87,961 207,435
Timing of revenue recognition W s FEER B (2]
At a point in time B BF T B 119,474 87,961 207,435
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

9.

(LD

REVENUE (continued)

Sales of gold products

The Group engaged in gold mining, exploration and sells gold
products to customers. Sales are recognised when control of the
products has transferred, being when the products are delivered
to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products and the customer has
obtained legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 30 to
180 days. For new customers, deposits or cash on delivery may be
required. Deposits received are recognised as a contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before
the payment is due.

Trading of non-ferrous metal and wholesale and trading of
frozen meat and agriculture products

The Group engaged in trading of non-ferrous metal and wholesale
and trading of frozen meat and agriculture products. Sales are
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being
when the products are delivered to a customer, there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products and the customer has obtained legal titles to the
products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 30 to
90 days. For new customers, deposits or cash on delivery may be
required. Deposits received are recognised as a contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before
the payment is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

10. OTHER INCOME 10. Hfthlx A

Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
HE aE
20245 20225
3A31H 12H31H
t+HER FFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET

Interest revenue FIEUWA 1,350 20

Government grants (Note (i) BT AL (B1523)) 2,762 169

Waiver from borrowing (Note (i) 1BRE R (HaLa)) 13,715 =

Agency income RIBA 472 =

Others Hth 159 107

18,458 296

Notes: B

0] The government grants represent subsidy income received from various 0] BN #EA51E B & BUT P PIUER RO EN A
government authorities as incentive to certain subsidiaries of the Group in ERBAEENREREBNETHER
PRC and Hong Kong. BIHEERED -

(i) On 6 December 2023, a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (ii) R2023F 12560 AABNFEEEWB L
entered into a debt waiver agreement with the lender who is an BB E = ERAT I EFHNR R R
independent third party and agreed to eliminate the amount in total of W [E) 2 B FE{TH E.4920,829,00078 700 FR
approximately HK$13,715,000 from the interest payable of approximately SEBARET4913,715,00078 7T
HK$20,829,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

11. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 11. HihizsE 58
Fifteen

months ended Year ended

31 March 31 December

2024 2022

BHE qHE

20244 20224

3H31H 12831H

IE+AEA IEFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BE MR ERERE

equipment 24,090 24,392

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets RS ERERE 1,074 =
Impairment loss on prepayments for property, ¥)3 ~ Bx= K8 & TI2HY

plant and equipment and construction BN RO ERIR 250 1,086
Reversal of impairment loss on trade B 5 AR FUR B 185 0]

receivables (1,341) -

Impairment loss on mining right IRIERE R E 1R 5,069 5,693
Loss on disposal of equity investment HEZARESTAREMEZER

at FVTOCI W R R B 2 518 4,225 =

Gain on extinguishment of financial ERBETEERALVEEED
liabilities by issue of ordinary shares & (1,393) =
31,974 31,171
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

12. FINANCE COSTS 12. EME
Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE BHE
20245 20224
3H31H 12H31H
E+HMEA IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Imputed interest on convertible bond AR ESHEEF] B 171 =
Interest on lease liabilities HEsBZHE 71 50
Interest on borrowings ERZHE 40,836 54,475
Interest on discounted bills RAIRERFE 157 802
Total borrowing costs ERN N 41,235 55,327
Amount capitalised BEERCERE - (4,101)
41,235 51,226
Representing: 23 :
Continuing operations FFERE TR 41,235 51,221
Discontinued operation JEF B E T - 5
41,235 51,226
No borrowing costs on fund borrowed are capitalised for the fifteen HE2024FE3831H I+ RER » i ERE
months ended 31 March 2024 (year ended 31 December 2022: NEENERRAERL EE20225F12
capitalised at 8% per annum). B318LEFE | EAMEEFEZE8%) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

13. TAXATION 13. RIE
Fifteen

months ended Year ended

31 March 31 December

2024 2022

HE qHE

20244 20224

3H31H 12831H

IE+HER IEFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Deferred tax credit/(expense) IR IER S (i) 1,623 (1,609)
Under the two-tiered tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profit Tax, REEEFNSRMAFRESNE &
the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will & EE B B A2AY E 2,000,000 T H i 1%
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed 8.25% 5 FAHAR > MiEBIE2,000,0007 708
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two- F R LL16.5% AR IR o R A ER(E
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate FEmARFIFEREE 2B EENFE
of 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since ARHE BT 16.5% B9 B0 o REE &L
the Group has no assessable profits for the fifteen months ended F2024%3831H IE+RHE R MEE2022
31 March 2024 and year ended 31 December 2022. F12831 8 IEFEW E LR FE

BURRIE ARSI -

The applicable income tax rate for the subsidiaries of the Group in REBREZE2024F3831HIE+REA
the PRC is 25% for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 and KB ZE2022F 12831 0 IEFEER R ER
year ended 31 December 2022. No provision for PRC enterprise b8 A BB R PRSI R A25% o A& [E
income tax is required since the Group has no assessable profits REVE2024F3831H IE+REA KEE
for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 and year ended 31 202212831 H ILFE W Al 52 BV F)
December 2022. B RSP R hZE PRSI E B B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

13. TAXATION (continued) 13. RIE @)
The reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expense and the Frigit (%) B EiRRET (B518)
product of (loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the applicable tax EATRLGE AR ENER 2 BBV E RN
rate is as follows: T
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Total
RESEER ERETEER EhH
Fifteen Fifteen Fifteen
months ended Yearended ~ months ended Yearended  months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December
2024 2022 2024 2022 2024 2022
20245 20206 20245 20226 20245 2022
38318 12A31H 38318 128314 38318 128314
H+EHER LLEE H+EHER LLEE H+EHER LLEE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR T FHET FiET FET T
(Loss)/profit before tax KAl (B518) /EA (93,059) (60,542) - 259 (93,059) (60,283)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate R EHFFIERE A EMNRIE (18,113) (14,014) = 43 (18,113) (13.971)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable R BIRFE 2 (3,764) (6,965) - (57) (3,764) (7,022)
Tax effect of expenses that are AEMBREINRETE
not deductible 10,094 7,961 - - 10,094 7,961
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  FRHEDRERBNRE S E 10,498 14,627 = 14 10,498 14,641
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BB JCAIRRZIRIEN
not previously recognised nETE (338) - - > (338) >
Income tax (credit)expense FrisH U8%) /Bi% (1,623) 1,609 - - (1,623) 1,609
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 14. JEFFBEEE

Pursuant to an agreement dated 7 September 2022 entered RIBAA B EE I 5 = H 20228987
into between the Company and an independent third party, BE:INHZH A ABHEE2 BB
the Company disposed of 100% interest in a wholly-owned RERIKEEHFEB R ABR100%1
subsidiaries, GCC Finance Company Limited. o

The profit for the year from the discontinued operation is analysed REIFFEREEFNEE RN DU
as follows: S &

Year ended

31 December
2022
qHE
20224
12831H
IEFE
HK$'000
TFAET
Loss from discontinued operation IFFERE B E (89)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operation HEIJEFEREEBN R 348

259
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14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

14.

The results of the discontinued operation for the period from 1
January 2022 to 7 September 2022, which have been included in

consolidated profit or loss, are as follows:

FFEREEH W

202251 B 1H E2022F9 87 H BRI IESF
BISEXEBNEE EtAGRSIED W
T

Period from
1 January 2022
to 7 September

2022

20224

1818ZE

2022

987H

HAME

HK$'000

FAT

Revenue & -
Other income HnlsA -
Administrative expenses TR (84)
Loss from operations KEE1R (84)
Finance costs B A (5)
Loss before tax FRIGAIES 18 (89)
Income tax expense FriEM =
Loss for the period/year H,/ EREE (89)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the disposed subsidiary
paid approximately HK$81,000 in respect of operating activities
and received approximately HK$82,000 in respect of financing

activities.

No tax charge or credit arose on loss on disposal of the

discontinued operation.

BE2022F 12831 FE  HEWBA
Bl pLASE 2 553 (14981,00078 70 K 7L B
EEBIEAI82, 00078 7T

HEFRFECEEGHNEIETTELE
RIIRIEEHT % o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

15. LOSS FOR THE PERIOD, YEAR 15. 81 "F XN EHE
The Group’s loss for the period/year is stated after charging the REBHER, EREIETL MR TS
followings: IBB58R
Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BHE qHE
20244 20224
3H31H 12831H
IE+AEAR IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TFAET
Auditor’'s remuneration TZE NN & 900 1,100
Amortisation of mining rights RO 7,232 2,018
Cost of sales* THE B A 343,250 137,343
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 915 937
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 472« #2275 20,659 18,596

Staff costs including directors’ emoluments BT A BEEEME

Salaries, bonus and allowances e~ TEAL BB 19,950 14,575
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RRTEFFT BN 2,223 1,470
S Cost of sales includes staff costs and depreciation of approximately * HE2024F3A318 I+ RHER s SHEMA
HK$61,785,000 for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 (year ended BIEE T A R IrE4961,785,000%8 7T (&
31 December 2022: approximately HK$49,665,000) which are included in FE20224F12H31H IEFE © £949,665,0007%
the amounts disclosed above. 70 BETA ESORBERIEEERN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 16. EE AT E=HMAL
INDIVIDUAL REMUNERATION 2 Er i

The emoluments of each director were as follows: BEFEZMNEWT

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024

HZ2024%3R83101E+HEAR
Retirement
Salaries, benefit
allowances scheme
Fees and bonus contributions Total
E A= BKERN
e RIEAL s iR 4t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
5 FHR Fi#n T FTEr
Executive directors: BITES .
Mr. Xie Qiangming HaREA 4 - 150 7 157
Mr. Zhu Shengsheng ERELE () = 150 7 157
Mr. Qiu Zhenyi ERIRERSTE - 480 - 480
Mr. Pan Feng B - 450 - 450
Non-executive directors: FEHITES .
Ms. Ng Ching C-¥-—Seqn - 150 - 150
Mr. Xu Huigiang FEmit (ii) = 150 = 150
Independent non-executive B IEHITES :
directors:
Mr. Tse Sze Pan E I i (iii) 150 = = 150
Mr. Chen Jian PRER 4 (iv) 130 = - 130
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca BREELT v) 150 = = 150
Mr. Yang Jingang HE e (vi) 19 = = 19
Mr. Zhang Zhen RIRGAE vi) 19 = - 19
468 1,530 14 2,012
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 16. EE T ATE=HMAL

INDIVIDUAL REMUNERATION (Cortiued ZF o
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE2022F12831AILEFEE
Retirement
Salaries, benefit
allowances scheme
Fees and bonus contributions Total
$re  RAL RKEF
ik R At BEGE 4ast
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 FHET FHET FHET FHET
Executive directors: HTEE:
Mr. Xie Qiangming HisRBAL A = 114 6 120
Mr. Zhu Shengsheng KRRAEE (i) = 372 18 390
Mr. Qiu Zhenyi ERIRER S 4 = 390 = 390
Mr. Pan Feng BIESTE = 390 = 390
Non-Executive directors: ERTES:
Ms. Ng Ching BEL - 120 - 120
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHEEL (vii) - 130 = 130
Mr. Xu Huigiang Frgsasst (i) = = = -
Independent non-executive  BILFEHITESE !
directors:
Mr. Cai Jianhua gEELY (Vi) 23 = = 23
Mr. Ho Wing Chung Gl (ix) 50 = = 50
Mr. Yan Xiaotian EERLE (viii) 11 = = 11
Mr. Au-Yong Shong Samuel B R N ) 60 = = 60
Mr. Tse Sze Pan BB AL (i) 109 = = 109
Mr. Chen Jian MRER 4 (iv) 70 = = 70
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca BREET v) 49 = = 49
372 1,516 24 1912
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 16. EE AT E=HMAL

INDIVIDUAL REMUNERATION (continued) Z N @

Notes: Hiat -

(i) Resigned on 29 May 2023 (i) HR20235F5829H BHE

(ii) Appointed on 28 November 2022 (ii) HR2022F11528HEZRTE

(iii) Appointed on 4 February 2022 (i) R202252 B4R EEAT

(iv) Appointed on 1 June 2022 and resigned on 5 February 2024 (iv) 120226568 1 H EEE K i 202442 H5H
FHE

(v) Appointed on 3 August 2022 (v) 2022 8H3H EZRTE

(vi) Appointed on 5 February 2024 (vi) 20245285 HE AT

(vii) Appointed on 20 July 2022 and resigned on 28 November 2022 (vii) 202267 H20 N E AT K51 20224F 11528
BEHME

(viii) Resigned on 4 February 2022 (viii) R20225E2 B4R BT

(ix) Resigned on 1 June 2022 (iX) 202265 1H &FHE

(x) Appointed on 4 February 2022 and resigned on 3 August 2022 ) 1202262 B 4B &R M 2202248 H3H
FHE

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or HE2024F3831H I+ RERREE

agreed to waive any emoluments during the fifteen months 2022F 12831 HILFE  MImEEWE

ended 31 March 2024 and year ended 31 December 2022. In NERBEEMNEZ 28k b BE

addition, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the 202453831 H IE+ R 1B B K& E20225F

directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as 128318 L5 E > AEE T & AT R E

a compensation for loss of office for the fifteen months ended 31 EL NS EARS I EMALTEERE

March 2024 and year ended 31 December 2022. IMAREE R REFEABEREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 16. EE T ATE=HMAL

INDIVIDUAL REMUNERATION (Continued) ZEHM @
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the fifteen BZE2024F3831HIE+RER » AER
months ended 31 March 2024 included one (year ended 31 hEREHMATE8E—% EE2022
December 2022: three) directors whose emoluments are reflected FI2A3IHIEEE | =8) EF MHESE
in the analysis presented above. The emoluments of the remaining BIBNE [ BRAA =S 2B o BR A4
four (year ended 31 December 2022: two) individuals are set out (B ZE2022FE12831HIEEE : —“5) A
below: THIBEE T
Fifteen months Year ended
ended 31 31 December
March 2024 2022
BE qHE
20245 20224
3H31H 12H31H
E+HMEA IEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Basic salaries and allowances BEARFE K2R, 2,671 1,170
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BIRER]FTEIMERR 48 33
2,719 1,203
The emoluments fell within the following band: N FUATEHER

Number of individuals

AE
Fifteen months Year ended
ended 31 31 December
March 2024 2022
BE #HE
2024%F 20224
3A31H 12H31H
tt+HEA EFE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000% 7T 4 2
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16.

17.

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUAL REMUNERATION (Continued)

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 and year
ended 31 December 2022, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the directors or the highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office. There were no arrangements under which any
of the directors or the highest paid individuals waived or agreed to
waive any transaction during the fifteen months ended 31 March
2024 and year ended 31 December 2022.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 and year ended 31
December 2022.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

16.

17.

18.

EERTAEEHFMAL
Z N @

BE2024F3R831HIE+HERAREE
2022412831 H ILF B » A& F Il i [5)
ARAEEHALRSFHMALTIZGE
AR EARS | EMAREBNEMNA
FEERZRENIEABERBE BE
202453831 H Ik R BB R E ZE20226F
12A3IHIEEE  IEXNESTES
HFATHEREARRETARZNE
Beo

HQ I%\
EETEEMEE02453831HI+5R

B8 REE2022F12831H IEEEIRT
{EfAIRR S ©

sk (B1R) &7

ERBERANBESRERREE (B
B /BN TIIBEE

Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE #HE
20244 20224
3H31H 12H31H
IE+HER IFFE
(Restated)
(&%)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
(Loss)/profit (5518) i&F
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners KNBVHEB AEMN (B518) &5
of the Company
— From continuing operations —RBEFEREER (53,018) (38,831)
— From discontinued operation —RBIFFERE X - 259
(53,018) (38,572)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

18. (LOSS)EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 18. &8k (5548) BH# @

Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE qHE
20244 20224
3H31H 12831H
IE+HEA LEFE
‘000 ‘000
Ti T
(Restated)
&%)
Number of shares & E
Weighted average number of ordinary ARt ESREARESEIE
shares for the purpose of basic and TiERR I8
diluted loss per share 371,131 303,051
Comparative figures for the weighted average number of ordinary BZE2022F 12831 HIEFERRFHE
shares for the year ended 31 December 2022 for the purpose of EREAREEHENZ BRINEF
basic and diluted loss per share has been adjusted retrospectively B EEREF EREN20245F683
for the share consolidation on the basis that every five issued and BEXRZROEH EBAREEITRE
unissued existing shares to be consolidated into one consolidated BTREROEHA—REHRKRM) 1F
share which was effective on 3 June 2024. BIREEEE
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the fifteen months ended 31 HE2024F3R31HIE+RHEA REE
March 2024 and year ended 31 December 2022 did not assume 2022FF12A31HIEFEZ BREE (B
the exercise of the outstanding share options since this would 18) /BAEBRITEERITERER
result in a decrease in loss per share. No adjustment was made BT ARIEREEREREER
in calculating diluted loss per share for the fifteen months ended Do RSt EE E2024F3831H 1+ R
31 March 2024 for the conversion of convertible bond as it would 18 B &R S R 18 I I A R 88 A A]
result in a decrease in loss per share. Accordingly, the diluted loss BMRESIEHRAE FRAESERS
per share is the same as the basic loss per share. fRESIER /D o At S REEEIENEE
G E AR EIEIER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

19. ME -BERKE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
Plant and fixtures and Motor Mining  Construction
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles infrastructure in progress Total
FiRRE
BF RERES EL HE FRER HREIE fat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER
Cost 1%
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1818 76,985 30,392 5,309 2,368 207,737 112,047 434,838
Additions AE 3,567 3210 3 45 - 48798 55,713
Exchange differences BRER (6,380) (2,595) (412) (194) (16,811) (11,125) (37,517)
At31 December 2022and ~ $32022F 128310 %

1 January 2023 202351818 74,172 31,007 4990 2,219 190,926 149,720 453,034
Additions through acquisition ~ ERUEERB ARG

of a subsidiary 215 533 - - 9478 257 10,483
Additions hE - 5904 - 55 - 8,068 14,027
Transfer f2E - 7319 - - 147,405 (154,724) S
Exchange differences BRER (2,840) (1438) (181) (80) (12,717) (309) (17,571)
At 31 March 2024 #2024F3831H 71,547 43,325 4,809 2,188 335,092 3,012 459,973
Accumulated depreciation and EFEHE R (E

impairment
At 1 January 2022 R2022F181H 44,760 26,365 4488 2,110 130,279 88901 296,903
Charge for the year FRATH 11,567 4328 20 140 2,541 - 18,59
Impairment loss for the year ~ ERBERE 3369 312 = 6 10,438 10,267 24,392
Exchange differences ERELR (4,294) (2,386) (367) (187) (10,287) (7,064) (24,585)
At31 December 2022and 532022128310 %

1 January 2023 2023E181H 55,402 28,619 4141 2,069 132971 92,104 315,306
Charge for the period HAR 5675 4854 161 143 9,826 - 20,659
Impairment loss for the period ~ EARB{ERS 8 2424 1,982 = = 19,684 = 24,090
Transfer & = = = = 92,104 (92,104) =
Exchange differences BRER (2,252) (1,101) (166) (87) (8,198) - (11,804)
At 31 March 2024 1202438318 61,249 34,354 4,136 2,125 246,387 - 348,251
Carrying amount IR
At 31 March 2024 1#2024F3831H 10,298 8,971 673 63 88,705 3,012 111,722
At 31 December 2022 1R2022E12831H 18,770 2,388 849 150 57,955 57,616 137,728

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the Group
carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its property, plant
and equipment as a result of the Group implement continuous
maintenance and enhancement works program annually. The
reviews of property, plant and equipment led to the recognition of
impairment losses of approximately HK$24,090,000 (year ended
31 December 2022: approximately HK$24,392,000) in Hunan
and no impairment loss on the property, plant and equipment in
Jilin, which has been recognised in profit or loss. As at 31 March
2024, the recoverable amount of the relevant assets in Hunan
and Jilin of approximately HK$99,443,000 and HK$12,404,000
respectively (31 December 2022: approximately HK$136,879,000
and HKS$NIl respectively) has been determined on the basis of
their fair value less costs of disposal using discounted cash flow
method.

B ZE2024FE38318 L+ RMEA > BIAS
SESFETHENHEENRA TR
REBEBEYE - WMEREEHR AU
OB BEERNHENYE - BE
KR EERDRERE (Bt AED &
24,090,000 ¢ (B E2022412831H 1E
FE  4924,392,00057T) S MBI
¥R B R B M HERE RS © 122024
FE3R31H WM R EMHIERE E
2 AU Bl 8453 BI14999,443,00078 75 K
12,404,00057T (20224128311 : A BI4
136,879,000/8 7t & Z 7 70) THEFERLIRIR
EREFENRAAERHERASETE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19.

(Continued)

The key assumptions used for the calculations of fair value less
costs of disposal of property, plant and equipment in Hunan are as

ME BB k& @

BREERAREREERHREEYE-
B s BRI AR EEZ T ¢

follows:

As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
220245 2202245
3H31H 12831H

Discount rate (post-tax discount rate ARIRE (ERARRERETEAN
applied to the cash flow projections) FRIR 1B AEIRE) 10.56% 17.53%
Years of cash flows projection RWERTBRFD FEsHRIER) 7.75 years 9 years
(expected mining period) 7.75% o

The key assumptions used for the calculations of fair value less
costs of disposal of property, plant and equipment in Jilin are as

AREERREREERSMBIYIE
PR R BRI AR E BT -

follows:

As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
120244 220224
3H31H 12831H

Discount rate (post-tax discount rate IRE GERNIRESRE/IN
applied to the cash flow projections) FRIR B ARIRE) 10.56% N/A 5E B
Years of cash flows projection (expected RERTBRFD FasHERIERR) 6.75 years N/A

mining period)

Management determined gross margin based on past market
prices of the gold and management’s estimation of exploitation and
production costs. The discount rate used is post-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant assets. Expected mining
period is determined based on extractable reserve of the mine and
the Group’s production capacity. The legal life of mining right can
be extended upon maturity to enable the Group to conduct mining
activities in the expected mining period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

20. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. HERfEHAEERE
Disclosures of lease-related items: FHErERAIEEREE .
As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
1220244 R20224F
3H31H 12H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FEIT
At 31 March/December: ®38,128318 :
Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Buildings —1gF - 378
The maturity analysis, based on AEBBR KBRS REN
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s HESENIBESTNT :
lease liabilities is as follows:
— Less than 1 year ——FR 814 464
— Between 1 and 2 years ——FETHF 284 =
1,098 464
Fifteen months ended 31 March/ BE3831HIL+RER,
year ended 31 December: HZEI2HA3IHIEEE
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ {FREEEMNITE L
— Buildings from continuing operations — B EEEIET 915 828
— Buildings from discontinuing operation — B E EENET - 109
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss 1B FESEHIBE KR 1,074 =
Lease interests HENE
— from continuing operations —REFEREEE 71 45
— from discontinuing operation —REIEFEREET - 5
71 50
Expenses related to short-term leases HATE EERAE A 162 462
Total cash outflow for leases HERSMH4EEE 1,502 1,446
Additions to right-of-use assets REFREEE 1,611 210

As at 31 March 2024, the management performed impairment
assessment on right-of-use assets of the cash-generating unit
in accordance with HKAS 36. The management estimated the
recoverable amount of those cash-generating units of which
these right-of-use assets have been allocated are lower than their
carrying amount, approximately HK$1,074,000 of impairment loss
was recognised for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024.

120245 3831H  EEERBEE B G5t
ERFREREELTEMUNEREE
EETREN G - EEER  &F®E
REBEEMDENZSHREEEEMUN
FIus e 2R HAREE - IR & E2024
F3/31H I+ RE R RERRERRY
1,074,000z, °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

21. MINING RIGHTS 21. IRUEHE
HK$'000
FET

Cost (D%
At 1 January 2022 1202218 1H 1,543,342
Exchange differences PE R =2 (124,898)
At 31 December 2022 720224128318 1,418,444
Addition through acquisition of a subsidiary BB B A B I 62,516
Exchange differences b R RE (54,224)
At 31 March 2024 $1202453H31H 1,426,736
Accumulated amortisation and impairment REHBHERHE
At 1 January 2022 20221 81H 1,483,703
Amortisation for the year FER 2,018
Impairment loss for the year FRRERIE 5,693
Exchange differences bR RE (105,095)
At 31 December 2022 12022412 831H 1,386,319
Amortisation for the period EIANE 57! 7,232
Impairment loss for the period AR EEIE 5,069
Exchange differences PERERR (45,877)
At 31 March 2024 22024%3H31H 1,352,743
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 March 2024 1202453H31H 73,993
At 31 December 2022 122022412 831H 32,125

Mining rights include the cost of acquiring mining licenses,
costs transferred from exploration right and exploration and
evaluation assets upon determination that an exploration property
is capable of commercial production and land compensation
costs. Land compensation costs represent the compensation
paid to inhabitants for relocating them from the areas nearby the
mining sites so that the Group can use the land as leaching piles
and dumping areas for waste ores. The mining permit in Hunan
will expire on 31 December 2025, and the mining permit in Jilin
will expire on 20 September 2031. Mining rights are amortised
over the estimated useful lives of the mines in accordance with
the production plans of the entities concerned and the proved
and probable reserves of the mines using the units of production
method.
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

MINING RIGHT (continued)

Based on past experience, the management of the Company
considered that the chance to renewal of mining permit is highly
probable and does not foresee any difficulty in renewing the
mining permit.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the Group
carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its mining rights
as a result of the Group implement continuous maintenance and
enhancement works program annually. The reviews of mining
right led to the recognition of impairment losses for mining
right in Hunan of approximately HK$5,069,000 (year ended 31
December 2022: approximately HK$5,693,000), which has been
recognised in profit or loss. As at 31 March 2024, the recoverable
amount of the relevant assets in Hunan of approximately
HK$17,064,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$32,125,000) has been determined on the basis of their fair
value less costs of disposal using discounted cash flow method.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, the Directors
determines that there is no impairment on the mining right in Jilin
as its estimated recoverable amount of the relevant assets in Jilin
of approximately HK$61,234,000 has been determined on the
basis of their fair value less costs of disposal using discounted
cash flow method as higher than the carrying amount.

The key assumptions used for the calculations of fair value less
costs of disposal of mining right in Hunan are as follows:

21.

BRIERE @

RIEBEESR AAREEERBRRE
STRIEEEARRY AT SEME R K > W TR SRR
SRR SR T AR

B ZE202453831H L+ R@EA » ARt
EESFETHENEENRA LR
B8] AEEHEREREN AU O] &8
ETTET REENBEEBUNRK
HE A e 5T R (B 5 181495,069,00078 7T (B
FE2022% 12831 HIEFE & 495,693,000
A7) WRE @R 11202453831
B R ERE & Ep rT IR e £ 2849
17,064,000 7T (2022128318 : 4
32,125,000%7t) Jh s BAIRIRE TREE
EREAABERNESEAERE

HE2024FE3831H I+ RE A » EFR
ARREMIERIEEN G I URE %8
#961,234,0008 T EFEAMIRIREREE
EREANEREERAEET SR E
IRTENE > S MERIR L fR(E ©

Bt EHmRBERER A ERE SN
BEE(EET -

As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
20244 1220224
3H31H 12H31H

Discount rate (post-tax discount rate BRIRE GERR IR RETEAN
applied to the cash flow projections) BRI B ARIRX) 10.56% 17.53%
Years of cash flows projection (expected IRERIBRED FEsHRERR) 7.75 years 9 years
mining period) 7.755F ofF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

21. MINING RIGHT (continued) 21. RUEE @
The key assumptions used for the calculations of fair value less AR EEMIRERE QAR EREE K
costs of disposal of mining right in Jilin are as follows: AN FEEBAT
As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
20244 1220224
3H31H 12831H
Discount rate (post-tax discount rate ARRE CERNIRESRERAN
applied to the cash flow projections) PRI 1R BEIRE) 10.56% N/A 38 A
Years of cash flows projection (expected IREMIBRED FETHRIEL) 6.75 years N/A
mining period) 6.75% TiEA
Management determined gross margin based on past market SEBREAFTFNEESMHESKEE
prices of the gold and management's estimation of exploitation and B ERE EMANGEHUAEEERN
production costs. The discount rate used is post-tax and reflects o FRMRMBINRER &R E B &
specific risks relating to the relevant assets. Expected mining EB ST R B IRIERR LRI
period is determined based on extractable reserve of the mine and BHENARRFEE R AEBNERE
the Group’s production capacity. The legal life of mining right can TE o IRIERERY A E AR AT R EIHARFIE &
be extended upon maturity to enable the Group to conduct mining DUEARE B RS TR HRIERA N EITIR
activities in the expected mining period. HEVEEI
22. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FVTOCI 22. #ARESAEMBEI
a2z e =
mARERE
As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
20244 1220224
3H31H 12831H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Equity securities, at fair value AR R RE
Unlisted equity securities JEEMRAES 5,475 51,507
Analysed as: EX]
Non-current assets ERBEE 5,475 51,507
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

22. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FVTOCI (continued)

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

The above investments are intended to be held for the medium to long-
term. Designation of these investments as equity investments at FVTOCI
can avoid the volatility of the fair value changes of these investments to the
profit or loss.

In 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company completed an
investment in 10.895% equity interest of EEHFELBELEEBLES
PRE1E/A S, which is principally engaged in: (i) comprehensive utilisation
of waste resources; (ii) procurement, processing, production and sales of
metal scrap and metal-containing waste; (iii) trading in mineral products;
and (iv) sales of metal materials. The purchase consideration was settled
at a total cash consideration of HK$55,000,000. The fair value of this
investment as at 31 December 2022 was approximately HK$46,225,000,
its carrying amount accounts for more than 5% of the Group’s total
assets as at 31 December 2022. The fair value loss of equity investments
at FVTOCI for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$15,878,000.

On 12 June 2023, the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Shanghai Jubo Investment Management Co., Ltd. (the “Purchaser”)
entered into a sales and purchases agreement in relation to disposal of the
investment to the Purchaser with the consideration of HK$42,000,000.
A loss on disposal of equity investment at FVTOCI of approximately
HK$4,225,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2024.

In 2020, another wholly owned subsidiary of the Company completed an
investment in 2.59% equity interest of AT & ABLERIE RN BRAE,
which is principally engaged in online auction. The purchase consideration
was settled at a total cash consideration of approximately HK$2,279,000.
The fair value of this investment as at 31 March 2024 was approximately
HK$5,475,000 (31 December 2022: approximately HK$5,282,000). The
fair value gain of equity investments at FVTOCI for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$395,000 (year ended 31
December 2022: HK$3,187,000).

22. BAREBEtAHEMEEIK
mAREKRE @

V=2

0] LR ESENRANE - REBLEREE
ERUAREF ARMEE R ERIRIER
& AR RZKREN AN ELBEIREN
IR

(ii) 120205 » AAR 2 ENB AR TEM T H
EETnEELEABERAREETAH
10.895%RIEIRE » Z AR EEZUE (i)
BEREREEMNA (IEBEN RSB
BEMREE I TEERSHE S(NBEERE
B LB E - BEERENEER
& fL{E55,000,000/8 7032 1 ° 1220226128
318 ZIRE WA R {E4946,225,0007 7T
HERE(EGAEENR2022F12831HEE
HREIIS%LL L - B E2022F12831 8 LEF
B URRE AR E RS R R
B ARERTEAY15,878000/87T °

1202368120 ZRABNEEN B
NEHELBEEXCEMERARAR
(BRI EERH REBEMME
B HERE  1E%42,000,000%8 7T &
F2024%38318 L +RER > B &R
AREFAEMEEBRENRERES
$8#94,225,00078 0 2N 1R FET o

(iif) R20205F > A AR S —HE2EKE AR
SR THEPHFEFAAEREROER
NE2E9% ML E  Z LB EFER
ERLMB-BERBEUERSAEY
2,279,000 T2 {1 e 122024438311 »
ZIRE A D EL235,475,0007 7T (2022
128310 : #95,282,000#T) - &HE
202438318 1L+ RER » LA R EE
AEMEENRERERENA R ER
A %4395,0007 7T (B E2022F 12831 H
LE4FE 3,187,000 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A
23. MR E]

KRB EENBABFIBERI T

23. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s major subsidiaries are set out below:

Place of Issued and
incorporation/ paid up Percentage of Principal activities and
Name registration  capital ownership interest/voting power/profit sharing place of operation
B FiatgEs REE/
215 AftE  EETRBEER BHAZERL TEEBRCE
Direct Indirect
E# %
As at As at As at As at
31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December
2024 2022 2024 2022
120245 12022  §R2024F 720224
3A31H 12A31H 3A31H 12A31H
Hunan Westralian (Note (1) PRC US$36,934,000 - - 41% 51%  Gold mining, exploration,
(31 December 2022: trading of gold products
1S$29,700,000) in PRC
WErR W) f 36,934,000% 7% RAEETESREE
(2022128318 : HRREESSER
29,700,000%7T)
Fuxing Silk Road (Tianjin) PRC HK$5,000,000 100% 100% - - Wholesale and trading of
Products Co., Ltd.* (Note (i) frozen meat in the PRC
ERME (K2 WE f 5,000,000 7% RARBIE TR
BIRAT W) REZ
Changsha Huamao Resources  PRC RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Trading of non-ferrous
Trading Co., Ltd.* (Note (i) metal and wholesale and
trading of frozen meat
and agriculture products
inthe PRC
RVERBREZERRAT AE#1,000,0007 RAEETEREE
(WrzHin) BRURRRE
BEMMERER
Huadian Xinya Mining Co., Ltd.*  PRC RMB20,000,000 - - 51% - Trading of mining products
(Note (i) inthe PRC
EEmHnEEERAG H A 20,000,000 RPEETRERER

()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

23. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. MEBRE w

Notes: Bt

(i) Hunan Westralian registered as limited liability (sino-foreign joint venture) 0} R ERERE AR MABRAS (R
under laws of the PRC. HEBERH) -

(ii) Fuxing Silk Road (Tianjin) Products Co., Ltd. registered as limited liability (ii) BEAEE (K2R) MERRABDREREE
(solely invested by corporation in Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau) under laws EEAMABRAR (BB FEIRFTVEA
of the PRC. &HE)

(i) Changsha Huamao Resources Trading Co., Ltd. registered as limited liability (iil) ENVEMERESBERASIREREEE
(sole proprietorship invested or controlled by a non-natural person) under EMABERAR HIEEAARETIEFIN
laws of the PRC. BmEDH) o

(iv) Huadian Xinya Mining Co., Ltd. registered as other limited liability under (iv) B EES RARIRIRRE AR
laws of the PRC. fREMBRAR

*

For identification purpose only.

The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which TREETESEBAEREE BEDY
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. EENNEATINE S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

23. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. IBAT @
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material BEERIEERRRERZIEZEIM
non-controlling interests BrBZz#E
The table below shows details of major non-wholly-owned TRITHEEEAREERERER L
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling AEBTEFLENBATIZFS !
interests:
Place of
incorporation and Proportion of equity interests Loss and total
principal place of and voting rights held by comprehensive expenses allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiaries business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
MR AR R JEER B R R RIE NEEFERERER ZEHE
HB AR TEERME RRF#EEIL RB2ERR REFERRRED
Fifteen
months
As at As at ended Year ended As at As at
31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December
2024 2022 2024 2022 2024 2022
20245 120226 HE2024%F HE20226F 1120245 120226
3A31R 128315 3B31AL+RER 12A31HILEEE 3A318 12A318
% % HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FHET FERT TERT TR
Hunan Westralian PRC 59 49 (29,750) (26,297) (333,550) (319972)
MR H
Huadian Xinya Mining Co., Ltd. PRC 49 - (4,487) - 28,751 -

EETNRREEERAD i

(34,237) (26,297) (304,799) (319,712)
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's ERBEEEAFERRE#ER I AE
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out B ARz HFERBEHT|NT
below. The summarised financial information below represents UTHBERBERERRGHER 2
amounts before intragroup eliminations. EXBo
Hunan Westralian AR
As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
20245 20224
3H31H 12H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TFAET
Non-current assets ERBEE 106,256 158,829
Current assets REEE 40,219 23,702
Non-current liabilities ERBER (6,324) (14,329)
Current liabilities mENEE (705,489) (821,206)
Net liabilities BE2E (565,338) (653,004)
Accumulated non-controlling interests el (333,550) (319,972)
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23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

23. B AT w

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material BEERFERBRRERZIEZEM

non-controlling interests (Continued)

Hunan Westralian (Continued)

BABZHE (@

HEEE (A

Fifteen months

ended Year ended

31 March 31 December

2024 2022

BHE qHE

2024438 2022121

31H 31H

IE+HER IEEE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FHET

Revenue W 142,499 119,474

Loss for the period/year A, RN EiE (61,427) (47 592)

Total comprehensive expense WEEMAZ (50,960) (53,667)

Loss allocated to non-controlling interest DEEIFZER R ER 2 B8 (29,750) (26,297)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating A& 275 (FFA) FREENIES

activities JFEA (36,413) 30,652
Net cash generated from/(used in) from REEBFRESLS FrH) WIRE

investing activities BEE 79,605 (39,468)
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEXK FTR) FIEENIRS

financing activities JFER (23,167) 6,722

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes PEREHNTE (22,249) 5,788

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash ~ IR&KRIBEZEYIMN GRLD)
equivalents BIN$%E (2,224) 3,694
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG MR M

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

23. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Huadian Xinya Mining Co., Ltd.

23. fEAT w)

HamHERERRAE

As at
31 March
2024
1220244
3H31H
HK$'000
FAET
Non-current assets ERFEE 68,460
Current assets MENEE 2,149
Current liabilities mEasE (11,933)
Net assets BEEFE 58,676
Accumulated non-controlling interests Rt IEERR AR R T 28,751
Fifteen
months ended
31 March
2024
HE20245%
3H31H
IE+H@EA
HK$’000
FHET
Loss for the period B ESIE (9,455)
Total comprehensive expense BEEPES (9,156)
Loss allocated to non-controlling interests PDECEIEERR R 2 B8 (4,487)
Net cash generated from operating activities REEEFIELENIRS B 2,572
Net cash used in investing activities KREEKBBNIRE 5 (2,817)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEHPTZE 83
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BERIREEEBYHRL FEE (162)
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23.

24.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the bank and cash balances of the
Group’ subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted
to HK$10,063,000 (31 December 2022: HK$52,343,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit.
The credit terms generally range from 30 to 180 days. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. For new customers,
payment in advance is normally required. The Group seeks to

23.

24.

MEB AT @

12202438318 » &~ E B P EI B A
BN UAR B ENRITRIREEER
#%10,063,000/ 75 (20224128318
52,343,000 7T) o i AR ISR ARINER
BT HEIRYSNEERIARRE ©

B 5 K H th B UL AR ™R

AEREEPNEZFREIBUEER
T —RGTFTEEHRIOKREIOK
UERBARSEERE -HSHER

maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue EERBBIRTHSES TG BT T
balances are reviewed regularly by the Directors. RS RIAHRAS AR o
As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
120244 220224
3H31H 12H31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Trade receivables B S EURERRR 17,760 14,578
Provision for loss allowance sHRR 1B HEHE (4,537) (6,113)
13,223 8,465
Prepayments (Note (i) TB{I=IE H1aE3) 122,641 9,751
Prepayments for property, plant and IEN =& i RN S
equipment 841 1,262
Deposits b 577 532
Other receivables (Note (ii)) HnEWERRR (Ba231) 63,266 4,554
200,548 24,564

Notes: Bzt -

(i) Included in prepayments of approximately HK$57,231,000 represents 0} A TE RIBAYA57,231,00058 7T 24 6
prepayment paid to three suppliers for purchase of non-ferrous metal which EEETBH - HERZTHNENR
the amount was fully refunded subsequent to the reporting period, and B ERREHAEEERERE UG
approximately HK$54,073,000 which represents prepayment paid to a 54,073,000/8 e A ThIE B R E mm— L HRE
supplier for purchase of agriculture products which have been recognised BN ENRIELEREEARS B
in cost of sales up to the date of this report. R AHEEMA

(ii) Included in the other receivables, an amount of HK$42,000,000 represents (ii) s A EAFEU AR R AV £ 5842,000,000/8 75

a consideration receivable from the purchaser in relation to disposal of
equity investment at FVTOCI (the “Disposal Equity Interest”) which was
completed on 12 June 2023. However, such amount has yet been received
by the Group as of the date of this report and the Company and the
purchaser entered into an equity interest pledge agreement, pursuant to
which the purchaser agreed to pledge back the Disposal Equity Interest to
the Company as a security for this receivable.

MHER AR BT AR EREHIARE
BE (THER®E > Bi2023546812H5%
BR) & B B 75 BRI 8 « 78T > AR B
REEARREHRANDARKEIZERE B
NATRE BT RIEER RS B
FEAAABE R HEREERZERIR
ARV R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24.

(Continued)

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date,
and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

B REMEWERT @

B 5 AR 3 5 B AL AR PR 1R
BHERARRE TN

As at As at

31 March 31 December

2024 2022

20245 20224

3H31H 12831H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

0 - 30 days 0ZE30Xk - -
31 - 60 days 31E60X - 2,353
61 — 90 days 61FE90K - -
91 - 180 days 91E 180X 12,751 3,334
Over 180 days 180K U E 472 2,778
13,223 8,465

As at 31 March 2024, trade receivables of HK$472,000 (31
December 2022: HK$2,778,000) were past due but not impaired.
These relate to a number of independent debtors whom there is
no recent history of default. The Group does not hold any collateral
as security over these debtors.

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

122024438318 B Z EUERF472,000
77T (20224F12H31H : 2,778000%870) B
BHABARRIE o S IBBT A R
HNEFHETELEBAGRH ~E®
HZEEH A\ IESAEARIRRIES
RO

B 5 BRI B R B E AR

As at As at

31 March 31 December

2024 2022

120244 20224

3H31H 12831H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FAET

At 1 January ®1B1H 6,113 6,650
Reversal of impairment loss DEAEY SEi=EEEl (1,341) -
Exchange differences e AE%E (235) (537)
At 31 March/December 38,12831H 4,537 6,113
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. ES REMBETIR
As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
420244 R20224
3H31H 12831H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables B S ERMIRT 8,913 9,269
Bills payables (Note (i) PRI =45 (B1323)) 5,415 46,167
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEST B E R E MR BaE0))
(Note (i) 91,263 38,629
105,591 94,065
Notes: Vg2

(i) As at 31 March 2024, the Group has HK$5,415,000 (31 December 2022: [0}
HK$46,167,000) bills payables which were secured by pledged bank

deposits.

(ii) As at 31 March 2024, a consideration payable for acquisition (ii)
of a subsidiary of RMB23,800,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$25,773,000) was included in accrued liabilities and other payables.

122024438311 » A& E55,415,00087T
(20224E12831H : 46,167,000 7T) HIFE

NERBUERIPRITERFER

22024438318 » W — BB ATH
FE (A8 A R 1£23,800,0007T (HEERA
25,773,000/ 7t) Bt AfEsT & E R EHANE

fiRERR o
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of receipt B S REMERFIZREZE 2 HEARER
of goods, is as follows: Erariis NN

As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
120244 220224
3H31H 12831H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
0-30 days 0ZF30Xk - -
31-60 days 31E60K - -
61-90 days 61FE90K - -
over 90 days 90K 8,913 9,269
8,913 9,269
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. &M@
Disclosures of revenue-related items: I ARE R EE
As at As at As at
31 March 31 December 1 January
2024 2022 2022
®20244% R20224F 20224
3H31H 12H31H 181H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
Contract liabilities ==Y 58,197 4,516 9,553

Contract receivables (included in ~ SXIFEWEER Gt A B 5

trade receivables) JE IS BR F0) 13,223 8,465 10,420
Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations unsatisfied RS BRER, EXRDEGEFmENE
at end of period/year and expected to be recognised as revenue in: NEF WTEFTEUTIER FTER AW

As at As at

31 March 31 December

2024 2022

1220244 720224

3H31H 12831H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

— 31 December 2022 - 20225 12831H N/A REH 4516
— 31 March 2024 - 2024%3831H 58,197 -
58,197 4516
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 26. aNERE®
As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
202445 1220224
3H31H 12H31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET THET
Revenue recognised in the period/year that K EREHst A& aBEx
was included in contract liabilities at 1B FERRERR UL R
beginning of period/year 4,516 9,553
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the period/year RE ERENEENEERTE
Fifteen months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BHE qHE
20244 20224
3H31H 12H31H
t+HER IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT THET
Increase due to operations in the period/year ERFSER, PO BY A& ML 0 192,436 4,446
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue aHNaEERhA NG 138,755 9,483
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer BHAEEEAEEFETEERIRT
products or services to a customer for which the Group has EREAERDINEIE GEERREE
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from ) ER-

the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

27. BORROWINGS 27. &=k

At 31 March 2024 At 31 December 2022

£2024%3H31H 7t2022512831H
Contractual Contractual
fixed fixed
interest interest
Notes rate (%) HK$’000 rate (%) HK$000
i =1
Wa BIEFZE%) FAET EEFZE%) FAET
Other loans Hith&Em
— Secured —HEHF (1) 10% 35,588 10% 32,809
— Secured —FHiEE (i) 36% 52,997 36% 207,185
Sub-total of secured BIRRERR
borrowings et 88,585 239,994
- Unsecured — IR IR (i)  Ranging from Ranging from
24%-36% 23,390 24%-36% 38,932
T N
24%ZE36% 24%ZE36%
— Unsecured — IR (iv) 12% 29,688 = =
— Unsecured — I (v)  Interest free 19,342  Interest free 19,530
me g S|
— Unsecured — g (vi) Ranging from
8% to 24% 25,884 24% 1,933
nE
8%%E24%
— Unsecured — HEIE (vii) - —  Interest free 15,374
£ S|
Sub-total of unsecured HIRIRMERR
borrowings Net 98,304 75,769
186,889 315,763
As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
20245 20224
3H31H 12831H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Analysed for reporting MIRE BT
purpose as: wr
Current liabilities mENBE 186,889 301,434
Non-current liabilities EIE) =N = 14,329
186,889 315,763
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

27. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

()

(ii)

On 1 April 2022, the Company, as borrower and Westralian Resources,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as co-borrower, entered into
second supplementary agreement with the lender, Mr. Cai Shou, who
became non-controlling interest of Hunan Westralian on 21 June 2022,
agreed to extend the maturity date from 31 March 2022 to 31 March 2023
and reduced the interest rate from 24% to 10%.

On 1 April 2023, these parties entered into a third supplementary
agreement for the extension of the maturity date from 31 March 2023 to 31
March 2024.

On 6 December 2023, these parties entered into a fourth supplementary
agreement for the extension of the maturity date from 31 March 2024 to 30
June 2024 and the Company agreed to grant an additional security.

At 31 March 2024, the borrowing is secured by the 41% (31 December
2022: 51%) shares of Hunan Westralian and the 50,000 shares of
Westralian Resources held by the Company.

At 31 March 2024, the borrowing from Mr. Wu amounted to
RMB48,940,000 (approximately HK$52,997,000) (31 December 2022:
RMB183,995,000 (approximately HK$207,185,000)), is secured by 35%
of mining right owned by Hunan Westralian, guaranteed by 10.4% of
shares of Xinhuaxian Choumu Mining Co., Limited owned by a general
manager of Hunan Westralian (“General Manager”) and repayable on
demand.

On 18 July 2023, Hunan Westralian as borrower entered into a
capitalisation agreement with the lender, Mr. Wu, pursuant to which Mr.
Wu agreed to make a capital contribution of RMB52,031,000 (equivalent
to approximately US$7.2 million) by way of a debt-to-equity swap with
RMB52,031,000 (which are RMB52,000,000 borrowings and RMB31,000
of other payable) of Mr. Wu creditor’s rights over Hunan Westralian. Upon
the completion of the capitalisation agreement, Mr. Wu owns 19.6%

shareholdings of Hunan Westralian and becomes a non-controlling interest.

On 6 December 2023, Hunan Westralian entered into a debt waiver
agreement with Mr. Wu, pursuant to the debt waiver agreement,
Hunan Westralian and Mr. Wu agreed to waive the interest payables of
RMB87,039,000. At the same date, Mr. Wu entered into loan receivables
transfer agreement (the “LRT Agreement”) with the Company and
agreed to sell the interest payables of RMB22,746,000 due from Hunan
Westralian. After transferred the interest payables from Human Westralian
to the Company, this interest payables not secured but guaranteed by
one of the shareholders of the Company which recorded as unsecured

borrowing in note (iv) below.

27. 1 TA (&)

st -

0]

(il)

20224818 AR B (ERERN) K
Westralian Resources (<A B]—BI2 &M B
NED EAEBEERAN) BERARELSE

(12022676 521 H A 735 ma PR BV FIEFERS
e ST R _HEr g BREE
HAH 202243831 HIE R E 202353831
H R FZE 24 %R EE10% ©

72023F 4818  ZEFTN A UE =D
W7 B EHAH H2023F3/31AER
E2024F3H31H °

R2023F 12868 » ZE T A FTILE MR
T sk i EIHA B 202443831 HIE R
E2024F68308 > AR B EEE HEESH
i)

FA20244E3H31 8 » &R LR TR AI41%

(2022128311 : 51%) BRI AATF
B Westralian Resourcesf50,00082 A% 19 1EHE
o

12202443831 8 > RBRILENERAR
#48,940,0007T (4952,997,00077T) (2023
F12A31H : ARH5183,995,00087T (4
207,185,000587T) ) LIRS P R Al /S TR0E
RIS IEIEIT > ERMARI PE BARAS TR (TARAR
) AR CRAREARESRATN
104% I FHE (R R B B SR B

12023575181 - MR TR ((ERERA)
BERAMEETIERCHE BIL
EARERBURENPRAREANAR
#552,031,0007¢ (FfERA K #52,000,0007T
R E M ERFRARE31,00070) BIEHELL
EERR 75 TUEE ARY52,031,0007T (18
E1#97,200000%70) < RERERRET
& (hoE A R TR 19.6%BIARIEN A
AIFERRIR R

7202312860 » #m R AR ERT 1L
BHRRHH REZETRRTE M
MERKOSEEREREENTEBARE
87,039,0007¢ ° A B » AL EARBET L
EREWIRTE R TR (TEME IR
EieE)  REBHEPREERERZE
17 B AR #522,746,0007T ° I E:E R 78
BEMHEFAARR ZELFERE
}EHWEEEZIS B —RBIRERIEMR 1R XY
FRECER A IR TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

27. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

)

(vi)

At 31 March 2024, the borrowing from Mr. Cai Pu of RMB6,403,000
(approximately HK$6,934,000) (31 December 2022: RMB7,946,000
(approximately HK$8,948,000)) at 24% per annum (31 December 2022:
24% per annum) which are guaranteed by General Manager and repayable
on demand.

At 31 March 2024, the borrowing from Mr. Long of RMB15,196,000
(approximately HK$16,456,000) at 36% per annum (31 December 2022:
RMB26,629,000 (approximately HK$29,984,000) at 36% per annum)
which is unguaranteed and repayable on demand.

On 6 December 2023, Hunan Westralian entered into debt waiver
agreements and Mr. Cai Pu and Mr. Long agreed to waive the interest
payables of RMB13,983,000.

On 6 December 2023, Mr. Cai Pu and Mr. Long entered into the LRT
Agreements with the Company. Mr. Cai Pu and Mr. Long agreed to sell
the interest payables due from Hunan Westralian of RMB409,000 and
RMB3,245,000 respectively to the Company. Please refer to note (iv) below.

At 31 March 2024, the borrowings from Mr. Cai Pu, Mr. Long and Mr.
Wu are RMB425,000 (approximately HK$460,000), RMB3,370,000
(approximately HK$3,649,000) and RMB23,621,000 (approximately
HK$25,579,000) respectively.

On 6 December 2023, Mr. Cai Pu, Mr. Long and Mr. Wu entered into
the LRT Agreements with the Company. Mr. Cai Pu, Mr. Long and Mr.
Wu agreed to sell the interest payables due from Hunan Westralian of
RMB409,000, RMB3,245,000 and RMB22,746,000 respectively to the
Company. The borrowings bear interest at 12% per annum are repayable
within one year and guaranteed by one of the shareholders of the
Company.

The borrowings are included four (31 December 2022: two) lenders which
are no fixed repayment terms.

The amount of HK$500,000 (31 December 2022: HK$500,000) and
HK$541,000 are provided by one of the shareholders of the Company and
independent third parties respectively and unguaranteed on 31 March
2024.

The amount of HK$18,301,000 (31 December 2022: HK$19,030,000)
is provided by a director of Hunan Westralian and guaranteed by General
Manager on 31 March 2024.

The borrowings are included ten lenders (31 December 2022: one
lender) which are repayable on demand or within one year. The amount
HK$19,086,000, HK$4,585,000 (31 December 2022: HK$1,933,000)
and HK$2,213,000 are unguaranteed, guaranteed by General Manager
and guaranteed by an independent third party respectively on 31 March
2024.
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27. 1 TA (#&)

HisE @)

(iif)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

FR20244F3 531 H - 2R B & B A BIETA
FR1£6,4030007T (496,934,000587T) (20224
128318 : AR¥7,946,0007T (498,948,000
) RERIZEA24% (20026128318 ¢
R BE24% ) AREIBER R BRE R
;ﬁ °

R202453831H » REBRAEMERA
2 115,196,00007T (4916,456,0007%7T) K&
EFEKA36% (2022128310 : AR
26,629,0007T (4329,984,00077T) R EF&
%36%) BIEERRBREREE

1202312860 - Hir IR L EHEA R
MR R BT KRBT E AR R RN
BARHE13983,0007T°

R2023F 12361 » £ S A R e A A
NEFT L ERER AR TR R 17758 o RRBESL
ERBEREREDNARNATHE N
RS R 2 PR AR EE409,000 T R AR
#%3,245,0007T ° 552 B T XX HdsE(v) ©

R2024F3831 8 ) RERBELLE REELE
RARSCERE R B A A R #425,0007T

(#9460,0007%7T) ~ AR #53,370,0005T (49
3,649,000787T) K AR #523,621,0007T &I
25,579,000387T) °

20231261 » I E BEScE KR
SeEBAA BT ERERIR R E R
o BB AL RALERESRE
AT E MR FRE R 2 EAFEAR
#409,0007% ~ AR #3,245 0007t R AR 1
22 746,0007T o ERIREFIE12% 5t EA 78

—FENER RARAT—RREIER

fEREIEM% (20226128311 | m%) &
EEEEARNERA

500,0007%7T (20226128311 : 500,000/
7T) 5541,000/8 750 B AR B — 2 RE
R =Tttt > Feht20244E3A31 A
EfRe

18,301,000% 75 (20224128318 :
19,030,000 7T) BRI R EELR M >
e F 20244331 B (AR IR (R

ERBEREIN—FAEEN+2E
A (2022128318 : —8EHA) °
19,086,000 7T ~ 4,585,00078 7T ( 2022412
H31H : 1,933,000/7T) K2,213,000/87TH
202443531 B 7 B B EAR(R ~ HARACIRIE
RREBBI =R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

. [+ = =
27. BORROWINGS (Continued) 27. &R @
Notes: (Continued) izt @@
(vii) The borrowing is provided by an independent third party, non-guaranteed (vii) ZEIERREEEEERRNERT H—
and no fixed repayment terms. BB E =Rt
On 12 January 2023, the Company entered into a settlement agreement K2023F1 8128 » AT R 1T K50 #T
with the lender for the issuance and subscription of new shares. The B ERERR A ST ILE T 17555 0 FR2023F 1 8
indebtedness due to lender was settled in full by the Company by issuance 308 AABIEBUERKRRIN0.27B TR
and allotment of settlement shares to the lender at the subscription price of BERETABTRECEENRKRS  BH
HK$0.27 per share on 30 January 2023. For further details, please refer to BEBMXERANES BRE—THE
Note 31(a). F2BMIEE31()
LYES
28. CONVERTIBLE BOND 28. AR ES

On 18 July 2023, the Company entered into the convertible bond
subscription agreement with a subscriber, pursuant to which
the subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue to the subscriber
the convertible bond in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$3,025,000 based on the initial conversion price of HK$0.1375
per conversion share. The issue of the convertible bond was
completed on 31 August 2023 and a total of 22,000,000
conversion shares will be allotted and issued upon exercise of the
conversion rights.

At initial recognition, the equity component of the above
convertible bonds was separated from the liability component. The
equity element is presented in equity heading “convertible bond
equity reserve” of HK$754,000. The effective interest rate of the
liability component ranging from 12.82%.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible bond
for the period is set out below:

1R2023% 78180 » AR B BB 5 5] 1L
PIARESFSRE R I SRS AR
HREERBMAARNEREREZNT
RRBEERTHRN0.1375B TR E
75 AT AR HBER3,025,0007% 708 AT HAg
&35 - IHRIEFHETTEN2023F8H
3185ER » B &$22,000,0008% 12815
R T eI R T LIRS R 31T o

PEADIETESDR - Pl R A SR ot
BHEBRED DR - BmBEP DN
REMMGRESERFHE T2 £
#3754,00078 7T - BB DBV ERF RS
12.82%

HneRRESEESINEFIE R
T

HK$'000

FET

At 1 January 2023 R2023F1H1H =
Issue of convertible bond BT ES 2,264
Effective interest expense BFEAMNE/HE 171
Accrued interest EsHFIE (45)
At 31 March 2024 1R2024F3831H 2,390
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

29. LEASE LIABILITIES

29. HE&R

Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
HERE HERBEZRE
As at As at As at As at
31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December
2024 2022 2024 2022
720244 120224 12202445 12022
3A31H 12H31H 3831H 12H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET TAT
Within one year —ER 864 464 814 456
In the second to fifth years, inclusive ETEFERE (AEEEWE 288 = 284 =
1,152 464 1,098 456
Less: Future finance charges B BRMBER (54) @)
Present value of lease liabilities HESBEZRE 1,098 456
Less: Amount due for setflement within -~ 38 © 12188 A EIEARYFE (T 28
12 months (shown under current HrRBEEETER)
liabilities) (814) (456)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 121815 # ZUHREYFE (2018 284 =

As at 31 March 2024, the average effective borrowing rate was
6.80% (31 December 2022: 5.00%). Interest rates are fixed at the
contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
=]

PSR R T

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

30. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

30. IEERIEER

Revaluation  Revaluation
of of mining
investment right Total
EERE EhREE “azm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFAET T#ET FAET
At 1 January 2022 720221 81H - 7,280 7,280
Charged to profit or loss for the year st AFERIER = 1,609 1,609
Charged to other comprehensive FAFREMEEMAS
expense for the year 831 - 831
Exchange differences R AERE (34) (657) (691)
At 31 December 2022 12022 12831H 797 8,232 9,029
Credited to profit or loss for the period  f0FRHEAIE T - (1,623) (1,623)
Charged to other comprehensive SFAREMEERS
expense for the period 101 - 101
Exchange differences b R RE (33) (285) (318)
At 31 March 2024 $#2024%F3831H 865 6,324 7,189

No deferred tax asset have been recognised in respect of tax
loss approximately HK$161,838,000 (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$140,117,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. These tax losses will expire from year 2024

to 2028. EIEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG MR M

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

31. SHARE CAPITAL

31. &

Number of
shares Amount
RS E &
‘000 HK$'000
T2 FHET
Authorised: ETE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 20221818 ~ 2022128313 ~
1 January 2023 and 31 March 2024 2023F 1 H1H &2024E3H31H (&
(25,000,000,000 ordinary shares of F&E{E0.01787t/925,000,000,0008%
HK$0.01 each) TR 25,000,000 250,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRME
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 1202218 1H ~2022F 128310 &
1 January 2023 (1,515,256,058 ordinary 2023F181H EREE0OLIETH
shares of HK$0.01 each) 1,515,256,058% 38 A%) 1,515,256 15,153
Issue of new shares under settlement RIBEN R TG (Wata)
agreement (note (a)) 66,335 663
Issue of new shares under subscription IR R TS (WD)
agreements (note (b)) 236,716 2,367
Issue of new shares under subscription RIRSRRE R B TR (WaEc))
agreement (note (c)) 294,318 2,943
At 31 March 2024 (2,112,625,443 ordinary 1?2024%3831H (E&EE0.0187T
shares of HK$0.01 each) #92,112,625,4430% & 3EA%) 2,112,625 21,126

Notes:

st -

(a) On 12 January 2023, the Company entered into a settlement agreement (a)
with the subscriber, pursuant to which the subscriber agreed to subscribe
for a total of 66,334,814 ordinary shares at a price of HK$0.27 per share
by way of set off all indebtedness of the subscriber due from the Company
in the total amount of HK$17,910,400. All of the conditions precedent
under the settlement agreement have been satisfied and the completion
of issue of subscription shares was completed on 30 January 2023. The
difference between the fair value of the issued shares based on the market

price of HK$0.249 per share on 30 January 2023 and the amount owing

by the Company to the subscriber in an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$1,393,000 was accounted for as a gain on extinguishment of financial
liabilities by issue of shares for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024.

(b) On 1 June 2023, the Company entered into three subscription agreements (b)

to issue and allot an aggregate amount of 236,716,397 ordinary shares of

HK$0.01 each for cash at the net issue price of approximately HK$0.105
per new share under the general mandate. The issue of subscription shares

was completed on 6 July 2023.

(c) On 18 July 2023, the Company entered into a subscription agreement ()

to issue and allot 294,318,174 ordinary shares to the subscriber at the

subscription price of HK$0.109 per share under the general mandate. The
issue of subscription shares was completed on 31 August 2023.
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WAATIFF A E754E5817,910,40058 7TH
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66,334,814 B - B H:EE FHFTE
TG BRIER RRERAINETER
2023515308 526k ° BTN A ME

(#2023F1 5308 W ESIRAR(50.249
BITst ) BAABRAI R BARRRELN
1,393,000/ 70 2 M= BB E A #I Z=20244E3
B318 I+ HE A BB EI TR LR
HEENWEARR.

12023F6 818 » KRBT =R 0%
& RE—REEEFETESKRNRG
#90.1058 T TR A 5 3£236,716,397/%
SIREE001B T HBAR  LUAEIRSE: o
REBRHIETTE 202367 B6H 5eAl
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

32. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

32. f#fE

(a)

TEHE

FrEEZ RERHESHTERER
freBmcHEMEEmR @R KRR
GIRREDEEFRES -

Company (b) AT
Capital ~ Convertible  Share-based
Share  redemption bond payment Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve loss Total
B[R g R A
BRiniaE fi# RHHE iafiHtE ZethsiE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2022 202251818 77,221 300 - 8,529 (136,307) (50,257)
Loss for the year FRBE - - - = (17,502) (17,502)
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12831H 77,221 300 - 8,529 (153,809) (67,759)
Issue of new shares under  1RIEFEE 7
subscription agreements  E{THRIN 51482 = = = = 51,482
Issue of new shares under 1R
settlement agreement e 15,855 = = = = 15,855
Issue of convertible bond BT ATk ES = = 754 = = 754
Share option lapsed/ HRERN/
forfeited during the LU
period - - - (8,529) 8,529 =
Loss for the period HREE - - - (117,606) (117,606)
At 31 March 2024 182024%3H31H 144,558 300 754 - (262,886)  (117,274)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG MR M

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

32. RESERVES (continued)

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

@iii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium of the
Company are distributable to the shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve arises from the
reduction of the nominal value of the issued capital
of the Company upon the cancellation of the
repurchased shares.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve comprises
all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy in note 4.
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32. #E®@

(c)

HEZHEERAR

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

BRI E

RIERSHEARE £
NERINBEZEEA S
KT A RBIRER » HEEERE
BoKREBHE &2
BIREEENHBEESS
PR HERESS

=g

BEEL#EHREEEER
RINSERBEHITES
EERDMESE-

SFEEEE 2 1

SINEEPE TR B IR AR E
IBINEB IR BRI E
EHFTAE R EEE o 541
BIREMI TARY & 5T R
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33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

CHANGES IN INTEREST IN A
SUBSIDIARY

On 18 July 2023, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a capitalisation agreement with Mr. Wu Qingchao
(the “Investor”), pursuant to which the Investor agreed to
make a capital contribution of RMB52.0 million (equivalent
to approximately US$7.2 million) by way of a debt-to-equity
swap with RMB52.0 million of the Investor’s creditor’s rights
over the non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the
“Capitalisation”).

Upon the completion of the Capitalisation, the registered capital
of the non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company will increase
from US$29.7 million to approximately US$36.9 million. The
Group’s equity interest in the non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company will be diluted from 51.0% to approximately 41.0% as a
result of this Capitalisation (the “Deemed Disposal”).

Following the Deemed Disposal, the financial results of the non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company will continue to be
consolidated in the Group’s accounts taking into account, among
others, the corporate governance procedures implemented and in
accordance with the voting rights entrustment agreement.

The difference of HK$96,783,000 between the increase in
the deficit non-controlling interests of HK$40,439,000 and
the carrying amount of borrowings and other payable of
HK$56,344,000 (equivalent to approximately US$7.2 million) has
been credited to capital reserve.

33.

B A BRI & E

R20235F7818H » KR BINIEEE B
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b2 Bt REEREEBUIREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

34.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 24 May 2023, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Purchaser”), Huadian Huafeng Mining Co., Ltd.
(the “Vendor”), and Mr. Sun Fude (“Mr. Sun”) who owns 55%
of the Vendor, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the “Agreement”), pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed to
purchase, and the Vendor and Mr. Sun agreed to sell 51% of the
total issued share capital of Huadian Xinya Mining Co., Ltd. (the
“Target Company”) (the “Sale Shares”) at the consideration of
RMB32,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$34,594,000).

On 1 July 2023, the Company had completed the acquisition of
the Target Company. The Target Company is principally engaged
in the exploration, mining and sales of gold, silver, aluminum, zinc,
it also holds a mining licence in respect of a gold mine owned by
the Target Company which is located in Huadian City in the Jilin
Province of the PRC (the “Mining Assets”).

The primary reason for the acquisition was for utilising the Group’s
previous mining experience of currently operating a gold project in
the PRC to the gold mine to achieve synergy.

The Directors were of the opinion that inputs acquired from the
acquisition of the Target Company did not include an organised
workforce that has the necessary skills, knowledge and experience
to perform gold production of the Target Company and other
necessary inputs, and the acquisition of the Target Company did
not constitute a business combination as defined in HKFRS 3
(Revised) “Business Combinations”, and therefore the acquisition
was accounted for as asset acquisition. Assets acquired and
liabilities assumed upon the acquisition date are as follows:
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34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

34. IREEMEBAE @

HK$'000
FAET
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN VY 10,483
Mining right R 62,516
Current assets MHMEE
Prepayment and deposit FENRIE K 3% 2,676
Bank and cash balances RITRIRE AR 945
Current liabilities BEI=RE
Accruals and other payables FESTE B R AL FE (T BRRR (8,788)
Net identifiable assets acquired BB R RREE 67,832
Less: Non-controlling interests A IEER R R R (33,238)
Total cash consideration WIHERE 34,594
Consideration transferred SEERE
Cash paid BIRE 8,865
Consideration payable FE{S(E 25,729
34,594
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: KRSEELENIRESRLSEE .
Cash consideration paid during the period FARBENIRERE (8,865)
Less: Cash and cash equivalent acquired of BTN IRE RIREEEY 945
(7,920)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY ©ontinied)  34. YKEBHMI B2 E @
The Directors have engaged an independent valuer to determine EEC MBI GEMBIEE BV ER
the fair value of the net tangible assets and intangible assets of SRR F I RECEAmREERR
Huadian Xinya Mining Co., Ltd., in accordance with HKFRS 13. RENENEERBILEEFENRD

B

Non-controlling interests JEVERR R R
The non-controlling interests (49%) in Huadian Xinya Mining R HBRERNEE MR EER
Co., Ltd. recognised at the acquisition date was measured by R ABI R NIEEER IR (49%)]h
reference to the proportionate share of recognised amounts of RB2EEEAMTDEXEERABFE
net assets of Huadian Xinya Mining Co., Ltd. and amounting to ERRTENLLANEBEERTE A
HK$33,238,000. 33,238 000787 ©

35. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 35. HEMWE AT

As referred to in note 14, on 7 September 2022 the Group
discontinued its money lending business at the time of the

SRR FE140p 4 - AREEEFL 20228987 H
REEERBATIBIKSBHEERR

disposal of its subsidiary, GCC Finance Company Limited. B EE AT -
Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows: REEERIEEENT !

HK$'000

FHET

Right-of-use assets FREEE 149
Loan receivables EAFEIRERTR 411
Other receivables HFEUERRR 43
Bank and cash balances RITRIREAE R 4
Other payables HAPE(IERRR (4)
Lease liabilities GiEN= =L | (151)
Net asset disposed of FEELE 452
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB R B 348
Total consideration — satisfied by cash BARE-LEREX(T 800
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEREERREMAEEE .
Cash consideration received IR BERSEHE 800
Bank and cash balance disposed of HERIRTTRIREAERR (4)
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERIREMRIREEEY 796
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36.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme which was
approved by Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting
held on 22 February 2016.

The exercise period of the share options is determined by the
Board, which are entitled to make any offer to any eligible
participant within the 10 years period starting from 22 February
2016, they may determine the number of underlying shares, the
subscription price and the expiration day in full discretion.

The goal of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant share options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards
for their contributions to the Group, thereby linking their interests
with that of the Group. The eligible participants include any
employee, advisor, consultant, service provider, agent, customer,
partner or joint-venture partner of the Company or any subsidiary
(including any director of the Company or any subsidiary).

The total number of shares the Company may issue in any
12-month period under the Share Option Scheme is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company issued. Any further grant of share
options exceeding this limit is subject to Shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting.

Under the Share Option Scheme, any share options granted
to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company, or to any of their respective associates, is subject to
INEDs" approval. In the cases where share options are granted
to a substantial shareholder or an INED, (i) if the total number of
Shares granted exceeds 0.1% of the issued Shares, or (ii) if the
aggregated value (based on the closing price at the date of grant)
is over HK$5 million within the 12-month period, the grant is
subject to Shareholders” approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options shall deem to be accepted
when the offer letter is duly signed by the grantee and the nominal
consideration for the grant of HK$1 is received by the Company
within 21 days from the date of the offer.

The exercise price of the share option is determined by the Board,
but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of Stock
Exchange on the date of the offer of the grant, which must be a
trading day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of the
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

36.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

) it AR 4 =
36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 36. Ri7ERLL T @
Share option as at 31 March 2024 R2024FE3831H 2 BR&IE
Number of share options
ke
Lapsed/
forfeited
Balance Granted Exercise during Balance
as at during during the period as at
Grantee Date of grant  Vesting period Exercise period 1/1/2023 the period the period (Note) 31/3/2024
® RREAR 7
2023 BE¥/ 20245
1818 IR HRER R 3B31H
SEIN EHAH HEH 718 &R (25t Bi7fE (rz2) ek
Directors 16/9/2021 from 15/11/2021 16/9/2021 to 15/9/2023 45,450,000 - - (45,450,000) =
S 16/9/2021 B15/11/2021 16/9/2021£15/9/2023
Employees 16/9/2021 from 15/11/2021 16/9/2021 to 15/9/2023 29,000,000 - - (29,000,000 =
B2 16/9/2021 815/11/2021 16/9/2021E15/9/2023
Consultants 16/9/2021 from 15/11/2021 16/9/2021 to 15/9/2023 13,274,887 - - (13,274.887) -
B 16/9/2021 815/11/2021 16/9/2021£15/9/2023
87,724,887 - - (87,724,887) -
Exercisable at the end of the period 87,724,887 -
REBRAIT1E
Note: Hiat -
During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, 44,150,000 share options were REE2024F3831 B I+ 18 » 44,150,000(7 #EA%
forfeited upon cessations of the employment and 43,574,887 share options lapsed R AR IR IR B ARUL > K43 /57488717 FE AR HERITT
due to the expiry of the period for exercising the share options. BB AR RERAIR B M B 2R3
Share option as at 31 December 2022 120225128318 2 B #
Number of share options
fElREHE
Lapsed/
Balance Granted Exercise forfeited Balance
as at during during during as at
Grantee Date of grant  Vesting period Exercise period 1/1/2022 the year the year the year 31/12/2022
20225 RER 2022
1818 RER RER Bx¥/ 12B31H
EEA B HEH frfEHR b [=h B R EET
Directors 16/9/2021 from 15/11/2021 16/9/2021 to 15/9/2023 45,450,000 - - - 45,450,000
Bz 16/9/2021 815/11/2021 16/9/2021%15/9/2023
Employees 16/9/2021 from 15/11/2021 16/9/2021 to 15/9/2023 29,000,000 - - 29,000,000
BE 16/9/2021 H15/11/2021 16/9/2021E15/9/2023
Consultants 16/9/2021 from 15/11/2021 16/9/2021 to 15/9/2023 13,274,887 - - 13,274,887
B 16/9/2021 815/11/2021 16/9/2021E15/9/2023
87,724,887 - - - 87,724,887
Exercisable at the end of the year 87,724,887 87,724,837
RERPITE
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36.

37.

38.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The fair value of the share options is approximately
HK$8,529,000, calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model. The inputs into the model are as follows:

36.

Share option grant date fERAR I H B A
Share price on grant date EHBNRE
Exercise price 1TE

Expected volatility TERRR IR
Expected life FERATEHA

Risk free rate B P =2
Expected dividend yield FERRRG B =R

Expected early exercise multiplier

Expected volatility was determined by peers’s highest volatility. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the
Group’s best estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

Share options granted to consultants were incentives for helping
the Group expand its business network, acquire and explore new
business projects and opportunities. The fair value of such benefit
could not be estimated reliably and as a result, the fair value is
measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s bills payables
and borrowings are included in Notes 25 and 27 respectively to
the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group did not have any capital commitments as at 31 March
2024 and 31 December 2022.

TRHRIR AT

37.

38.
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20214798 16H
HK$0.280
0.2807 7T
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0.2847%8 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

FAEALRS

(@)  Transactions with related parties (a) BEREALMR
The Group undertook the following transactions with REZE2024F38318 1L+ A @
related parties during the fifteen months ended 31 March B AREE AR EA TEITHR
2024 S0

Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
BE #HE
20244 20224F
3H31H 12831H
E+H@EA LEFE
Relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt ZBIE F FHx
Non-controlling interests of Interest expenses (Note)
a non-wholly owned subsidiary 3
ERENBARIHERKRER FIERRE (W) 33,715 5,280
Note: st :
Interest expenses paid to the non-controlling interests of a subsidiary Bk B A B IR AR R i S TR 5
were charged at interest rate ranged from 10% to 36% (year ended 31 SRR FI0%EI% EZE2022FE128
December 2022: 10% to 24%). S1HLEEE | 10%E24%) 5t
(b)  Balances with related parties (b) EIRAEALHVEEER
As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
#2024 FR20224F
3H31H 12831H
HK$1000 H K$’OOO
F Fh
Borrowings from non-controlling EH&?F%%W?@T?FEHQ
interests of a non-wholly owned fREEEm 2 (B
subsidiary 121,588 41,757

Notes: Mzt

(i) On 18 July 2023, Mr. Wu becames a non-controlling interest of the non- [0} 2023578181 » BERSEME » RfkE
wholly owned subsidiary upon completion of the debt-to-equity swap, BAEEZENWB AT IEERKREER &
further details of which are included in Note 27 to the consolidated financial B — S SRR e AR EE2T
statements.

(ii) During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024, Mr. Wu and Mr. (ii) BE2024F38318 I+ REA  hE4ER
Cai Pu had waived the Group's interest payable to them amounted to BEAGCHREAERBENRENNELN
approximately HK$95,951,000 of which approximately HK$39,340,000 95,951,000 7T » EH#939,340,000/ 7t E
was credited to capital reserve and approximately HK$56,611,000 was T A B AN 5 4956,611,000/8 70 4 I EIERR
deemed contributions from non-controlling interests, further details of REEEBIEHID E—PEBEIHN GRS
which are included in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements. RIS HRRMIzE27 o

Compensation of key management personnel FTEEEERS ZHM

The remuneration of directors and other members of key AR S AP IR MR 16PN EE » AL E

management during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 is
HK$2,063,000 (year ended 31 December 2022: HK$1,580,000)
as disclosed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. =28 38, 12A31H

THE COMPANY AS AT 2T AR
31 MARCH/DECEMBER
As at As at
31 March 31 December
2024 2022
20245 R20224
3H31H 12831H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RHBATRRE - =
Property, plant and equipment EN Y 46 70
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 378
46 448
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Other receivables HAEUREARRR 2,062 590
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEW B /B A B FIE - -
Bank and cash balances RTTRIRSAEER 62 40
2,124 630
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENBE
Other payables HAhES IR 13,362 3,579
Borrowings ER 80,502 48,633
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN SN 966 966
Lease liabilities HEas 814 456
95,644 53,684
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBEIFE (93,520) (53,054)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BESERREAE
LIABILITIES (93,474) (52,606)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEas 284 =
Convertible bond AIHARRIES 2,390 =
2,674 -
NET LIABILITIES aEFE (96,148) (52,606)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARRkiEE
Share capital %N 21,126 15,153
Reserves ] (117,274) (67,759)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY B A E54t (96,148) (52,606)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 41. MEFHELEZEBBHIR

ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising TRETAEBPEE202453831H 1k

from financing activities during the fifteen months ended 31 +hHESMEEHELNEEE
March 2024
Lease  Convertible
liabilities bond Borrowings Total
HEaRE mHaRES £ M5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FET
At 1 January 2022 20221811 1,331 - 261,926 263,257
Changes in cash flows b N =) (984) = 20,122 19,138
Non-cash changes FFIREEEH
— addition —RE 210 - - 210
— interest charged —NEER 50 = 55,277 55,327
— disposal of a subsidiary —HEKBAE (151) - (151)
— exchange differences —ERERE - = (21,562) (21,562)
At 31 December 2022 202212831 456 - 315,763 316,219
Changes in cash flows REREgs) (1,040) 3,018 22,441 24,419
Interest paid BEAHE - - (97) 97)
Non-cash changes FFREEEH
— addition —NE 1611 - - 1611
— interest charged —FEER 71 171 40,836 41,078
— Waiver from borrowings —(ERER - - (13,715) (13,715)
— Deemed disposal of a subsidiary —REHERB AR - - (56,311) (56,311)
— Deemed contribution from — B A B IR SR
non-controlling interests ERNENF SE#%
arising from waiver of EEZRIEIEER
interest payables from ERERHE
non-controlling interests of
a subsidiary - - (95,951) (95,951)
— Issue of new shares under —IREEAHEETH
settlement agreement (Note 31(a)) B&fn H1zE31(a) - (15,374) (15,374)
— Reallocation to equity component — BN EERE D - (754) - (754)
— Accrued interests —TEStHIE - (45) - (45)
— exchange differences —[ERELE - - (10,703) (10,703)
At 31 March 2024 12024538318 1,098 2,390 186,889 190,377
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARG M IRARMEE

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #;ZE202443831H 1+ A EA

42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 42. $:R&EHAEE1E

(a)

(b)

Issue of shares

On 30 January 2024, the Company and the subscribers
entered into the subscription agreements to issue and allot
800,000,000 shares to subscribers at the subscription
price of HK$0.028 per share under the specific mandate
and raised approximately HK$22,200,000 net proceeds.
All the conditions precedent set out in the subscription
agreements have been fulfilled and the completion took
place on 19 April 2024.

Deemed disposal of a subsidiary

On 8 February 2024, a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company (the “Target Company”) entered into a
capitalisation agreement with an investor, pursuant to
which the investor agreed to make a capital contribution
of RMB81.9 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$88.7 million) by way of a debt-to-equity swap with
RMB81.9 million of the investor's creditor’s rights over
the Target Company (the “Capitalisation”). Upon the
completion of the Capitalisation, the registered capital of
the Target Company will increase from US$36.9 million
to approximately US$48.3 million. The Group’s equity
interest in the Target Company will be diluted from 41.0%
to approximately 31.3% as a result of this Capitalisation
(the “Deemed Disposal”). The Target Company is a foreign
owned enterprise established in the PRC with limited
liability and an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company principally engaged in gold mining,
exploration and trading of gold products in the PRC. The
Target Company will continue to be a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company and its financial results will
continue to be consolidated in the Group’s accounts taking
into account, among others, the corporate governance
procedures implemented and the entrustment of voting
rights.

The Deemed Disposal became effective on 16 April 2024.

(a)

(b)

B1TRD

R2024F1 5308 » A B AR08
F ] IR LURREERR
I ER0.0288 TR EE B R
8875 8817 K B #%800,000,0008% 1%
it B 5 £922,200,0007 7T BIFRr
BRRIBIFRE - BB R PT B AYFT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE FIFTEEN MONTHS ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 #Z202443831H1E+AH @A

42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 42. Hi%EZE 18 &)

(Continued)
(c) Shares consolidation

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 10 May
2024, every five issued and unissued ordinary shares
with a par value of HK$0.01 each be consolidated into
one consolidation share of HK$0.05 each, which became
effective on 3 June 2024.

(d) Litigation

In July 2024, the Company received a writ of summons
issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region by a lender
in relation to a secured borrowing as plaintiff. The plaintiff
claims against the Company for the outstanding principal
and interest due and payable, and those amounts have
already been recorded in the consolidated financial
statements as at 31 March 2024.

The Company is currently seeking legal advice and
will take appropriate actions in respect of the above
proceedings and will try its best endeavours to negotiate
with the plaintiff with a view to agree on any alternative
means to resolve the matter.

43. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with
the presentation for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024.

44. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board on 26 July 2024.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFMHRE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets and MU T AAREBNCTIEXEULREEREE
liabilities of the Group: BIREE .

RESULTS g

Year ended 31 December
#ZE12831HLLFE

Fifteen
months
ended
31 March

2024 2022 2021 2020 2019
BHE
20245
3A31H

It+HEAR 20224 20214 2020£ 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FEIT FET FHE7T FHET

(Restated)
&E7)
Revenue Uz
Continuing operations FREREET 374,146 207,435 116,810 57,152 44 556
Discontinued operation JEF B E TR = = 2,256 = =
374,146 207,435 119,066 57,152 44 556
Loss before tax PRI RIS 1R (93,059) (60,542) (109,575) (169,529) (126,130)
Taxation M8 1,623 (1,609) 4,835 6,256 7,862
Loss for the period/year R B IFBLEET
from continuing 28 ER
operations 518 (91,436) (62,151) (104,740) (163,273) (118,268)
Profit from discontinued R B IEIFEK S
operation ES vl - 259 3,755 — —
Loss for the period/year  HA, /AN E51E (91,436) (61,892) (100,985) (163,273) (118,268)
Attributable to: TS IEE
Owners of the Company ~ ZSABIHEA A (53,018) (38,572) (55,378) (108,567) (98,434)

Non-controlling interests ~ JE4ZE RS I% B 1 7 (38,418) (23,320) (45,607) (54,706) (19,834)

(91,436) (61,892) (100,985) (163,273) (118,268)
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AEMBHE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
As at 31 December
128318
As at
31 March
2024 2022 2021 2020 2019
1220244
3A31H 20224 20214 20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET FET FHET
Non-current assets IEREEE 191,190 221,738 263,210 254,473 202,767
Current assets MEEE 210,683 76,952 27,374 118,710 176,728
Current liabilities mEas (351,491) (400,471) (284,573) (216,464) (104,376)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (9,863) (23,358) (45,854) (155,365) (190,127)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/ (B8R #E 40,519 (125,139) (39,843) 1,354 84,992
Attributable to: TS IEENS
Owners of the Company ~ ZATEE A 345,318 194,833 253,832 248,206 158,906
Non-controlling interests ~ JE4%E A& i% B 1 7% (304,799) (319,972) (293,675) (246,852) (73,914)
Total equity/ EREE
(capital deficiency) (A& 5 4t 40,519 (125,139) (39,843) 1,354 84,992
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DEFINITIONS

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise indicated, the following ~ RAFEIRT X FEREFIEIN U THREEE
expressions shall have the following meanings: TR -

“2022 Annual Report”
M 2022 F 4R |

“2023 Interim Report”
[ 2023 ERER &

“AGM”
MRERBERE)

“Articles of Association”
MABZ=F2 4081

”

“associate(s)

N YN

“Audit Committee”
EZEE g

“Auditor” or
“Confucius”

k2 CHEAPN

“Board”

EEg)

“CG Code”
M2Ea<FR

“Chairman of the Board”
EETIF)

“CEO”
MTE B

“China” or “PRC”

MeREy

“Code Provisions”
I<FRIES

the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022
NABEE2022F12831H IEFEENER

the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2023
RNABEE202356830H LE/E B AR S

the annual general meeting of the Company

FATRFBERG

the articles of association of the Company
P/NSIFEE A=l

having the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB FhRBE TR

the audit committee of the Company
KRBIBREES

Confucius International CPA Limited, an independent external auditor of the Company

RERERGSHENSEHBAIARAR ZATBREILINSZEEN

the board of Directors

Exg

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

EHRRIMER14APRERY B TRI

the chairman of the Board
BEEgTE

the chief executive officer of the Company

I Y/NSIEEIZEES

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purposes of this announcement and for
geographical reference only (unless otherwise indicated), excludes the Macao Special
Administrative Region of the PRC, Hong Kong and Taiwan

FEARENBE RAREME RMEFMITIS TS (BSAEBRERIN » FEIEH
BEURFIFAITHE -SEREE

code provisions as set out in the CG Code
EEATRIPTERYST AR
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DEFINITIONS

“Companies Law”

MABE]

“Companies Ordinance”

NSIEES N

“Company”

/N1

“Company Secretary”
MABEME

“Corresponding Period”

IS EHA

“Director(s)”

==

“Executive Director(s)”

MITESR)

“Gold Mine”
TEH)

“Group”
TR E )

SHKAS”
&R 2R

“HKFRS”
[H BB FEERE 2R

“HKFRSs”
MRS

“HKICPA”
EEGstEAg)

“HKS"
BTl

the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands
NEVE BEBEEAIFE22F (1961 FEFIFEE ) Kiza &1B:]))

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
REMER] (BFHEFF622%)

Renaissance Asia Silk Road Group Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability, shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange
EETNMBERRRAD —HANHESHETMMIINERAS  ERH I H
Pk

the company secretary of the Company
KRB REINE

for the year ended 31 December 2022
B ZE2022F12831HIEFE

the director(s) of the Company
KABIEER

the executive Director(s)
BiTES
the Group’s Yuanling gold project in Hunan Province, the PRC

AEBR PRSI EEEER

the Company and its subsidiaries

TRBREKMBAT

Hong Kong Accounting Standards
BHHEGER

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
SBUHEHREZEL

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards comprise HKFRS, HKAS and Interpretations
BEERMBREGENOEEEMBREEN - SE S LA REE

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
BEHEGEIAE

Hong Kong dollar(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong
B EAETEEN

RENAISSANCE ASIA SILK ROAD GROUP LIMITED
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“Hong Kong”
r&548]

“Hunan Westralian”

B J=aeicpd]

“INED(s)”

MBI IFITES
“Internal Control Consultant”
T EE I RE

“Investor”

MEEE

“Listing Rules”

M EmRA

“Management”
MEIRE]

“Model Code”

“MPF Scheme”
leafaEaTE

“NED(s)”
BERITEE

“Nomination Committee”
NEREZEE)

“Remuneration Committee”
IFEE %]

“Reporting Period”
M$R &= HAR

“RMB”
WNEST

DEFINITIONS

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FREE AR RITHE

Hunan Westralian Mining Co., Limited, a limited liability (sino-foreign joint venture)
established in the PRC and is a subsidiary of the Company

HEAREXERAS —ERFERINERAR (FIEERE)  BAERATN
Ly EYNE

the independent non-executive Director(s)

BIIFRITES

an internal control consultant engaged by the Company on 13 May 2024 to perform an
internal control review of the Group

A ATN2024558 13A AN EEIZRERE]  WHAERETANEZEER

Hunan Juji Win-Win Enterprise Consulting Partnership (limited partnership), partnership
established in the form of limited partnership in the PRC
MEEEHREELACBEE BREH)  NHRBEUSREBREAMINER
faE =

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

32 FreE s L AR A

the management of the Company
AABEEE

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
ERAIMIER1OPR &Y LT AB R ETRE SR 5 IR ZESTA

Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
BEIMAEEE

the non-executive Director(s)

FHITES

the nomination committee of the Company
KABRHEER

the remuneration committee of the Company

rREFMNEES

for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024
B E2024F3831H 1L+ RES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR REIEAE S
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DEFINITIONS

“SFO”
a5 G IRA

“Share(s)”
TRZ1%

“Shareholder(s)”
MA%ER

“Stock Exchange”
MBS 32 PAT

“Disposal Company”

MHEAE]

“Westralian Resources”

I'Westralian Resources |

wop»
M% ]

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of Laws of Hong Kong)
BB EMIFES7 1 ER S KA E A

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the issued share capital of the Company
KRB BETRAFEREBECOLETHNEBR

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BRGFEEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEHMERZMBRAT

N

EETmEBEAEEBAREEEAT, alimited liability company incorporated in the
PRC
BETREESEeSBEREERAR —BRPEFMRIINERETAR

Westralian Resources Pty Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated in
Australia
Westralian Resources Pty Ltd > —E BN M WA AR EEHEE NI E AT

per cent
Bt
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